Optimising clinical and functional outcomes in older adults with chronic heart failure

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Catherine Giuliano

Bachelor of Exercise Science

Master of Applied Science (Exercise for Rehabilitation)

2020

Institute for Health and Sport (IHES)

Victoria University

Melbourne, Australia

Abstract

Globally, the age of patients with chronic heart failure (CHF) is increasing, which is presenting new challenges for providing exercise rehabilitation that is accessible, effective and well tolerated. This thesis explores factors affecting eligibility, referral and participation in exercise rehabilitation among older persons with CHF and investigates muscle-focused exercise modalities. This thesis consists of three exploratory studies, leading to a pilot randomised controlled trial.

The exploration of factors affecting referral to, and participation in, exercise rehabilitation among older adults was achieved by two independent studies: first, a multiple regression analysis of factors associated with referral in patients discharged from Victorian public hospitals with acute heart failure; and second, an observation of recruitment data from the PRIME-HF¹ randomised control trial, reporting eligibility, decline and recruitment rates. These two original studies found that while advancing age negatively influences participation, recruitment and engagement in exercise training among older adults is possible. Specifically, for every year of advancing age the likelihood of referral to outpatient exercise rehabilitation following an acute hospital admission with heart failure decreased by 2.5%. Furthermore, the presence of comorbidities—a common characteristics among older adults was negatively associated with referral and participation. These studies are the first to describe factors that affect participation in outpatient exercise rehabilitation within the Australian context. In this way, they provide an understanding of current service utilisation, which will guide future service development.

The aim to investigate muscle-focused exercise modalities was based on the muscle hypothesis of CHF which theorises that changes in skeletal muscle and peripheral tissues are primarily responsible for exercise intolerance in CHF. The meta-analysis investigating the effects of resistance training in patients with CHF showed that resistance training, as a standalone intervention, can increase muscle strength (one repetition maximum standardised change score = 0.60; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.43, 0.77), aerobic capacity (change score mean difference [CSMD]: 2.71ml/kg/min; 1.96, 3.45) and quality of life (CSMD: - 5.71; - 9.85, -1.56).

¹ A full list of abbreviations is provided on page 3.

Furthermore, the PRIME-HF pilot randomised control trial showed that PRIME exercise training significantly increased VO_{2peak} after eight weeks of training (2.4 mL/kg/min; 95% CI .7-4.1; p = .004), which was significantly greater in comparison to the usual care (combined aerobic and resistance training) exercise control group (ES 0.6), which showed minimal change in VO_{2peak} after eight weeks of training (.2 mL/kg/min; 95% CI –1.5 to 1.8). Taken together, these findings support the hypothesis that PRIME may have potential advantages for older patients with HFrEF and could be a possible alternative exercise modality.

In conclusion, as an investigation of a real-world clinical challenge, this research has shown that age should not be a barrier to exercise training in patients with CHF. The research showed that with appropriate and routine assessment, older adults with CHF can be safely enrolled into exercise training programs and achieve important improvements in clinical and functional outcomes. This research provides high-quality, preliminary evidence supporting PRIME and resistance training as alternative exercise modalities for patients with HFrEF.

Declaration

I, Catherine Giuliano, declare that the PhD thesis entitled "Optimising clinical and functional outcomes in older adults with chronic heart failure" is no more than 80,000 words in length including quotes and exclusive of tables, figures, appendices, bibliography, references and footnotes. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma. Except where otherwise indicated, this thesis is my own work.

I have conducted my research in alignment with the Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research and Victoria University's Higher Degree by Research Policy and Procedures

Signature

Date: 18/05/2021

Acknowledgements

A thesis such as this is a community undertaking and I am thankful, first and foremost, to the individuals who gave their time and energy to be participants in this research. I am humbled by their generosity: to science, to me, and to the future beneficiaries of this research.

I was privileged to have supervisors who guided me through this journey with great patience and immense knowledge and expertise. I am grateful to Professor Itamar Levinger who made it his duty to see that I achieved my goals. I am thankful for his responsiveness, his dedication to my learning, for his respect and understanding.

My vision for this thesis came to complete fruition and for that I owe my thanks to Associate Professor Christopher Neil, who was beside me from the very beginning when all I had was curiosity. Through hours of brainstorming he nurtured my research ideas to full maturity. Above all else his trust in my vision and in my abilities was the reason I could start this journey and the reason this work was possible.

I would also like to thank Professor Rebecca Lane for sharing her knowledge and reviewing my manuscripts and Professor Jason Allen, for introducing me to his work in PRIME and for ensuring I was never without resources to make the PRIME-HF study happen.

The original impetus for this work came from my involvement with the Cardio Geriatic Service at Western Health. I thank the steering committee: Dr Nicholas Cox, A/Prof Christopher Neil, Kath Cowie, Kylie Fisher, Elizabeth Scholes, Dr Claire Long and Tim Chiu, for their exemplified model of excellence in heart failure management. A special thankyou goes to Tim Chiu—I remember our supervision sessions with great fondness—and Elizabeth Scholes for her compassion and friendship.

I was fortunate to be supported by a sterling clinical team. I thank Tobias Ziegler and Thomas Elkington for helping to deliver the exercise program for the PRIME-HF study and providing the highest care for our participants. I also thank Dr Kawa Haji, Dr Robert Newman, Dr Michael Semen, Dr Samer Qutaiba and Dr Andrew Mulligan for supervising the exercise testing and assisting with recruitment.

I must thank Dr Don Vincendese, Dr Sara Vogrin and Dr Emily Karahalios; without doubt their kind guidance and teaching nurtured my newfound affection for the science of statistics. I want to add my thanks to my editor, Dr Jon Rosalky, for his copy-editing of my thesis and his many helpful comments about aspects of English grammar and plain English. It is impossible to acknowledge everyone who helped me achieve this work; almost daily, someone helped me in some way, probably without their awareness. Among this group of people are Dr Liam Johnson, Roman Falls, Sarah Holmes, Greta Collier, Dr Jayde Manning, Dr George Elias, Dr Andre Nelson, Lily Hodnik, Dr Samantha Cassar, Dr Alex Tacey, Cassandra Smith, Dr Mary Woessner and the late Professor Nigel Stepto.

I feel endless gratitude to my family, whose unwavering confidence in my ability to complete this task made it impossible for me to harbour any true self-doubt. This achievement would not have been possible without the support of my parents in helping care for my young family and helping me generally to keep my life under control. A special thank you to Christine Giuliano who gave me company, humour and the occasional holiday to Townsville.

To my husband, Clinton Faux, who persisted on this journey beside me and supported my ambitions without compromise. He celebrated my every triumph and was my guiding light through every challenge. He endured a rollercoaster of emotions and I am so grateful for his forbearance.

Finally, I thank my boys, Sebastian and Henry, who are the centre of my being. They gave me such joy and perspective to the point that any negative experience during this PhD was quickly forgotten. I will forever carry with me memories of this period as the time we became a family and I feel safe to say that I never lost sleep over my thesis.

Table of Contents

Abs	tract	I
Decl	laration	III
Ack	nowledgements	IV
Tab	le of contents	VI
List	of tables	X
List	of figures	XI
Abb	previations	XII
Pub	lications, awards, grants and presentations	XIV
Cha	pter 1: Introduction	1
1.1	Development of the problem	1
1.2	Statement of the problem	2
1.3	Thesis and publication overview	2
Cha	pter 2: Literature review	5
2.1	Heart failure	5
2.1	.1 Definition	5
2.1	.2 Prevalence and prognosis	5
2.1	.3 Aetiologies of CHF	6
2.1	.4 Diagnosis and classifications	8
2.1	.4.1 Classification based on ejection fraction	8
2.1	.4.2 Classifications based on symptoms	11
2.2	The pathophysiology of chronic heart failure	13
2.2	2.1 Cardiac remodelling and disease progression	13
2.2	2.2 Compensatory mechanisms: The neurohormonal system	16
2.2	2.3 Exercise intolerance and the Fick principle	17

2.2.3	3.1 Central limitations: cardiac output	18
2.2.3	B.2 Peripheral limitations: The muscle hypothesis	21
2.3	Chronic heart failure and the older adult	27
2.3.1	The ageing population	27
2.3.2	2 Age distributions in CHF	29
2.3.3	3 The older patient with CHF	31
2.3.3	3.1 Comorbidities	31
2.3.3	3.2 Sarcopenia, frailty and cachexia	32
2.3.3	3.3 Cognitive deficits	34
2.3.3	Representation in clinical trials	34
2.4	Treatment overview	36
2.5	Pharmacotherapy	36
2.5.1	Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors	36
2.5.2	2 Beta-adrenergic receptor blockers	37
2.5.3	3 Mineralocorticoid/aldosterone receptor antagonists	38
2.6	Clinical exercise rehabilitation	41
2.6.1	Exercise training: An overview	41
2.6.1	1.1 Aerobic exercise	41
2.6.1	.2 Resistance training	48
2.6.1	.3 PRIME: A novel exercise for older adults	54
2.6.2	2 Current exercise guidelines	55
2.6.3	Cardiac rehabilitation: program content and uptake	65
2.7	Summary of Chapter 2	66
2.8	Aims	67
Chap	ter 3: Predictors of referral to exercise rehabilitation in patients following	
hospi	talisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis	68
3.1	Background and context	68

3.2	Research aims				
3.3	Manuscript				
Cha	pter 4: The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and				
aero	bic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure—A meta-analysis87				
4.1	Background and context				
4.2	Research aims				
4.3	Manuscript				
Cha	pter 5: PRIME-HF: Novel exercise for older patients with heart failure. A pilot				
rand	lomised controlled study102				
5.1	Background and context				
5.2	Research aims				
5.3	3 Manuscript				
Chaj	pter 6: Challenges in recruiting elderly patients with heart failure to exercise				
reha	bilitation: Findings from a randomised controlled trial114				
6.1	Background and context				
6.2	Research aims				
6.3	Manuscript114				
Cha	pter 7: General discussion128				
7.1	Thesis overview				
7.2	Key findings				
7.2 low	 Referral and engagement in exercise rehabilitation among older patients with CHF is 129 				
7.2	.2 Combined aerobic and resistance training for older adults with HFrEF				
7.2	.3 Exercise modalities with a focus on skeletal muscle improve aerobic capacity in				
pat	ients with CHF130				
7.3	Potential limitations				
7.4	Recommendations arising from this research				

7.4.1 Clinic	cal recommendations	132	
7.4.1.1	Referring older adults with CHF to cardiac rehabilitation	132	
7.4.1.2	Exercise prescription for patients with CHF	132	
7.4.2 Future	e research recommendations	133	
7.4.2.1	Patient-reported barriers to engagement in exercise rehabilitation	133	
7.4.2.2	Future research must seek to represent the typical patient with CHF	134	
7.4.2.3	Larger statistically powered investigations are required to assess the		
effectiveness of resistance training and PRIME definitively among older adults with CHF			
		134	
7.5 Concludi	ing remarks	134	
References			
Appendices161			

List of tables

Table 1.1: Thesis and publication overview 3
Table 2.1: Causes of heart failure in population-based studies
Table 2.2: Diagnostic criteria for CHF types 11
Table 2.3: A comparison of the NYHA classes and ACC/ASC stages 12
Table 2.4: Five most common non-cardiac conditions for among 122,630 patients aged
greater than 65 years with CHF
Table 2.5: Most commonly used definitions for sarcopenia\
Table 2.6: A summary of aerobic exercise RCTs investigating where study participants had a
mean age greater than 70 years (original table)
Table 2.7: Recommendations for exercise testing, prescriptions and monitoring in outpatient cardiac rehabilitation programs for independent regions and nations, including leading cardiac rehabilitation n organisations. Source: Price et al. (2016)
Table 3.1: Select baseline patient characteristics among all patients and those referred and not referred to exercise rehabilitation
Table 3.2: Factors associated with referral to exercise rehabilitation at time of discharge among all patients with HF .78
Table 3.3: Factors associated with referral to exercise rehabilitation at time of discharge, in patients with HFrEF and HFpEF
Table 6.1: Comparative characteristics of eligible patients who agreed or declined to participate

List of figures

Figure 2.1: The Frank-Starling mechanism 14	4
Figure 2.2 An example of the progression of CHF from risk factors through to worsening CHF and death	5
Figure 2.3: Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS)	7
Figure 2.4: No relationship between LV ejection fraction and VO _{2peak} in 150 patients with HFrEF	0
Figure 2.5: Percentage increase in VO ₂ and each of its components, HR, SV and arterio- mixed venous saturation difference (C(a-v)O2) from rest to peak exercise	1
Figure 2.6: The muscle hypothesis of HF 22	2
Figure 2.7: The relationship between volume density of mitochondria and peak VO ₂ in 47 patients with CHF (patients with CHF are identified by solid squares)	3
Figure 2.8: Correlations between the percentage of Type 1 muscle fibres and VO _{2peak} 25	5
Figure 2.9: The demography of the world population from 1950 to 2100	7
Figure 2.10: Australian forecasted population growth by age indices	8
Figure 2.11: The incidence rates of CHF by age group	9
Figure 2.12: Age distributions of Victorian hospital admissions of acute decompensated HF	0
Figure 2.13: Pharmacotherapy agents and their effect on the RAAS	9
Figure 2.14: Forest plot of the effect of aerobic training on VO _{2peak} in patients with HFrEF 42	2
Figure 2.15: The weighted mean difference (1.4ml.kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹) of effect of resistance training on VO _{2peak} compared with non-exercise control	9
Figure 2.16: A graphical illustration of the mean age of participants (y-axis) among studies included in the 2019 Cochrane review of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure (y-axis), in comparison to the mean age and SD at diagnosis of CHF (mean	
indicated by the grey dotted line and SD by shaded area) (Original Figure)	3
Figure 2.17: Group mean data of training response to PRIME and aerobic exercise treatment	: 4

Figure 3.1 Patient identification and referral to exercise rehabilitation	75
Figure 3.2: Central illustration of key findings	80
Figure 6.1: Algorithm of Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	118
Figure 6.2: Tile A, Leading reasons for study exclusion, Tile B, A breakdown of the	
individual relative and absolute contraindications documented as the primary reason for s	study
exclusion	122

Abbreviations

1RM	One repetition maximum
ACC	American College of Cardiology
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
ADHF	Acute decompensated heart failure
ADLs	Activities of daily living
AF	Atrial fibrillation
AHA	American Heart Association
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
AVO ₂	Arterial-venous oxygen content
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CHF	Chronic heart failure
СО	Cardiac output
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CVP	Central venous pressure
CR	Cardiac rehabilitation
EF	Ejection fraction
EOV	Exercise oscillatory ventilation
ESSA	Exercise and Sport Science Australia
ETC	Electron transport chain
HF	Heart failure
HFmrEF	Heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction
HFpEF	Heart Failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction

HIIT	High intensity interval training
HR	Heart rate
HTN	Hypertension
IHD	Ischaemic heart disease
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
LVEDV	Left ventricular end-diastolic volume
MCD	Muscle capillary density
MRA	Mineralocorticoid/aldosterone receptor antagonists
NTproBNP	N-terminal prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide
NYHA Class	New York Heart Association classification
O ₂	Oxygen
PCWP	Pulmonary capillary wedge pressure
PRIME	Peripheral remodelling through intermittent muscular exercise
PRIME-HF	The peripheral remodelling through intermittent muscular exercise – Heart
	failure study
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone-system
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
SD	Standard deviation
SV	Stroke volume
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
VCOR	Victorian Cardiac Outcomes Registry
VE/VCO2	Minute ventilation/carbon dioxide production
VO _{2peak}	Peak aerobic capacity
VT	Ventilatory threshold
WH	Western Health

Publications, awards, grants and presentations

Grants awarded during candidature

- Western Health Foundation Research Grant, 2016 \$30,000
- National Heart Foundation of Australia, Vanguard Grant 2018 \$73,744
- Bank Vic Western Health Allied Health Grant \$5,000

Publications related to this thesis

- Catherine Giuliano, Amalia Karahalios, Christopher James Neil, Jason David Allen, Itamar Levinger. The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure — A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cardiology* (2016)
- Catherine Giuliano, Itamar Levinger, Sara Vogrin, Christopher James Neil and Jason David Allen. PRIME-HF: Novel Exercise for Older Patients with Heart Failure. A Pilot Randomized Controlled Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* (2020) doi:10.1111/jgs.16428
- 3. Catherine Giuliano, Don Vicendese, Sara Vogrin, Rebecca Lane, Andrea Driscoll, Diem Dinh, Katie Palmer, Itamar Levinger, Christopher Alan Neil. Predictors of referral to cardiac rehabilitation in patients following hospitalisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis *Under Review at Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*
- 4. Catherine Giuliano, Catherine Giuliano, Christopher James Neil, Rebecca Louise Lane, Jason David Allen, Itamar Levinger. Challenges in recruiting elderly patients with heart failure to exercise rehabilitation: findings from a randomised controlled trial. *Under Review at Journal of Physiotherapy*

Additional publications during candidature

- 5. Catherine Giuliano, Belinda J Parmenter, Michael K Baker, Braden L Mitchell, Andrew D Williams, Katie Lyndon, Tarryn Mair, Andrew Maiorana, Neil A Smart, Itamar Levinger Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: A Practical Guide to Enhance Patient Outcomes Through Continuity of Care. *Clinical Medical Insights Cardiology* (2017)
- **6.** Catherine Giuliano, Christopher Neil, Itamar Levinger. Letter to the editor: "The frailty syndrome is associated with adverse health outcomes in very old patients with

stable heart failure: A prospective study in six Spanish hospitals" *International Journal of Cardiology* (2017)

Awards awarded during candidature

- Best Research Poster Western Health Research Week 2016
- Nominated Exercise Prize Session, ACRA 2020 ASM

Presentations during candidature

International meetings:

Australian Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Association (ACRA), 2020

Oral Presentation (Exercise Prize Session): PRIME HF: Novel exercise for older adults with heart failure: a pilot randomised controlled trial

Exercise and Sport Science Australia - Research to Practice 2020 (postponed)

Poster Presentation: PRIME HF: Novel exercise for older adults with heart failure: a pilot randomised controlled trial

Poster Presentation: Challenges in the recruitment of elderly patients with heart failure to exercise training studies: Experience from an RCT trial

Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Scientific Meeting 2016

Oral Presentation: Mini presentation selected from abstract "Meta-analysis of Interventions in Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction: effects on exercise outcomes"

Local meetings:

Western Health Research Week 2016

Oral Presentation: The effects of Resistance Training on aerobic capacity, muscle strength and quality of life in patients with HF - a meta-analysis

Victoria University HDR Conference 2016

Oral Presentation: The effects of Resistance Training on aerobic capacity, muscle strength and quality of life in patients with HF - a meta-analysis

Western Health Medical Grand Rounds- Cardiology 2015

Oral Presentation: Exercise Rehabilitation in Older Adults with Heart Failure

Western Health, Aged Care Physiotherapy Stream - In-service 2016

Oral Presentation: Exercise for Heart Failure

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Development of the problem

Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) is a complex syndrome affecting approximately 1-2% of the Western world (Mosterd and Hoes, 2007, Ohlmeier et al., 2015). Each year in Australia, there are approximately 70,000 new cases diagnosed and the annual economic burden is over \$3 billion (Clark et al., 2004, Chen et al., 2017).

CHF is a dynamic, multisystem and progressive syndrome and most patients are characterised by exercise intolerance, shortness of breath and fatigue (Ponikowski et al., 2016b). The fundamental objectives of CHF therapy are to reduce symptoms, maintain or improve aerobic capacity, reduce the frequency of hospitalisations and ultimately, to prolong survival while maintaining or improving quality of life (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017). These objectives are achieved by a multi targeted treatment approach involving pharmacotherapy, device therapy and exercise rehabilitation (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017).

This thesis centres around two unresolved gaps in the literature: First, it is well established that older individuals are disproportionately affected by CHF and this shifting patient demographic presents a significant challenge to care provision (Ho et al., 1993b, Curtis et al., 2008, Cvetinovic et al., 2016). Despite the 'typical' age demographic of patients with CHF, older adults with CHF are underrepresented in clinical trials, often as a result of arbitrary upper age limits or other exclusion criteria unsupported by clinical guidelines (Crome et al., 2014). As a result, the external validity of current exercise guidelines for patients with CHF—which recommend combined aerobic and resistance training—is limited and it is difficult to ascertain the true eligibility and recruitment potential of older patients with CHF for exercise training, or whether they can gain benefits from exercise training.

Second, there is an accumulation of evidence supporting the "Muscle Hypothesis" of CHF, which suggests that pathological changes in peripheral tissues and in particular in skeletal muscle, contribute to exercise intolerance in CHF more so than central cardiac limitations (Piepoli and Coats, 2013). This hypothesis has provided the impetus to find treatments that mitigate these peripheral deficits. Two such treatments, resistance training and the "PRIME"

(<u>Peripheral Remodelling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise</u>) regime may offer potential advantages but are yet to be fully evaluated. Briefly, PRIME offers a hybrid aerobic-resistance program of low intensity and high repetitions and was designed to target the peripheral tissue dysfunctions responsible for reduced VO_{2peak} in older adults, without imposing excess cardiovascular or musculoskeletal strain (Allen et al., 2013). By focusing initially on individual muscle groups with low mass and high repetition resistance training, PRIME aims to provide a localized stimulus that is not restricted by compromised or competing perfusion.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Exercise training is an important treatment for patients with CHF, but there are limited clinical trials that involve patients with CHF who are over the age of 65 years. Anecdotal evidence suggests attendance at exercise rehabilitation among older adults is poor. Currently, little is known about factors that are associated with referral and participation in exercise rehabilitation. Furthermore, fatigue, dyspnoea and exercise intolerance in CHF are largely due to several pathological changes in skeletal muscle and peripheral tissues. While current exercise recommendations for CHF mostly centre on aerobic-based regimes, little is known about other exercise modalities which may be more effective in targeting the unique muscle pathology seen in patients with CHF.

1.3 Thesis and publication overview

This thesis with publications includes three main studies, from which two manuscripts were published and a further two are under review in peer reviewed journals.

Thesis chapter	Publication title	Status	Publication Details
cu	Predictors of referral to cardiac rehabilitation in patients following hospitalisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis	Under review	Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention.
4	The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure — A meta-analysis	Published	Giuliano, C ., Karahalios, A., Neil, C., Allen, J., & Levinger, I. (2017). The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure—A meta- analysis. <i>International journal of</i> <i>cardiology</i> , 227, 413-423. Scimago Rank Q1 Citations 78
J	PRIME-HF: Novel exercise for older patients with heart failure. A pilot randomized controlled study	Published	Giuliano, C ., Levinger, I., Vogrin, S., Neil, C. J., & Allen, J. D. (2020). PRIME-HF: Novel Exercise for Older Patients with Heart Failure. A Pilot Randomized Controlled Study. <i>Journal of the American Geriatrics</i> <i>Society</i> , 68(9), 1954-1961 Scimago Rank Q1
6	Challenges in recruiting elderly patients with heart failure to exercise rehabilitation: findings from a randomised controlled trial	In preparation for submission	TBA

Table 1.1: Thesis and publication overview

Appendix A Appendix B
opendix
Appendix C

Chapter 2: Literature review

2.1 Heart failure

2.1.1 Definition

CHF is a clinical syndrome that centres on a structural or functional abnormality of the heart and results in significant clinical, functional and financial costs to individuals and the community (Cook et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2017) CHF is characterised by hallmark symptoms of fatigue, dyspnoea and exercise intolerance (Zambroski et al., 2005, Ponikowski et al., 2016b).

2.1.2 Prevalence and prognosis

Epidemiological studies and systematic reviews estimate that the prevalence of CHF is 1-2% of Western (Mosterd and Hoes, 2007, Mosterd et al., 1999) and Australian (Chen et al., 2017, Sahle et al., 2016) populations. In Australia, approximately 70,000 new cases of CHF are diagnosed each year (Clark et al., 2004, Chen et al., 2017) and it is the eighth and tenth leading cause of death in Australian females and males respectively, accounting for 2.8% and 1.9% of deaths each year (Welfare, 2014). Rates of CHF are higher among indigenous than non-indigenous Australians and in those living in rural and remote regions (Sahle et al., 2016, Clark et al., 2004). The CHF population is expected to grow, partly due to an ageing population and increasing prevalence of CHF risk factors, as well as improved post-myocardial infarction survival (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2014). By 2025, the number of cases of CHF is expected to increase by 657,000 (Chen et al., 2017). In a large population-based study of 4 million people in the UK, the number of new diagnoses of CHF each year increased by 12% between 2002 and 2014; an increase which is higher than the yearly diagnosis rate of the four most common cancers combined (i.e. lung, breast, bowel and prostate) (Conrad et al., 2018).

CHF is associated with a high incidence of hospitalisations, with over 1 million bed-days occupied by patients with CHF annually (Ambrosy et al., 2014, Teng et al., 2012, Jhund et al., 2009, Welfare, 2003). In an epidemiological study of CHF in Germany, CHF-related

hospital admissions increased by 65.4% in 2000, and by 22.1% in 2013 (Christ et al., 2016). In Australian general practice, one in every 20-25 patients over the age of 45 years has CHF (Taylor et al., 2017).

The economic burden of CHF is considerable. Globally, an estimated \$108 billion is spent on CHF-related health care costs each year (Cook et al., 2014), while in Australia, this amount reaches over \$3.1 billion, of which over \$2 million can be attributed to hospitalisations (Chen et al., 2017). Advances in CHF treatment have seen life expectancy in patients increasing, yet prognosis remains poor (Jhund et al., 2009). The Framingham Heart Study is the largest longitudinal cardiovascular cohort study in the world, which involved residents in Massachusetts, USA and found a survival rate between 57-64% at one year following diagnosis of CHF and between 25-37% at five years (Ho et al., 1993a, Levy et al., 2002). The survival rate was slightly higher in men than in women.

2.1.3 **Aetiologies of CHF**

CHF can develop from multiple aetiologies. In western high-income regions, the leading causes of CHF are coronary artery disease (CAD) (also known as ischaemic heart disease (IHD)), accounting for between 36-59% of CHF cases; and hypertension (HTN) (Mosterd and Hoes, 2007) (

Table **2.1**).

Table 2.1: Causes of heart failure in population-based studies

Cause of CHF Framingham **Hillingdon HF Bromley HF** heart study (Levy study (Levy et al., study (Fox et et al., 1996) 2006) al., 2001) Men Women 59 Ischaemic, % 48 36 52 Hypertension, % 70 78 14 4 Valvular heart disease, % 22 7 31 10

Adapted from Mosterd and Hoes (2007)

CHF aetiologies can be categorised into three main precipitators which lead to cardiac remodelling and eventual cardiac failure: a diseased myocardium, abnormal pressure loading conditions and arrhythmias.

A *diseased myocardium* can result from an injury or disease to the myocardium. This is most commonly a result of CAD, which leads to acute myocardial infarction (AMI). Injury to the myocardium can also result from toxic damage caused by substance abuse, medications, or chemotherapy (Iacovelli et al., 2018, Li and Gu, 2018, Sliman et al., 2016, Markman and Markman, 2018). Auto-immune diseases or infection may also damage the myocardium (Comarmond and Cacoub, 2017) and, in the case of genetic abnormalities, the structure of the heart itself is altered from birth and cardiac function is impaired (Ponikowski et al., 2016a).

Abnormal pressure loading conditions are those which abnormally alter cardiac preload or afterload, either by pressure or volume overload (Dunlay et al., 2009, Khatibzadeh et al., 2013). Preload is defined by the end-diastolic volume at the beginning of systole and is measured by central venous pressure for the right side of the heart, and by pulmonary capillary wedge pressure for the left side (Rothe, 2003). Afterload on the other hand is defined by ventricular pressure at the end of systole (end systolic pressure) and therefore, the pressure against which the heart must pump to eject blood during systole (Rothe, 2003). Common conditions affecting preload and afterload are HTN and valvular heart disease.

Finally, *Arrhythmias* (i.e. tachycardias, bradycardias and loss of atrial-ventricular synchrony) can also cause CHF (Devkota et al., 2016, Ehrlich et al., 2002, Masarone et al., 2017). Tachycardiomyopathy is a type of dilated cardiomyopathy that develops in patients with prolonged tachycardia and is reversible if the underlying tachycardia can be resolved (Mohamed, 2007). Box 2.1 summarises the common aetiologies of CHF as described above.

Diseased Myocardium

Ischaemic heart disease

Toxic damage (e.g. substance abuse, medications, radiation, chemotherapy)

Immune-mediated inflammatory damage (e.g. infection, autoimmune diseases)

Malignant and non-malignant infiltration (e.g. sarcoidosis, metastases

Genetic abnormalities

Abnormal Loading Conditions

Hypertension

Valve and myocardium defects

Pericardial and endomyocardial pathologies

High output states

Volume overload

Arrhythmias

Tachyarrhythmias

Bradyarrhythmias

Box 2.1 A summary of the common aetiologies of Heart Failure

Adapted from ACS Guidelines (Ponikowski et al., 2016a)

2.1.4 Diagnosis and classifications

2.1.4.1 Classification based on ejection fraction

Left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), also referred to as simply ejection fraction (EF), describes the ratio of SV to left ventricular end-diastolic volume that is ejected during systole. There are three main types of CHF based on EF (Ponikowski et al., 2016a):

- heart failure with *reduced* ejection fraction (HFrEF): EF less than or equal to 40%,
- heart failure with *mid-range* ejection fraction (HFmrEF): EF 41 to 49%

heart failure with *preserved* ejection fraction (HFpEF): EF greater than or equal to 50%.

EF was historically viewed as the primary indicator of global ventricular performance and therefore reductions in EF were considered the primary indicator of the CHF severity. This is true in the case of HFrEF, where EF is reduced to less than or equal to 40%. However, studies have consistently reported that a substantial proportion of the CHF population (approximately 50%) are affected by HFpEF, where EF is maintained at or above 50% (Bhatia et al., 2006, Owan et al., 2006) (Desai, 2007, Paulus et al., 2007). In this instance, an increase in wall thickness or wall stiffness, or both, in the left ventricle impairs relaxation and ventricular filling during diastole. Subsequently, SV is reduced, and oxygen delivery is impaired, which leads to exercise intolerance (Borlaug and Paulus, 2011). This mismatch between oxygen demand and supply for the working muscles is exaggerated during conditions of increased demand, such as exercise. Importantly, the clinical symptoms of HFpEF and HFrEF are the same (i.e. breathlessness, fatigue and exercise intolerance) and patients suffer similar mortality rates and equivalent risks of hospitalisation (Santas et al., 2017).

In 2016, the European Society of Cardiology defined a third subgroup group of patients who have an EF in the range of 41 to 49% as HFmrEF (Ponikowski et al., 2016a). The subtypes of CHF and the diagnostic criteria for each are summarised in Table 2.3.

A universal diagnostic test for CHF does not exist (Zannad et al., 2008, Martindale et al., 2016). Rather, diagnosis relies on a differential diagnosis involving the clinical judgement of signs and symptoms and supported by cardiac imaging investigations. A diagnostic investigation for CHF is triggered when a patient presents with signs and symptoms of CHF. Diagnosis is challenging in practice, because there is a significant overlap between the signs and symptoms of CHF and other diseases, such as chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD) (Komajda et al., 2009, Barsheshet et al., 2010, Mogensen et al., 2011, Lainscak et al., 2009, Lien Christopher et al., 2002, Hawkins et al., 2009). The more typical signs and symptoms of CHF include orthopnoea, peripheral oedema and breathlessness, as well as elevated jugular veins, peripheral oedema and sudden increases in weight caused by fluid retention (Ponikowski et al., 2016a). There is also a high prevalence of comorbidities in CHF including HTN, diabetes and obesity which can further complicate diagnosis (Tsutsui et al., 2010, Lien Christopher et al., 2002).

Diagnostic criteria	HFrEF	HFmrEF	НГрЕГ	
LVEF	≤40%	41 to 49%	≥50%	
Other	-	Elevated levels of	Elevated levels of	
		natriuretic peptides and	natriuretic peptides and	
		At least one of:	At least one of:	
		• structural heart	• structural heart	
		disease	disease	
		• diastolic dysfunction	• diastolic dysfunction	
Signs with or	Signs		Symptoms	
without	without ymptomsElevated jugular venous pressureThird heart sound (gallop rhythm)Laterally displaced apical impulse Weight gain (greater than2 kg/week)Weight loss (in advanced CHF)Tissue wasting (cachexia)Cardiac murmurPeripheral oedema (ankle, sacral, scrotal)Scrotal)Pulmonary crepitationsReduced air entry and dullness to 		Breathlessness	
symptoms			Drthopnoea	
			Paroxysmal nocturnal dyspnoea	
			educed exercise tolerance	
			Fatigue, tiredness, increased	
			time to recover after exercise Ankle swelling	
	effusion)			
	Tachycardia	ı		
	Irregular pu	lse		
	Tachypnoea	L		
	Cheyne Stol	kes respiration		

Hepatomegaly
Ascites
Cold extremities
Oliguria
Narrow pulse pressure

 Table 2.2: Diagnostic criteria for CHF types

Adapted from Ponikowski et al. (2016a)

Echocardiographic measures and EF, however, do not fully explain the reduction in aerobic capacity seen in patients with CHF (Baker et al., 1984, Franciosa et al., 1981, Higginbotham et al., 1983, Szlachcic et al., 1985, Carell et al., 1994, Cohen-Solal, 1996) (discussed further in section 2.2.3) and therefore an alternative classification system for CHF is based on the severity of the hallmark symptom: exercise intolerance.

2.1.4.2 Classifications based on symptoms

The New York Heart Association (NYHA) is one of the most commonly used systems to classify patients with CHF and is based on the severity of exercise intolerance (i.e. the degree of breathlessness at rest and during exercise). The NYHA classification stratifies patients on a scale of I to IV (Little, 1994), from least symptomatic (Class I) to most symptomatic (Class IV) (Table 2.3).

In 2009, the American College of Cardiology (ACC) and the American Heart Association (AHA) developed a new classification system to use in conjunction with the NYHA (Hunt et al., 2009), which provided the additive benefit of identifying individuals who are at risk of developing CHF based on structural heart disease and other treatable precurses of CHF, so that appropriate preventative treatment can be initiated. The so-called ACC/ASC system classes high-risk individuals who have precursors or structural changes in cardiac tissue into two early stages: A and B. These individuals, however, do not experience any symptoms of CHF and therefore they have not yet developed the syndrome. Individuals in stages C and D have developed symptoms and therefore meet the diagnostic criteria for CHF.

and patients who experience symptoms of CHF, and those with the end-stage disease into Stage C and D (Table 2.3).

	ACC/ASC system		NYHA system	
	Stage	Description	Class	Description
Asymptomatic	Stage A	High risk for HF but without structural heart disease or symptoms of HF		-
	Stage B	Structural heart disease but without signs or symptoms of HF		-
	Stage C	Structural heart disease with prior or current symptoms of HF	Class I Class II	No symptoms at rest, symptoms only at levels of exertion that would limit healthy individual No symptoms at rest or mild exertion_symptoms on
Symptomatic				moderate exertion
	Stage D	Refractory HF requiring specialised interventions	Class III	No symptoms at rest, symptoms at mild exertion
			Class IV	Symptoms at rest

Table 2.3: A comparison of the NYHA classes and ACC/ASC stages

Adapted from Hunt et al. (2009)

A vast nomenclature also exists to describe the location of dysfunction (right-sided versus left-sided HF), structural alterations (dilated or hypertrophic cardiomyopathies) and other functional characteristics (diastolic and systolic dysfunction) observed in HF.

2.2 The pathophysiology of chronic heart failure

2.2.1 Cardiac remodelling and disease progression

Cardiac remodelling is a broad term used to describe alterations in the size, function or geometry of the heart. These alterations occur to compensate for tissue damage or excessive pressure demands which impair cardiac function (Azevedo et al., 2016, Bertero and Maack, 2018). Cardiac remodelling occurs following exposure to the conditions described in section 2.1.3 (aetiologies of CHF), either acutely (e.g. following AMI or toxic damage) or chronically (e.g. in the case of chronic HTN or valvular disease). The underlying mechanisms that lead from cardiac remodelling to CHF are not fully understood, but are believed to involve the complex interaction of cellular, metabolic, interstitial and molecular changes (Azevedo et al., 2016, Bertero and Maack, 2018).

The geometric changes that occur in CHF (e.g. ventricular dilation) are initially favourable in compensating for failing cardiac function. This can be understood in accordance with the Frank-Starling mechanism. Briefly, the Frank-Starling mechanism represents the relationship between left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV) and SV, where increasing LVEDV is followed by increases SV (Figure 2.1, curve A) (Kemp and Conte, 2012, Sequeira and van der Velden, 2015). The mechanism behind this relationship is driven by the length-tension relationship. In early CHF, when cardiac output is impaired, cardiac remodelling takes place to increase LVEDV in an attempt to increase the contractile force. However, this remodelling process is progressive and eventually detrimental: the curve becomes flat and, despite an increasing LVEDV, SV does not increase (Figure 2.1, curve B). In advanced CHF, as depicted by curve 3 (Figure 2.1) the pressure in the left ventricle can surpass the pressures of the pulmonary system and pulmonary congestion can occur.



Figure 2.1: The Frank-Starling mechanism

Source: Kemp and Conte (2012)

Curves b and c illustrate the failure of the Frank-Starling mechanisms seen in CHF.

Other negative consequences of cardiac remodelling include an increase in cardiac oxygen demand, a reduction in the efficiency of myocardial contraction and malignant arrhythmias such as ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation (Cohn et al., 2000). In the clinical context of CHF, by the time a patient is symptomatic and can be diagnosed with CHF (i.e. ACC/ASC Stage C and D), significant pathological cardiac remodelling has already occurred (Hunt et al., 2009).

Figure 2.2 provides an example of the progression of CHF from risk factors through to worsening CHF and death. For example, when an individual with a history of HTN remains untreated, cardiac afterload is increased (abnormal loading) and subsequently cardiac work is also increased (ACC/ASC Stage A). Cardiac remodelling involving dilation of the ventricles may occur to maintain an adequate SV (i.e. via the Frank-Starling mechanism) (ACC/ASC Stage B). Over time, this mechanism fails and despite an increase in LVEDV cardiac output falls. The patient becomes symptomatic and can be diagnosed with CHF (ACC/ASC Stage C). Further compensatory mechanisms of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone-system (discussed further in section 2.2.2) are activated to maintain cardiac output (CO); however, these mechanisms are also eventually detrimental and lead to a vicious cycle of worsening LV function and ultimately to death (ACC/ASC Stage D).





2.2.2 Compensatory mechanisms: The neurohormonal system

Although the underlying causes of CHF are heterogeneous, all aetiologies lead to a reduction in SV and CO and on to a common pathway involving activation of the neurohormonal system. The Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone-System (RAAS) (Figure 2.3) is responsible for regulating vascular tone and extracellular fluid (Brewster et al., 2003, Sayer and Bhat, 2014). The RAAS system is an effective short-term survival mechanism to maintain pressure and oxygen diffusion capacity when CO is reduced and there is a subsequent fall in blood pressure. The RAAS is upregulated via the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Adams, 2004), which sets in motion the following biological processes (Figure 2.3):

- 1. Renin (also known as angiotensinogenase) is released from the kidneys, which carries out the conversion of angiotensinogen to angiotensin I.
- 2. Angiotensin I is converted to angiotensin II by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), in the lungs.
- Angiotensin II acts as a potent vasoconstrictor, resulting in an increase in blood pressure and thus, oxygen perfusion can be maintained despite a reduction in cardiac output
- 4. Angiotensin II also stimulates aldosterone secretion from the adrenal cortex. Aldosterone increases the volume of extracellular fluid in the body via sodium and fluid retention, thereby providing an additional mechanism to maintain blood pressure despite the failing heart.
- 5. Finally, angiotensin II stimulates the release of vasopressin, also known as antidiuretic hormone, which increases water reabsorption in the kidney.



Figure 2.3: Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS)

Despite the short-term benefit of the RAAS, (i.e. maintenance of blood pressure and oxygen perfusion to tissues) the consequent increases in total peripheral resistance, cardiac afterload (i.e. filling pressures) and left ventricular stress further increase cardiac afterload and ultimately accelerate cardiac remodelling and worsening of CHF. The pharmacological approaches to the treatment of CHF are targeted at interrupting these physiological mechanisms (discussed in section 2.6) (Orsborne et al., 2017).

2.2.3 Exercise intolerance and the Fick principle

Exercise intolerance (i.e. a reduction in aerobic capacity), dyspnoea and fatigue are hallmark symptoms of CHF. The reductions in aerobic capacity, as measured by oxygen consumption (VO₂), is evident both at peak (i.e. VO_{2peak}) and submaximal exercise (Albouaini et al., 2007). VO_{2peak} is a strong predictor of mortality in patients with CHF, including those treated with beta-blockage therapy. A VO_{2peak} of less than 14 ml/kg/min is the established criterion for cardiac transplantation (Mancini et al., 1991, O'Connor et al., 2009, Peterson et al., 2003), while a 1 ml/kg/min reduction in VO_{2peak} results in an adjusted mortality hazard ratio of 1.13 over 3.5 years (95% CI 1.09 to 1.17) (O'Neill et al., 2005).

Submaximal aerobic capacity is also important in CHF due to its relevance to performance of activities of daily living (ADLs) (Mezzani et al., 2000, Spruit et al., 2011) and prognosis (Gitt Anselm et al., 2002). In a study including 223 patients with HFrEF, a ventilatory threshold (VT) of less than11 ml/kg/min was associated with a 5.4-fold increase in death over six months (Gitt Anselm et al., 2002).

The "Fick Principle" (Wasserman et al., 2012) offers an understanding of aerobic capacity by identifying that VO₂ is the product of central (i.e. CO) and peripheral (i.e. arterial-venous O₂ content difference) factors:

$$VO_2 = CO \times A - VO_2$$
 difference,

where VO_2 is measured in mL/min, and A-VO₂ difference is the difference in oxygen content of the arterial and venous system (therefore a measure of the oxygen extraction capacity of the peripheral tissues), measured in mL of O_2 per 100ml of blood. Considering the components of CO as stroke volume (SV) and heart rate (HR) the equation can also be expressed as:

$VO_2 = (SV \times HR) \times A-VO_2$ difference

A suitable increase in VO₂ peak during exercise relies on increases in both the central and peripheral components. In healthy individuals, the increase in VO₂ during maximal exercise results from an approximate 2-3-fold increase in HR, a 0.4-fold increase in SV and 3-fold increase in A-VO₂ difference (Higginbotham et al., 1986, Powers and Howley, 2017). In CHF, however, the contributions of each component are altered due to both central and peripheral pathologies.

2.2.3.1 Central limitations: cardiac output

It was first thought that exercise intolerance in CHF was a direct consequence of impaired CO during exercise (Weber et al., 1982), where the reduction in CO is due to reductions in both SV and HR reserves. Indeed, resting SV is up to 22% lower in patients with CHF compared to healthy controls (Fukuda et al., 2012) and several studies report that SV during exercise in patients with CHF rises to only 50-89mL during exercise compared to greater than 100 mL in healthy individuals (Piña et al., 2003, Dhakal et al., 2015, Fukuda et al., 2012). The failure to increase SV during exercise may be due to alterations in filling volume (preload), myocardial contractility and afterload and/or failure of the Frank-Starling
Mechanism (see section 2.2.1) (Piña et al., 2003, Kemp and Conte, 2012, Sullivan and Cobb, 1992).

In healthy individuals, a reduction in SV may activate compensatory mechanisms to maintain normal CO, including an increase in HR. In patients with CHF, however, HR responses are often impaired as a result of chronotropic incompetence (the failure of HR to increase during exercise) (Al-Najjar et al., 2012, Brubaker Peter and Kitzman Dalane, 2011), elevated resting HR (resting tachycardia) and reduced HR reserves (HRR) (Piña et al., 2003, Orso et al., 2009). Chronotropic incompetence and reduced HRR have been significantly correlated with lower VO_{2peak} and early fatigue in patients with CHF (Al-Najjar et al., 2012, Brubaker et al., 2006), which again is supported by the Fick Principle. A study by Brubaker et al. (2006) showed that increases in HR during exercise explained 15% of the observed increases in VO_{2peak} (Brubaker et al., 2006). There are conflicting findings, however, with several studies failing to find associations between chronotropic incompetence and VO_{2peak} (Clark and Coats, 1995, Roche et al., 2001) and inconclusive findings from interventional studies aiming to correct chronotropic incompetence with pacing strategies to increase aerobic capacity (Tse et al., 2005).

While there are indeed significant central limitations in CHF, there is strong evidence to suggest that they are not sufficient to entirely explain exercise intolerance in CHF. For instance, several studies have failed to find direct correlations between LV function, as measured by LVEF, and VO_{2peak} (Figure 2.4) (Baker et al., 1984, Franciosa et al., 1981, Higginbotham et al., 1983, Szlachcic et al., 1985, Carell et al., 1994, Cohen-Solal, 1996), suggesting that other, peripheral, factors may have a significant effect on exercise intolerance in these patients.



Figure 2.4: No relationship between LV ejection fraction and VO_{2peak} in 150 patients with HFrEF.

Source: Cohen-Solal (1996)

As further evidence of a peripheral cause of exercise intolerance in CHF, an early pivotal study enhanced CO and central haemodynamics in patients with CHF with dobutamine therapy, yet this treatment failed to evoke parallel improvements in exercise capacity (Wilson et al., 1984). A more recent study investigated the relative contributions of each component of VO₂ (i.e. SV, HR, A-VO₂difference) and reported that O₂ extraction in the peripheral tissues is more attributable to reductions in VO₂ than SV or HR (

Figure 2.5) (Dhakal et al., 2015).



Figure 2.5: Percentage increase in VO₂ and each of its components, HR, SV and arteriomixed venous saturation difference (C(a-v)O2) from rest to peak exercise Source: Dhakal et al. (2015)

With the knowledge that pharmacologically induced improvements in CO do not translate directly into improvements in aerobic capacity, contemporary investigations are now focusing on the role of skeletal muscle as a critical limiter of exercise tolerance: a theory labelled the muscle hypothesis of CHF (Coats, 1996, Coats et al., 1994).

2.2.3.2 Peripheral limitations: The muscle hypothesis

It is now accepted that the main factors limiting exercise capacity in patients with CHF are peripheral maladaptations, particularly those occurring in the skeletal muscle. Professor Andrew Coats introduced the muscle hypothesis of CHF in 1994 (Coats et al., 1994). According to the hypothesis, the initial reductions in LV function and CO in CHF reduce blood flow to peripheral tissues and induce a catabolic state and subsequent skeletal muscle myopathy. The resulting muscle abnormalities lead to early fatigue and dyspnoea that, in turn, further reduces physical activity and sets in motion a deleterious feedback loop that drives disease progression (Figure 2.6). The most recognised muscle abnormalities include

ergoreflex dysfunction, mitochondrial dysfunction, changes to fibre type characteristics and muscle atrophy.



Figure 2.6: The muscle hypothesis of HF

Re-created from Coats et al. (1994)

2.2.3.2.1 Ergoreflex

In healthy individuals, exercise stimulates several neural signals originating in the brain (central command), the aorta and carotid arteries (chemo and baroreflex) and in skeletal muscle (ergoreflex) (Fadel, 2013). These signals modulate the central nervous system to upregulate cardiovascular response (i.e. heart rate and contractility) and respiration to meet the demands of physical activity (Fadel, 2013). In CHF, an overactivity of muscle ergoreceptors at rest and low-intensity activity causes abnormal coupling of ventilation and cardiovascular responses, thus causing early exercise fatigue and breathlessness (Belli et al., 2011, Piepoli et al., 1996b). In turn, this further stimulates sympathetic nervous system response via the RAAS (previously discussed in section 2.2.3), increases in afterload and left

ventricular strain which ultimately accelerates disease progression (Piepoli, 1998, Piepoli et al., 1996b, Piepoli et al., 1999, Piepoli and Crisafulli, 2014). Vasoconstriction also occurs simultaneously in tissues remote from the overactive ergoreceptors (as blood supply is redistributed to the *apparently* stimulated muscle) which can result in permanent damage and endothelial dysfunction to organs experiencing chronically reduced blood supply (Piepoli et al., 2008).

2.2.3.2.2 Mitochondria

The mitochondria are the powerhouses of oxidative metabolism and adenosine tri-phosphate (ATP) production via the tricarboxylic acid cycle and the electron transport chain (Bertram et al., 2006, Nazaret et al., 2009). These systems allow production of ATP for all cells within the body, at rest and during exercise. In CHF, oxidative metabolism within the skeletal muscle is impaired (Andrews et al., 1997, Abozguia et al., 2008, Okita et al., 1998). A significant contributor to this impairment is the decrease in mitochondrial efficiency (Rosca and Hoppel, 2013).

Studies investigating mitochondrial impairment in CHF have demonstrated a reduction in the total area of skeletal and cardiac muscle occupied by mitochondria (mitochondrial density) by up to 75% (Guzmán Mentesana et al., 2014, Drexler et al., 1992) and this reduction is strongly correlated with VO_{2peak} (Figure 2.7) (Drexler et al., 1992).



Figure 2.7: The relationship between volume density of mitochondria and peak VO_2 in 47 patients with CHF (patients with CHF are identified by solid squares)

Source: Drexler et al. (1992)

As a result of impaired mitochondrial function, individuals with CHF are inefficient at producing the energy required for physical activity, which leads to a reduction in VO_{2peak} , early fatigue, and exercise intolerance (Drexler et al., 1992, Ning et al., 2000, Schaper et al., 1991).

2.2.3.2.3 Muscle fibre type

Human skeletal muscle is composed of two main fibre types which are differentiated by their metabolic capabilities and which allow for a broad range of functions and physical abilities (Bottinelli and Reggiani, 2000). Type I, or slow-twitch muscle fibres, contain a rich capillary supply, are dense with mitochondria and have a high expression of oxidative enzymes and therefore offer high aerobic potential and are resistant to fatigue (Picard et al., 2012). Indeed, Type I fibres are correlated with VO_{2peak} (Figure 2.8) (Schaufelberger et al., 1995, Mancini et al., 1989). These characteristics are ideal for performance of ADLs, which require long durations of aerobic energy transfer.

Conversely, Type II fibres, also known as fast-twitch fibres, have fewer mitochondria, oxidative enzymes and myoglobin and so have a lower resistance to fatigue (Picard et al., 2012). However, the ability of Type II fibres to create small amounts of ATP quickly via anaerobic metabolism enables the generation of short bursts of strength at high velocities, which is useful during activities involving power movements such rising from a chair, or 'catching' oneself from a near fall (Bottinelli and Reggiani, 2000). There are also subtypes within Type II muscle fibres, Type IIa and IIb: the former offering more aerobic energy production potential (Bottinelli and Reggiani, 2000).

In CHF, there is a relative loss of Type 1 oxidative muscle fibres (Sullivan et al., 1997, Vescovo et al., 2000, Drexler et al., 1992, Sullivan et al., 1990) and a fibre type shift from Type IIa to IIb fibres (Sullivan et al., 1997, Vescovo et al., 2000, Sullivan et al., 1990, Schaufelberger et al., 1995). The predominant fibre type shift from Type I to Type II observed in CHF creates a more glycolytic response to exercise, which increases fatigability and therefore contributes to exercise intolerance (Schaufelberger et al., 1995, Middlekauff, 2010).



Figure 2.8: Correlations between the percentage of Type 1 muscle fibres and VO_{2peak} Cited from Mancini et al. (1989)

2.2.3.2.4 Muscle mass

Skeletal muscle mass accounts for approximately 42% of fat-free mass in the human body (Kyle et al., 2001). During healthy ageing, there is a progressive loss of skeletal muscle mass and strength (known as Sarcopenia) that is most prominent in the lower limbs and is seen from the fourth decade of life (Janssen et al., 2000, Evans, 1995). Estimates of lifetime declines in leg muscle mass of 25-40% have been reported, (Janssen et al., 2000, Goodpaster et al., 2006, Hughes et al., 2001a), or 15-18% per decade (Hughes et al., 2001b). Muscle mass is an essential determinant of exercise capacity (Boo et al., 2019), and individuals with sarcopenia have a reduced aerobic capacity, slow gait speeds, a reduced capacity to perform ADL's and an increased risk of falls (Landi et al., 2012, Visser et al., 2002, Janssen et al., 2002, Boo et al., 2019).

Depending on the diagnostic criteria used, epidemiological studies have reported an incidence of sarcopenia between 8 to 24% between the ages of 60 to 70 years, rising to 18-50% in those older than 80 years (Baumgartner et al., 1998, Melton et al., 2000, Morley et al., 2014, Shafiee et al., 2017). In patients with CHF, the incidence of sarcopenia is greater than in healthy individuals of the same age (Fülster et al., 2012, Zamboni et al., 2013, Mancini et al.,

1992, von Haehling, 2015), with one study reporting an incidence of 47% in patients with CHF under 55 years (Vescovo et al., 1996).

The combination of age and CHF-related sarcopenia contributes to exercise intolerance, with skeletal muscle mass acting as a strong predictor of VO_{2peak} in patients with CHF, independent of NYHA class, age and gender and resting haemodynamics (Mancini et al., 1992, Cicoira et al., 2001).

2.2.3.2.5 Capillary muscle density

Muscle capillaries are blood vessels that connect arteries to veins and serve to supply muscle tissue with oxygenated blood and to feed deoxygenated blood and carbon dioxide back into the circulatory system. Capillaries, therefore, are one of many factors that determine the oxygen uptake capacity of the body and directly correlate with muscle oxidative capacity (Ingjer, 1979). The influence of muscle capillary density (MCD) on aerobic capacity in CHF was first investigated in the mid-1990s, where studies showed a 25% lower MCD per unit of the cross-sectional area of quadriceps femoris compared to healthy controls (Magnusson et al., 1996). Others have reported significant reductions in the number of capillaries per muscle fibre in patients with CHF, but the ratio of capillaries to cross-sectional fibres was not different from controls, suggesting the overall diffusion distances were unchanged (Sullivan et al., 1990). In direct contrast, Mancini et al. found no difference in capillaries per fibre but an overall increase in capillaries per cross-sectional area (Mancini et al., 1989), while Lipkin et al. (Lipkin et al., 1988) reported no difference in capillaries per fibre. Many of these studies assessed capillary density by indirect measures, which may explain the contrasting findings (Duscha et al., 1999). The direct influence of MCD on VO_{2peak} is also unclear (Duscha et al., 1999). Therefore, it is still unknown to what extent MCD contributes to exercise intolerance in CHF.

2.3 Chronic heart failure and the older adult

2.3.1 The ageing population

Over the past four decades, the number of people aged 60 years and over has more than doubled and by 2050 the worldwide number is expected to double again to almost 2.1 billion, by which time older people will outnumber youth and adolescents (Division;, 2017). This changing demographic structure is universally described as a 'widening' of the population pyramid, as shown in

Figure 2.9: the age distribution curves of 1950 produce a pyramid shape (shown in dark blue), whereas the population projections for 2100 widen the top of the pyramid (shown in yellow).



Figure 2.9: The demography of the world population from 1950 to 2100

A depiction of the age distributions of the world population for men (left side of figure) and women (right side of figure) from 1950 to 2018, as well as population projections for years 2018 to 2100.

Source: United Nations Population Division- World Population Prospects (2014)

This shifting demographic is a consequence of increased life expectancy achieved by advances in medicine, overall population growth, decreased birth rate as well as declines in fertility (Australian Government, 2018). This global trend is also mirrored in the Australian population, where the number of individuals aged 65 and over increased by 3.5% between 1998 and 2018 (Australian Government, 2018). This age group is expected to increase more rapidly over the next decade, as more "baby boomers"² turn 65. Australian population projections estimate an increase of 25% in people aged over 65 years between 2002 and 2042 (Figure 2.10). The most dramatic increases by age are seen in persons aged 85 and older, where the Australian population of this group increased by 125.1% in the past 2 decades, compared to the total population growth of 34.3% (Australian Government, 2018).

As a consequence of the ageing population, the prevalence of chronic illnesses is also increasing, placing increased burdens on the health care system (Nowossadeck, 2012, Tonelli and Riella, 2014, Perry, 2013, MacNee et al., 2014).



Figure 2.10: Australian forecasted population growth by age indices

Source: Commonwealth of Australia (2004)

² "Baby Boomers" is a term used to describe the 5.5million people born between the post-second world war years of 1946 to 1965. COMMISSION, P. 2005. Economic implications of an ageing Australia. *Productivity Commission, Government of Australia Research Reports*.

2.3.2 Age distributions in CHF

It is well established that older individuals are disproportionately affected by CHF (Ho et al., 1993b, Curtis et al., 2008). The Framingham Heart Study remains the largest longitudinal cohort study of cardiovascular disease and found the annual prevalence of CHF in men and women to be 8 per 1000 between 50-59 years, which increased to 66 per 1000 between 80-89 years for men and 79 per 1000 for women. (Ho et al., 1993b). Similarly, a cohort longitudinal study of 622,789 persons in the USA found a prevalence of CHF of 19.3 per 1000 in persons aged 65-69 and 48.4 per 1000 in persons aged 80-84 years (Curtis et al., 2008). The age of the first presentation of CHF has been reported between 75-76 years (Conrad et al., 2018, Ho et al., 1993a).



Figure 2.11: The incidence rates of CHF by age group

Source: Curtis et al. (2008)

Hospitalisation is a common burden for patients with CHF. Rates of CHF-related hospitalisations are higher amongst older patients with CHF compared with younger patients (Christ et al., 2016, Newton et al., 2016) (Corrao et al., 2014, Kozak et al., 2006). For instance, CHF-related hospitalisations were greater in patients older than or equal to 75 years compared to those younger than 75 years (69% versus 31%) (Christ et al., 2016). Length of stay (LOS) is also known to increase with advancing age, with patients greater than 85 years staying 2–4 days longer than those under 65 years (Cowie et al., 2015).

The high rates of admissions in older patients with CHF is a local challenge, as well as a global one. The Victorian Cardiac Outcomes Registry Heart Failure study (VCOR-HF), reported on 289 patients admitted with acute decompensated HF from 16 regional and metropolitan hospitals between the years of 2014 and 2017. Age distribution was heavily skewed towards older individuals with a mean age of 80 years (IQR 71-87) (Figure 2.12) (Driscoll et al., 2020). At the Footscray and Sunshine Hospitals, part of the Western Health (WH) organisation in Melbourne Victoria, patients over 65 years accounted for 89% of all admissions with the primary diagnosis of acute heart failure (WH Performance Unit, 2013)



Age Distributions of Victorian Hospital Admissions of Acute Decompensated Heart Failure

Figure 2.12: Age distributions of Victorian hospital admissions of acute decompensated HF Source: Original graph created using data from VCOR-HF (Driscoll et al., 2020)

2.3.3 The older patient with CHF

2.3.3.1 Comorbidities

Older patients with CHF have distinctive clinical features and risks compared to younger patients with CHF, most notably the higher prevalence of co-morbidities that occur alongside CHF including atrial fibrillation (AF), HTN, COPD, anaemia, diabetes and chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Komajda et al., 2009, Barsheshet et al., 2010, Mogensen et al., 2011, Lainscak et al., 2009). Comorbidities frequently accompanying CHF lead to increased mortality and morbidity and decreased quality of life (Braunstein et al., 2003). In a cross-sectional survey of 122,650 older patients with CHF in the USA, approximately 40% of individuals had greater than or equal to five comorbidities, and these individuals accounted for 81% of the total days spent in hospital for the entire cohort (Braunstein et al., 2003). The five most common non-cardiac conditions are shown in Table 2.4. The presence of comorbidity results in a greater predisposition to develop CHF and is associated with further reduced functional capacity, higher rates of hospitalisations and early mortality in those with diagnosed CHF (Londono et al., 2018, Barsheshet et al., 2010).

Table 2.4: Five most common non-cardiac conditions for among 122,630 patients aged

 greater than 65 years with CHF

Chronic Disease	Percentage prevalence (n)
Hypertension	55 (67,211)
Diabetes Mellitus	31 (38,175)
COPD and bronchiectasis	26 (32,275)
Ocular disorders (retinopathy, macular disease, cataract, glaucoma)	24 (29,548)
Hypercholesterolaemia	21 (25,219)

Adapted from Braunstein et al. 2003 (Braunstein et al., 2003)

2.3.3.2 Sarcopenia, frailty and cachexia

Sarcopenia, frailty and cachexia are overlapping syndromes related to changes in body composition, strength and physical function (Gingrich et al., 2019). Several definitions are proposed for each of these overlapping conditions, currently without consensus (Fried et al., 2001, Evans et al., 2008, Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010, Muscaritoli et al., 2010, Fielding et al., 2011). Common approaches to identifying frailty include the Fried frailty criterion (Fried et al., 2001) which is based on five key physical indicators of frailty: unintentional weight loss, exhaustion, low physical activity, slowness and weakness; and the Rockwood Clinical Frailty Index which identifies individuals at different stages of frailty based on the proportion of accumulated deficits (Rockwood et al., 2005). For sarcopenia, most definitions are based on three criteria: muscle strength, muscle mass and physical function (Levinger and Duque, 2021). Table 2.5 summarises the most commonly used definitions from key international societies and working groups.

Table 2.5 Most commonly used definitions for sarcopenia

Definition	Strength	Muscle mass	Function
EWGSOP2	Grip strength: M <27kg, W <16Kg Chair stand: >15 s for five rises	ASM: M <20 kg, W <15 kg ASM/height ² : M <7.0 kg/m ^{2,} W <5.5 kg/m ²	Gait speed: $\leq 0.8 \text{ m/s}$ SPPB: $\leq 8 \text{ point score}$ TUG: $\geq 20 \text{ s}$ 400 m walk test: Non- completion or $\geq 6 \text{ min}$ for completion
AWGS	Grip strength: M <28 kg, W <18 kg	Height-adjusted muscle mass: DXA, M <7.0 kg/m ² , W <5.4 kg/m ² and bioimpedance, M <7.0 kg/m ² , W <5.7 kg/m ²	6-m walk <1.0 m/s, Short Physical Performance Battery score ≤9 5-time chair stand test ≥12 seconds.

Source: Levinger and Duque (2021)

SDOC	Grip strength: M <35.5 kg, W <20.0 kg	-	
	Grip/BMI: M <1.05 kg/kg/m ² , W <.79 kg/kg/m ²		
	Grip/TBF: M <1.66 kg/kg, W <.65 kg/kg		
	Grip/ALM: M <6.08 kg/kg, W <3.26 kg/kg		
	Grip/Weight: M <.45 kg/kg, W <.34 kg/kg		
IWGS		Height-adjusted muscle	Gait speed: <1 m/s
		mass: M< 7.23 kg/m ² ,	
		W< 5.67 kg/m ²	
FNIH	Grip strength: M <26 kg, W <16 kg	ASM/BMI: Men < 0.789, W< 0.512	Gait speed: ≤0.8 m/s
ASM, apper	idicular skeletal muscle mass; AW	GS, Asian Working Group	for Sarcopenia; BMI,
Body Mass	Index; EQGSOP2, European Work for the National Institutes of Health	ing Group on Sarcopenia in WGS International Group	n Older Adults; FNIH,
men; SDOC	, Sarcopenia Definition and Outcor	nes Consortium; SPPB, Sh	nort Physical Activity
Performance	e Battery; TUG, timed up and go; V	V, women	2 2

Thus, depending on the definitions used, the reported prevalence for these conditions can vary. Among community-dwelling adults the prevalence of sarcopenia is reported between 2.3 and 29% (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2016), with higher rates amongst long-term care or medical inpatients (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2014, Gingrich et al., 2019). The prevalence for frailty is between 3.9-51% (pooled prevalence from meta-analyses 17.4%) (Siriwardhana et al., 2018, Xie et al., 2020).

Older patients with CHF are particularly affected by these tissue loss syndromes (Zamboni et al., 2013, Fulster et al., 2013, von Haehling, 2015). Frailty has been detected in up to 76% of patients with CHF greater than 70 years (Vidan et al., 2016). Furthermore, in a prospective study of 200 patients with CHF (mean age; 66.9 ± 10.4 years), muscle wasting was observed in 19.5% of patients, which correlated significantly with reduced exercise time during maximal exercise testing (Fulster et al., 2013).

Sarcopenia and frailty are associated with poorer outcomes. In a meta-analysis that included 2645 patients from 8 studies, the presence of frailty was associated with a significant increase risk of mortality over a mean follow-up period of 1.82 years and hospitalisation, over a mean follow-up period of 1.12 years (Yang et al., 2018).

2.3.3.3 Cognitive deficits

Several longitudinal studies have shown faster cognitive declines in patients with CHF compared to those without (Verhaegen et al., 2003, Hammond et al., 2018). In comparison to younger patients with CHF, older individuals with CHF demonstrate a higher incidence of cognitive deficits, as well as mental health and sleep disorders (Komajda et al., 2009). In a longitudinal study of 4864 men and women over the age of 65 years, the decline in cognitive function was faster after diagnosis with CHF and this association was stronger at older ages (Hammond et al., 2018).

Given the importance of self-care in CHF management, impairments in cognitive function have clinical implications for patients. Cognitive dysfunction and memory impairment are associated with poorer self-care (Lee et al., 2013, Hajduk et al., 2013) and inadequate health literacy (Hawkins et al., 2016, Morrow et al., 2006, Lee and Son, 2018). Furthermore, reduced health literacy has known associations with self-care (Son et al., 2018, Chen et al., 2011) and knowledge attainment in patients with CHF (Chen et al., 2014).

2.3.3.4 Representation in clinical trials

Although older patients suffer worse outcomes due to comorbidities, they are in fact, underrepresented in clinical trials (Pressler et al., 2008). Data from the PREDICT (Increasing the PaRticipation of the ElDerly in Clinical Trials) study showed that among 251 trials for patients with CHF, 64 (25.5%) excluded older patients by an arbitrary upper age limit and 109 trials (43.4%) excluded older patients due to other exclusion criteria not justified by clinical guidelines, including comorbidities or concurrent treatment (Crome et al., 2014).

To our knowledge, there is no published description reporting the detailed reasons for the exclusion of older patients with CHF from exercise training studies and therefore it is difficult to ascertain the true eligibility and recruitment potential of older patients with CHF for exercise training. Furthermore, understanding the reasons leading to their exclusion may

guide the development of strategies to optimise recruitment and thus, improve the translation of research findings into clinical practice.

These limitations were considered in Study 4, Chapter 6 of this thesis.

2.4 Treatment overview

As discussed previously, CHF is a complex syndrome whereby a reduced cardiac output triggers a sequence of maladaptive processes which eventually lead to further cardiac remodelling (Ge et al., 2019, Tanai and Frantz, 2015, Sayer and Bhat, 2014). This chronic neurohormonal activation leads symptomatically to exercise intolerance, dyspnoea and fatigue (Zambroski et al., 2005). The fundamental objectives of CHF therapy are to reduce symptoms, maintain or improve exercise capacity, reduce the frequency of hospitalisations and ultimately to prolong survival while maintaining quality of life (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2017). These objectives are achieved by a multi-targeted treatment approach involving pharmacotherapy, device therapy and exercise rehabilitation (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017). The following sections describe these treatments and explore newer approaches in the field of exercise rehabilitation.

2.5 Pharmacotherapy

The basic therapeutic principle for pharmacotherapies in CHF is to deregulate the maladaptive activation of the RAAS and SNS (Berliner and Bauersachs, 2017). The prolonged effects of angiotensin II and catecholamines contribute towards cardiac remodelling and deteriorating cardiac function and are the central target for pharmacological treatment. Optimal pharmacological treatment is proven to prolong life expectancy and reduce the frequency of hospitalisations (Brann et al., 2019). The first-line pharmacological agents for HFrEF are angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I), beta-adrenergic receptor blockers (β-blockers) and mineralocorticoid/aldosterone receptor antagonists (MRAs) and should be prescribed to the vast majority patients with HFrEF (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017).

2.5.1 Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors

Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) prevent the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II, thereby inhibiting the vasoconstrictor effect of angiotensin II, increasing blood pressure, fluid retention and cardiac contractility (Opie and Gersh, 2012).

ACE-I reduce the risk of mortality by 11-31% in patients with CHF (up to 4.5 years followup) (Consensus Trial Study Group, 1987, Yusuf et al., 1992, Tai et al., 2017) and reduce rates of hospitalisations by 6-26% over 24–37.4 months (Yusuf et al., 1992, Khan et al., 2017). Treatment with ACE-Is has also been shown to delay the development of cachexia (Anker et al., 2003, Rolfe et al., 2019) but the mechanisms of this benefit are not fully understood. One hypothesis suggests that ACE-I have an effect on catecholamines, endothelial function and other neurohormones, which all contribute to oxidative stress, ischemia, tissue damage and apoptosis (Hornig et al., 1998, Francis et al., 1993, Swedberg et al., 1990, Anker et al., 2003). ACE-I may also influence exercise tolerance in patients with CHF. A meta-analysis reported a 5% increase in total exercise duration on an exercise tolerance test (bicycle ergometer, treadmill, 6-min walk) following ACE-I treatment (duration of treatment; 4-12 weeks) (Abdulla et al., 2004). However, this study had several limitations, including the exclusion of patients with NYHA Class IV (which increases the risk of attrition bias due to the potential of increased participant dropouts and death in those with NYHA IV) and the lack of gold standard exercise endpoints (VO_{2peak}). Considering this, the effect of ACE-I on exercise capacity is not fully understood.

The primary ACE-I prescribed for CHF are Captopril, Enalapril, Lisinopril and Ramipril. Side effects from ACE-I are common and include a chronic dry cough, hypotension and renal impairment. For patients who are sensitive to these side effects, Angiotensin Receptor Blockers (ARB) are an alternative agent (Ponikowski et al., 2016a).

2.5.2 Beta-adrenergic receptor blockers

Beta-adrenergic receptor blockers (β -blockers) block β_1 -receptors (found in cardiac tissue) to reduce heart rate (HR), myocardial contractility and renin release, as well as β_2 -receptors (mostly found in bronchial tissue and peripheral blood vessels), which increase bronchial resistance and inhibit catecholamine-induced glucose metabolism (MIMS Online, 2020). Due to their effect on HR, β -blockers are primarily anti-arrhythmic agents and are regarded as the central treatment for many cardiovascular diseases (Opie and Gersh, 2012).

Several trials and meta-analyses in CHF have shown an unequivocally beneficial effect of β blockade on survival, with reports of a decrease in all-cause mortality between 12–34% over a mean follow-up of studies between 6–32 months (MERIT-HF Investigators, 1999, CIBIS-II Study Group, 1999, Flather et al., 2005, Kotecha et al., 2014, Chatterjee et al., 2013, Lee and Spencer, 2001, Bonet et al., 2000), a reduction in sudden death by 31-49% over 6-23 months (MERIT-HF Investigators, 1999, CIBIS-II Study Group, 1999, Al-Gobari et al., 2013, Lee and Spencer, 2001) and reductions in hospitalisations and lengths of stay (Packer et al., 2002, Flather et al., 2005). Common β -blockers prescribed for CHF include Metoprolol, Carvedilol, Bisoprolol and Nebivolol (Chatterjee et al., 2013).

The primary mechanisms of β -blockers in the improved survival in CHF are; 1) the attenuation of the SNS, leading to the partial normalisation in resting HR, filling pressures and afterload, thereby slowing cardiac remodelling and; 2) due to the agent's anti-arrhythmic and anti-ischemic properties (Opie and Gersh, 2012, Rehsia and Dhalla, 2010).

Although the survival benefits of β -blockers are demonstrated, their effects on increasing functional capacity are not clear (MERIT-HF Investigators, 1999, CIBIS-II Study Group, 1999). Systematic reviews demonstrate only a preservative effect of β -blockers on VO_{2peak} (Montero and Flammer, 2018, Bolger and Al-Nasser, 2003, Dekleva et al., 2012, Ismail et al., 2013), suggesting that while β -blockers are the keystone pharmacotherapy for CHF, additional strategies such as exercise training are required to address the physical and functional impairments caused by the syndrome.

2.5.3 Mineralocorticoid/aldosterone receptor antagonists

Fluid retention and oedema are common signs of CHF (Clark and Cleland, 2013) and are effectively managed by mineralocorticoid/aldosterone receptor antagonists (MRA). MRA block the receptors for aldosterone, thereby reducing its effect on fluid retention (Opie and Gersh, 2012). When used in patients with CHF, MRA inhibit the sodium reabsorption and potassium secretion effects of aldosterone and in turn reduce fluid overload (Bauersachs et al., 2015). MRA are recommended for all patients with HFrEF who remain symptomatic despite treatment with both ACE-I and β -blockers (Ponikowski et al., 2016a). This recommendation is made on the basis that treatment with MRA reduces the severity of symptoms (Pitt et al., 1999), reduces the frequency of hospitalisations over 24 months by 35% (Pitt et al., 1999) and significantly reduces death from all causes and sudden death by 19–30% and 19–23%, respectively (Pitt et al., 1999, Rossello et al., 2019, Le et al., 2016, Wei et al., 2010, Bapoje et al., 2013).

Aldosterone antagonist treatment with spironolactone is also shown to significantly reduce the symptoms of CHF in patients with HFrEF, as measured by an improvement in NYHA Class (Pitt et al., 1999). Several second-line agents are also available for select patients with CHF, to reduce signs and symptoms of fluid overload and over activation of the RAAS. These include angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), vasodilators/nitrates, angiotensin receptor-neprilysin Inhibitor (ARNI), digoxin and diuretics (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017). The point of effect for each of the pharmaceutical agents for CHF on the processes within the RAAS is depicted in Figure 2.13.





First-line pharmaceutical agents and their effect on the RAAS are shown in green and second-line pharmaceutical agents are shown in blue.

The evidence presented demonstrates a clear role for pharmacological treatment in the partial normalisation of the RAAS, which has follow-on benefits to mortality. However, despite the survival benefits, pharmacological treatment provides at best only partial benefits for aerobic capacity and other measures of physical fitness. Furthermore, the prevalence of polypharmacy (i.e. the prescription of ≥ 10 medications) is particularly common among older adults with CHF and carries a greater risk of excessive side effects, diminished effectiveness

and confusion (Unlu et al., 2020). For many patients the symptomatic burden remains significant despite optimal pharmacotherapy and many are unable to tolerate ADLs. Normalising physical impairments is equally important as improving survival and can be achieved by exercise training.

2.6 Clinical exercise rehabilitation

2.6.1 Exercise training: An overview

Exercise training is recommended for patients with CHF based on strong and consistent evidence that shows its beneficial effects on muscle function, aerobic fitness and quality of life (Atherton et al., 2018, Ponikowski et al., 2016a). Suitably designed exercise programs may also reduce the risk of hospitalisations and premature mortality (Long et al., 2019).

Broadly, exercise is characterised by two primary training modalities: aerobic and RT. The basic exercise prescription principle of *specificity* suggests that aerobic exercise primarily stimulates improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness, whereas resistance training stimulates improvements in muscle mass, strength and power (Swain and Brawner, 2014). Importantly, however, the unique skeletal muscle physiology pertinent to older adults with HFrEF (previously discussed in section 2.4.3) causes atypical adaptations achieved by each modality. This concept will be explored in the following review of the evidence for aerobic exercise and resistance training for patients with HFrEF.

2.6.1.1 Aerobic exercise

Aerobic exercise involves rhythmic activities that use a large muscle group and draw from aerobic metabolic systems to produce energy (Swain and Brawner, 2014). Examples of aerobic activities include running, walking and swimming. Due to the breadth of evidence investigating the benefits of aerobic exercise for people with HFrEF, the following section will summarise level 1 and level 2 evidence³.

The importance of regular aerobic exercise for improving aerobic capacity in patients with HFrEF is clear. A meta-regression analysis by Vromen et al. (2016), including 17 studies and 2935 participants (median age of intervention group; 60 years [range 50 to 72], weighted mean EF; 26.8%) reported that aerobic training increased VO_{2peak} by 2.10 ml/kg/min in

³ Refers to the National Health and Medical Research Council levels of research evidence that include data derived from randomised controlled trials and systematic reviews of randomised controlled trials (COUNCIL;, N. H. M. R. 2009. NHMRC additional levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. *NHMRC*.

comparison to the non-exercise control group (Figure 2.14, p < 0.001). The mean intensity of prescribed exercise of included studies ranged from 50–79% of VO_{2peak}, while the mean program length was 12 weeks (range 4 to 39), of four sessions per week (range 3 to 20) and of 30 minutes in duration (range 18 to 57).

	Experim	ental		Control	Mean di	fference				
Study Total	Mean	SD Total	Mean	SD			MD	95%-CI	W(fixed)	W(random)
Antunes-Correa et al. 2014 Oct 17	3.00 5.68	37773 17	0.00	5.687773	-		3.00	[-0.82; 6.82]	0.2%	3.2%
Beer 2008 May 11	3.60 3.67	74235 11	1.30	3.674235	-		2.30	[-0.77; 5.37]	0.3%	4.4%
Brubaker 2009 30	-0.20 4.97	73247 29	0.10	4.888361	+		-0.30	[-2.82; 2.22]	0.4%	5.7%
Eleuteri E et al. 2013 11	1.70 2.41	19228 10	-0.70	2.307919			2.40	[0.38; 4.42]	0.7%	7.4%
Erbs 2010 18	2.50 5.14	19	-0.70	5.148786			3.20	[-0.12; 6.52]	0.2%	3.9%
Kulcu 2007 23	3.50 8.38	35106 21	2.00	8.385106			1.50	[-3.46; 6.46]	0.1%	2.0%
Maiorana AJ et al. 2011 Jan 12	2.70 5.68	33823 12	-1.00	5.683823	_		3.70	[-0.85; 8.25]	0.1%	2.4%
Malfatto G et al. 2009 May 27	3.00 5.45	55273 27	-0.20	5.455273			3.20	[0.29; 6.11]	0.3%	4.7%
Mandic, S. et al. 2009 Mar 14	1.30 1.50	00000 13	0.10	1.500000			1.20	[0.07; 2.33]	2.1%	11.5%
Mezzani et al. 2013 15	1.40 2.61	13427 15	-0.90	2.613427		<u>+</u>	2.30	[0.43; 4.17]	0.8%	8.0%
Myers J et al. 2007 Jun 12	5.10 6.18	33041 12	0.00	6.183041			- 5.10	[0.15; 10.05]	0.1%	2.1%
O'Connor CM et al. 2009 Apr 1074	0.70 2.07	3700 1109	0.10	2.073700		+	0.60	[0.43; 0.77]	89.6%	15.4%
Passino C et al. 2008 Apr 71	2.00 11.74	48501 19	-0.60	5.965761	_		2.60	[-1.23; 6.43]	0.2%	3.1%
Patwala AY et al. 2009 Jun 25	1.37 1.49	90000 25	-0.01	1.490000		+++	1.38	[0.55; 2.21]	4.0%	13.1%
Sandri M et al. 2012 Jul 15	4.80 6.67	74485 15	-0.20	6.674485		+ + + +	- 5.00	[0.22; 9.78]	0.1%	2.2%
Sandri M et al. 2012 Jul 15	4.20 9.99	94999 15	0.20	9.994999			4.00	[-3.15; 11.15]	0.1%	1.1%
Terziyski K et al. 2010 Jan 15	2.30 3.56	35109 7	0.20	3.565109	-		2.10	[-1.10; 5.30]	0.3%	4.1%
Vasiliauskas D et al. 2007 Jun 83	3.30 8.04	19845 71	-2.50	8.049845			5.80	[3.25; 8.35]	0.4%	5.7%
Fixed effect model 1488		1447				\$	0.74	[0.57; 0.90]	100%	
Random effects model						\diamond	2.10	[1.34; 2.86]		100%
Heterogeneity: I-squared=61.2%, tau-squared	=0.9717, p=0.0004						_			
					-10 -5	0 5	10			

Figure 2.14: Forest plot of the effect of aerobic training on VO_{2peak} in patients with HFrEF Aerobic training resulted in a group mean difference in VO_{2peak} of 2.10 ml.min⁻¹.kg⁻¹ (p<0.001)

Source: Vromen et al. (2016)

An abundance of randomised controlled trials (RCT) and meta-analyses also demonstrate the beneficial effect of aerobic exercise on quality of life and symptoms of depression (Tu et al., 2014) and on improving prognostic markers including VE/VCO₂ slope (Cipriano et al., 2014, Smart et al., 2012, Smart and Steele, 2010), N-terminal prohormone of brain natriuretic peptide (NTproBNP)(Smart et al., 2012, Smart and Steele, 2010) and vascular function as measured by flow-mediated dilation (Pearson and Smart, 2017).

Despite these proven benefits, a major limitation of this evidence is that most trials comprise a comparatively young participant cohort, compared to the typical patient with CHF. HF-ACTION, for instance, is the largest aerobic exercise study in CHF (n= 2331) and has a mean age of participants of only 59 years (O'Connor et al., 2009). Furthermore, among metaanalyses with outcomes for VO_{2peak} and VE/VCO₂ slope, the mean age of participants ranged from 51 to 60 years (Vromen et al., 2016, Gomes-Neto et al., 2019a). Remarkably, only four individual RCTs have investigated the effects of aerobic exercise in patients with HFrEF where the mean age of participants was greater than 70years (Brubaker et al., 2009, Nilsson et al., 2008, Antonicelli et al., 2016, Sandri et al., 2012b). The reported outcomes and exercise prescription among these studies vary considerably (Table 1).

Two of these measured aerobic capacity by VO_{2peak} (Brubaker et al., 2009, Sandri et al., 2012a). One study randomised 59 participants to a 16-week exercise program of walking and stationary cycling, 3 times per week for 30–40 minutes at moderate intensity (40–70% HRR) and found no changes in VO_{2peak} in comparison to a non-exercise control group (Brubaker et al., 2009). However, mean cycle ergometer distance per session and combined walking and cycle distance per session both increased significantly in the intervention group in comparison to baseline, suggesting improved functional capacity despite no change in VO_{2peak} (Brubaker et al., 2009). Sandri and Kozarez et al. (2012a) investigated the effect of a 4-week aerobic exercise training program in patients with HFrEF in two age categories (less than or equal to 55 years and greater or equal to 65 years) in comparison to age-matched nonexercise control groups, as well as in comparison to a cohort of healthy reference controls. Authors reported a 27% increases in VO_{2peak} in the older intervention group in comparison to baseline (p=0.008), whereas no changes in exercise capacity were reported among control groups (Sandri et al., 2012a). Interestingly, LVEF also increased in adults with HFrEF \geq 65 years undertaking the exercise intervention, from $29\pm2\%$ to $35\pm2\%$ (p < 0.05 versus agematched HFrEF control).

The remaining two studies among older adults with CHF (Table 1) measured functional capacity by 6MWD and reported significant increases in the intervention group compared to baseline (Antonicelli et al., 2016, Nilsson et al., 2008) and in comparison to the non-exercise controls (Nilsson et al., 2008). Regarding quality of life, Antonicelli and Spazzafumo et al. (2016) reported significant improvements in comparison to control (Antonicelli et al., 2016), whereas Brubaker and Moore et al. (2009) reported no difference between groups (Brubaker et al., 2009).

Author	Participants	Intervention	Outcomes	Outcomes
			(compared to baseline)	(compared to control)
Antonicelli et	n = 343	Mode: Stationary bike	↑↑ 6MWD (3 months	$\psi\psi$ All-cause hospital
al. (2016)	Age: 76.9 ± 5.67	Frequency: 3/week, 3 months (supervised) + 3	and 6 months)	admission
	EF: 48.4±13.4	months (telemonitored)		↑↑ HR QoL
	Males: 195	Intensity: 60 RPM, 60–70% predicted HR max		$\uparrow \uparrow$ 6MWD (at 3 and 6
	(56.9%)	Duration: General warm-up/cool down +		months)
		(Bike) 5 min warm-up, 20 min efforts, 5 min		
		cooldown		
		Progression: Not specified		
		Control: Non-exercise usual care		
Brubaker et al.	n = 59	Mode: Track walking and stationary cycling	↑↑ Mean cycle	$\uparrow \uparrow$ Exercise time and
(2009)	Age: 70.2 ± 5.1	Frequency: 3/week, 16 weeks	ergometer distance per	workload
	EF: 30.7% ± 9.0	Intensity: 40–50% HRR (first two weeks), 60–	session	$\Leftrightarrow \mathrm{VO}_{\mathrm{2peak}}$
	Male: 39 (66%)	70% HRR	↑ ↑ Combined walking	$\Leftrightarrow VE_{peak}$
		Duration: 30–40 minutes + warm up/cool down	and cycle distance	⇔ VE/VCO ₂ slope
		Control: Non-exercise control	▲ Wall distance nor	⇔ Ventilatory anaerobic
			I wan distance per	threshold
			SESSIOII	⇔ LV volumes, EF, diastolic

 Table 2.6: A summary of aerobic exercise RCTs investigating where study participants had a mean age greater than 70 years (original table)

				filling ⇔6MWD ⇔ QoL
Sandri et al. (2012a)	n = 30 _† EF: 28+5% Age: 72 ± 5.0 Male:	Mode: Stationary Bike Frequency: 4/week, 4 weeks Intensity: 70% VO _{2peak} Duration: 20 minutes + warm up/cool down Control: Non-exercise, non-HF control	 ↑↑ VO_{2peak} □□ LVEF ↓↓ LV isovolumetric relaxation time ↑↑ E/A ratio ↓↓ DT ↑↑ septal E' ↓↓ E/e' ratio ↓↓ NT-proBNP 	
Nilsson et al. (2008)	n = 80 Age: 70.1 ± 7.9 EF: 31% ± 8 (int) 31 ± 9 (con) Male: 63 (79%)	Mode: Aerobic dance (with music) Frequency: 2/week, 4 months Intensity: 15–18/20 Borg Scale Duration: 50 minutes including warm-up/cool down Control: Non-exercise control		 ↑↑ 6MWD (maintained at 12 months) ↑↑ Exercise time on exercise test (maintained at 12 months)

	↑↑ QoL (maintained at 12 months)
ψ Indicates significant reduction; ψ indicates non-significant reduction; \Leftrightarrow indicates no change; $\uparrow\uparrow$ indicates a significant reduction φ	ificant increase;
↑ indicates non-significant increase	
QoL, quality of life; 6MWD, 6-minute walk distance; LV, left ventricle; E/e', ratio of early mitral inflow velocity and 1	nitral annular early diastolic
velocity; NT-proBNP, N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide; HFNAQ, heart failure needs assessment questionnair	; HR, heart rate, VE,
ventilatory equivalent; RPM, revolutions per minute.	
+ Includes older age group only (i.e. ≥ 65 years)	

Taken together, these findings suggest a potential benefit of aerobic training among older patients with HFrEF but the evidence is limited by the small number of studies and study limitations. Of note, Antonicelli et al. (2016) did not specify their method of progressing exercise intensity and the initial starting intensity was prescribed by a percentage of age-predicted HR max—a method which was reported to be unsuitable for patients on beta-blocker medications (Keteyian et al., 2012, Brawner et al., 2004).

Despite these limitations, current guidelines recommend aerobic exercise for all patients with HFrEF without specific mention of the evidence limitations for older adults and without special considerations for this patient group.

2.6.1.1.1 Interval aerobic training and high intensity interval training

Interval training involves aerobic training with alternating periods of work and rest (Cress et al., 2015). Prescription of exercise intensity for the rest period can include complete rest, or exercise prescribed at a lower relative intensity to the work phase (Cress et al., 2015). This method of alternating exercise intensity is particularly useful for individuals with limited aerobic capacity, as it allows for periods of recovery so that a greater net volume of exercise can be achieved in one exercise session. Interval training is shown to produce superior effects on VO_{2peak} and LVEF in comparison to continuous aerobic training (Pattyn et al., 2018, Smart et al., 2013, Haykowsky et al., 2013). Improvements in quality of life (Pattyn et al., 2018) and VT (Pattyn et al., 2018), however, appear similar when compared with continuous aerobic training.

High intensity interval training (HIIT) is a form of interval training that involves high intensity aerobic exercise (greater than 90% HRmax) for the work phase and is an effective exercise modality to increase VO_{2peak} in healthy populations (Milanovic et al., 2015, Ferguson, 2014). The knowledge that greater increases in VO_{2peak} can be achieved with higher intensity exercise has generated interest for the potential of HIIT for patients with CHF (Ismail et al., 2014). A systematic review and meta-analysis including 13 studies and 411 patients with HFrEF (mean age range; 58–65 years) found that HIIT was superior to continuous aerobic exercise in regard to increases in VO_{2peak} . However, no differences have been observed between groups for quality of life outcomes (Gomes Neto et al., 2018) or VE/VCO₂ slope (Xie et al., 2017) between the two modalities.

There are two primary issues which have prevented the routine use of HIIT for patients with CHF. First, exercising at higher intensity exercise is associated with a greater risk of

myocardial infarction or sudden death (Siscovick et al., 1984, Levinger et al., 2015), particularly in individuals who are habitually inactive or who have cardiac risk factors (Giri et al., 1999). Second, meta-analyses on HIIT generally recruit younger patients (mean range 57.0 to 65) (Pattyn et al., 2018, Haykowsky et al., 2013, Gomes Neto et al., 2018). Taken together, HIIT is not routinely recommended for patients with CHF.

2.6.1.2 Resistance training

Resistance training is designed to increase muscle mass, strength, power and size by exercising a muscle group against an external resistance (Swain and Brawner, 2014). Muscle strength is a key component of physical fitness and is important for weight management and overall cardiovascular health (Boo et al., 2019). In older individuals, muscular strength, power and endurance are particularly important for mobility, the performance of ADLs, quality of life and for reducing the risk of falls and fractures (Landi et al., 2012, Visser et al., 2002, Janssen et al., 2002, Boo et al., 2019, Williams et al., 2007, Torres et al., 2017, Scott et al., 2015).

Before the 1990s, there was a reluctance to implement resistance training for patients with CHF due to safety concerns that a high cardiac afterload observed during resistance training may adversely affect blood pressure responses and lead to further left ventricular remodelling (Mitchell and Wildenthal, 1974). These concerns have mostly been alleviated, with several studies confirming the integrity of the left ventricle during resistance training (Pu et al., 2001, Levinger et al., 2005, Karlsdottir et al., 2002, Meyer et al., 1999) and with consideration of general precautions for resistance training, such as avoidance of the Valsalva manoeuvre and proper basic resistance training techniques (Swain and Brawner, 2014) (Niewiadomski et al., 2012).

2.6.1.2.1 Resistance training as a standalone therapy

At the time of writing, few studies have investigated resistance training *as a standalone therapy* in patients with CHF. A meta-analysis by Hwang et al. (2010) that included 8 trials and 241 patients with HFrEF (EF range; 23 to 36%) found that resistance training significantly increased 6MWD versus usual care (weighted mean difference; 52m, 95% CI; 19 to 85) and also found a non-significant favourable trend on VO_{2peak} (weighted mean difference 1.4ml/kg/min) (Hwang et al., 2010). Data for the outcome of VO_{2peak}, however, was limited to only four included studies (Figure 2.15) and the age range among seven of the

eight included studies was 55 to 60 years, while one study (Pu et al., 2001) had a mean age of 77 years.



Figure 2.15: The weighted mean difference (1.4ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) of effect of resistance training on VO_{2peak} compared with non-exercise control.

Source: (Hwang et al., 2010)

The limited attention to resistance training within exercise training research for patients with CHF may be due to its lesser effect on aerobic capacity in comparison to other exercise modalities. For instance, a review by Smart (2013) ranked training modalities according to improvement in VO_{2peak} in patients with CHF and found that resistance training performed the lowest according to peak VO₂ response (Smart, 2013) (**Box 2.1**).

Hierarchy of training modality arranged from highest to lowest according to reported Peak VO₂ response High-intensity interval exercise Moderate-intensity continuous aerobic exercise (outpatient and home-based) Functional electrical stimulation inspiratory muscle training Aerobic exercise (home-based only) Combined aerobic and resistance training Resistance training

Box 2.1: A Hierarchy of training modality arranged from highest to lowest according to reported Peak VO₂ response.

Source: Smart (2013)

This hierarchy of training modalities, however, may not apply to older patients with CHF, who are underrepresented across the existing exercise literature and in whom the potential benefits of resistance training may go beyond general health and strength outcomes. As previously discussed (section 2.4.3) the combination of age and CHF-related sarcopenia contributes to exercise intolerance, with skeletal muscle mass and strength acting as strong predictors of VO_{2peak} in patients with CHF (Mancini et al., 1992, Cicoira et al., 2001, Anker et al., 1997). Furthermore, muscle strength is a strong predictor of mortality in patients with CHF (Hülsmann et al., 2004) and skeletal muscle mass and strength are associated with a greater distance achieved during the 6-minute walk test among older adults with CHF (Koshikawa et al., 2020)

As described previously (section 2.3.3) the muscle hypothesis of CHF suggests that exercise intolerance in CHF is largely due to impairments in peripheral tissues. This knowledge has led to the hypothesis that targeting muscle dysfunction may interrupt these maladaptive feedback loops and improve exercise tolerance (Piepoli et al., 1996a). Resistance training has also been suggested as a possible alternative for patients who have insufficient capacity to tolerate aerobic exercise, such as those who are elderly or have more advanced disease (Jankowska et al., 2008, Koch et al., 1992, Smart, 2013).

Several additional RCTs investigating the effect of resistance training on aerobic capacity have been undertaken since the meta-analysis of Hwang et al. (2010). Study 2, Chapter 4 of this thesis further analyses the effects of resistance training as a standalone therapy on muscle strength, aerobic capacity and quality of life in patients with CHF.

2.6.1.2.1 Resistance training as an adjunct therapy

It is well documented that resistance training *as an adjunct* to aerobic training has many benefits for patients with CHF. This evidence base includes specifically designed RCTs, as well as comprehensive reviews of cardiac rehabilitation (CR) programs. Meta-analyses report superior increases in quality of life with combined aerobic and resistance training compared to continuous aerobic exercise (Cornelis et al., 2016) but little difference is reported for change in VO_{2peak} (Hwang et al., 2010, Cornelis et al., 2016, Mandic et al., 2009) or in VE/VCO₂ slope (Cornelis et al., 2016).

In an RCT including 58 patients with HFrEF (mean age range; 58 to 59 years, mean EF; 23 to 26%) comparing the effect of combined training versus aerobic training, combined training produced superior improvements to steady-state workload, upper limb one repetition maximum (1RM) muscle strength and health-related quality of life (p < 0.001). However, there was no difference between groups for outcomes of VO_{2peak}, lower leg strength, maximal workload and work-economy (Wattmax/VO_{2peak}) (Beckers et al., 2008). Similarly, in an RCT investigating combined versus aerobic training in 52 patients with CHF (mean age; 62 ± 12 years, NYHA ranges I to III), leg press strength significantly improved from baseline in the combined group but not the aerobic group and chest press strength increased significantly more in the combined exercise group versus aerobic only. Neither intervention improved VO_{2peak} (Mandic et al., 2009).

Several reviews have also investigated the effect of combined aerobic and resistance training on the risk of mortality and hospitalisations. The most comprehensive and recent review by the Cochrane group included 44 trials and 5783 participants (mean age range 51 to 81 years) receiving exercise-based CR (in which all trials involved an aerobic intervention and 14 trials also included resistance training). This study reported that exercise training made little or no difference to short term all-cause mortality at less than 1-year follow-up but may improve allcause mortality with greater than 12-month follow-up (Long et al., 2019). Low-moderate quality evidence (as assessed by the GRADE method (Schünemann et al., 2019)) supported CR for reducing the risk of all-cause and HF-related hospital admissions and improved quality of life within 12-months of follow-up (Long et al., 2019).

The limited benefit for mortality and hospitalisations was also demonstrated in an individual patient data meta-analysis, EXTRAMATCH II, which included 18 trials (in which all trials included aerobic exercise and six additionally included resistance training) and 3912 patients (mean age 61±13 years, mean EF 26.7%) (Taylor et al., 2018). Results showed that CR did not have a significant effect on mortality or hospitalisation (median follow up 11.2 to 18.6months) (Taylor et al., 2018). Bjarnason-Wehrens et al. (2019) also found no difference in 6 to 12 month mortality or hospitalisation in a systematic review and meta-analysis of exercise-based CR (25 studies; n=4481, LVEF less than or equal to40%)(Bjarnason-Wehrens et al., 2019).

Taken together, these findings suggest that resistance training provides an additive benefit for improving quality of life and measures of muscular strength when combined with aerobic training in patients with HFrEF.

The evidence for combined aerobic and resistance training, however, is also limited by a large age-recruitment bias. Figure 2.16 is a graphical illustration of the mean age of participants among studies included in the 2019 Cochrane Review, in comparison to the mean age at diagnosis of CHF (76.4 \pm 12 years [35]). Only 15 of the 44 included studies (29%) had a mean age of participants within the mean and standard deviation (SD) range of age at diagnosis of CHF. Consequently, it is unclear whether combined aerobic and resistance training is an effective exercise modality for improving aerobic capacity and muscular strength in older adults with CHF. These limitations were considered in Study 3, Chapter 5 of this thesis, which will determine whether older patients with HFrEF can benefit from combined moderate-intensity aerobic and resistance training.



the grey dotted line and SD by shaded area) (Original Figure) based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure (y-axis), in comparison to the mean age and SD at diagnosis of CHF (mean indicated by Figure 2.16: A graphical illustration of the mean age of participants (y-axis) among studies included in the 2019 Cochrane review of exercise-

Authors with an * indicate the mean age reported was for the intervention group only

2.6.1.3 PRIME: A novel exercise for older adults

It was recently demonstrated that healthy older individuals (mean age 76.0 ± 4.9 years) with reduced aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak} less than 20 ml/kg/min) can benefit from a novel exercise regime known as <u>Peripheral Remodelling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise</u>, PRIME (Allen et al., 2018, Allen et al., 2013). PRIME offers a hybrid aerobic-resistance program and was designed to address the peripheral tissue dysfunctions responsible for reduced VO_{2peak} in older adults without imposing excess cardiovascular or musculoskeletal strain (Allen et al., 2013). By focusing initially on individual muscle groups with low weights and a high number of repetitions, PRIME aims to provide a localized stimulus not restricted by compromised or competing perfusion. As shown in Figure 2.17, when PRIME is applied as a bridging therapy to a traditional approach of combined aerobic and resistance training, participants experience greater increases in aerobic capacity, muscle strength and physical function compared to combined training alone.



Figure 2.17: Group mean data of training response to PRIME and aerobic exercise treatment The left panel represents VO_{2peak} ; middle panel represents the combined maximal voluntary contraction and right panel represents the percentile ranking for the senior fitness assessment. Statistical significance is denoted as *p = 0.05, $\dagger p = 0.01$

Source: Allen et al. (2018).

These results suggest that early improvement in the peripheral tissue resulting from the PRIME regimen allowed for greater potential functional gains once the individual progressed into a well-rounded training program that also included larger muscle volume and therefore
cardiac stimulation. This makes PRIME an ideal initial regimen for people with central aerobic limitations and low levels of initial physical function, such as CHF but this approach is yet to be tested in clinical populations.

Study 3, Chapter 5 of this thesis will test for the first time the hypothesis that four weeks of PRIME training before 4 weeks of combined moderate-intensity aerobic and resistance training (COMBO) will improve aerobic capacity and muscle strength to a greater extent than 8 weeks of COMBO.

2.6.2 Current exercise guidelines

Based on the high-quality evidence summarized earlier, exercise training is considered an integral part of the rehabilitation process for patients with HFrEF and is recommended by leading cardiac institutions around the world (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Piepoli et al., 2011, Selig et al., 2010a) (Table 2.7). However, there is no universal agreement on exercise prescription (i.e. frequency, intensity, modality, duration)(Price et al., 2016).

To date, aerobic exercise is the foundation of all exercise guidelines for patients with CHF (Price et al., 2016). The two most recent guidelines from Europe and Australia and New Zealand recommend moderate-intensity aerobic exercise for patients with HFrEF (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018). These documents cite evidence established by the 2014 Cochrane review (Anderson and Taylor, 2014) (updated in 2019 (Long et al., 2019) and by the HF-ACTION trial (O'Connor et al., 2009).

Guidelines from Europe and North America support the progression of aerobic exercise to high-intensity (80–90 % of VO₂ peak) as tolerated (Price et al., 2016, Achttien et al., 2015) and suggest interval training as a useful approach for select patients, such as those who are frail (Price et al., 2016, Pavy et al., 2012, Herdy et al., 2014).

The additive benefit of resistance training to general health and fitness is well recognised and an exercise program of combined aerobic and resistance training is the mainstay approach for patients with CHF (Atherton et al., 2018, Piepoli et al., 2011, Balady Gary et al., 2007, Selig et al., 2010a). Some institutions still take caution by recommending periods of 2–6 weeks of aerobic training before introducing resistance training (Price et al., 2016). Resistance training is not currently recommended *as a standalone therapy* for patients with CHF, due to the minimal benefit for improvement in aerobic capacity in comparison to other modalities.

Table 2.7: Recommendations and nation: Country Leading cardiology and Europe (European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation) ^{21,27}	s, including leading Type of exercise Cardiac rehabilitation or Aerobic endurance (e.g. walking, jogging, cycling, swimming, rowing, stair climbing, elliptical trainer, aerobics)	cardiac rehabilitat cardiac rehabilitat Intensity of exercise ganizations 50–80% VO _{2max} (close to anaerobic threshold) 50–80% HR _{peak} or 40– 60% HRR RPE 10–14	Tiptions and moni Tion n organisatio Duration and frequency of sessions ≥20–30 minutes per session ≥3 sessions per week (preferably 6–7)	ns. Source: Pri Programme length 2–16 weeks	ce et al. (2016) Exercise testing and monitoring Exercise testing Symptom-limited exer- cise test Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring BP monitoring ECG monitoring	Expectations for additional activity Equivalent of 30 min- utes of moderate- intensity walking per day
Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation) ^{21,27}	(e.g. walking, jogging cycling, swimming rowing, stair climbing, elliptical trainer, aerobics)	threshold) 50–80% HR _{peak} or 40– 60% HRR RPE 10–14	≥3 sessions per week (preferably 6–7)		cise test Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring BP monitoring ECG monitoring during initial stages or for patients with new symptoms	intensity walking per day
	Resistance training	To moderate fatigue	10–15 reps per set 2 sessions per week			
Canada (Canadian Association of Cardiac	Aerobic endurance training	40-85% HRR	20–40 minutes per session 3–5 sessions per week	≥12 weeks	Exercise testing Graded exercise test (Bruce protocol)	Encouraged to engage in lighter forms of physical activity on
Rehabilitation) ²⁰	Aerobic interval training	Not specified			with ECG monitor- ing	days when not attending a formal
	Resistance training	30–40% IRM for upper body 50–60% IRM for lower	I-3 sets of I2-I5 reps for 6-I0 different exercise for both		Monitoring HR monitoring BP monitoring	exercise session in order to accumulate 30–60 minutes of
		body	upper and lower body 2–3 sessions per week		RPE ECG monitoring at discretion of med-	moderate- to vigor- ous-intensity on most days of the
	Flexibility training	Not specified	Static stretching: ≥4 reps per exercise, 15–60 seconds per stretch PNF stretching: 6- second contraction followed by 10–30 second assisted stretch		ical director (pro- gress from continuous moni- toring to intermit- tent as appropriate for risk level of patient) Respiratory rate if indicated Arterial oxygen	week

(continued)						
3–4 days per week of home-based training prescribed through the programme	Exercise testing Exercise stress test Monitoring HR monitoring BP monitoring RPE ECG monitoring rec- ommended if chest pain is experienced	5 months (first 5 months follow- ing treatment)	I5–60 minutes per sessions I–3 sessions per week	At anaerobic threshold (40–60% VO _{2peato} 40–60% HRR, RPE I2–I3)	nd regions Aerobic endurance training (e.g. aerobics, cycling)	Independent nations an Japan (Japanese Circulation Society) ²⁹
Home-based physical activity to achieve 30–60 minutes per day of moderate- intensity activity on at least 5 days of the week week	Exercise testing Symptom-limited exer- cise test strongly recommended Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring BP monitoring BP monitoring RPE ECG (progress from continuous moni- toring to intermit- tent as appropriate for risk level of patient)	<u>≤</u> 36 sessions	20–60 minutes per session 3–5 sessions per week for 8–10 different exercises 2–3 sessions per week (non-consecutive days) 3–5 reps per exercise, 30–90 seconds for each stretch as tol- erable 2–3 sessions per week (non-consecutive days)	40–80% VO _{2peak} or HR _{max} based on maximal exercise test RPE 11–16 To moderate fatigue (RPE 11–13) 50% IRM progressing to 60–70% IRM To point of mild discomfort	 Aerobic endurance training (e.g. walking, treadmill, cycling, steps, rowing) Resistance training (e.g. calisthenics, hand weights, pulleys, dumb- bells, free weights, machine weights) Flexibility training (static stretching with emphasis on lower back and thigh) 	United States (American Heart Association, American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation) ^{18,19,70}
Expectations for additional activity	Exercise testing and monitoring	Programme length	Duration and frequency of sessions	Intensity of exercise	Type of exercise	Country

(continued)						
At least 30 minutes of moderate physical activity on most days of the week	Exercise testing Exercise stress test (not necessary for low-risk patients undertaking super- vised low- to mod- erate-intensity exer- cise training) Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring	6–12 weeks	30–45 minutes per session 3–5 sessions per week Not specified	40–75% VO _{2max} Low intensity and high reps	Aerobic endurance training Resistance training	New Zealand (New Zealand Guidelines Group, National Heart Foundation of New Zealand) ²⁴
At least 30 minutes of light- to moderate- intensity physical activity on most days of the week through home- based activities	 Exercise testing 6-minute walk test (NSW) Symptom-limited max- imal exercise stress test recommended prior to high-inten- sity programme or for high-risk patients Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring for high-intensity pro- grammes or high- risk patients (VIC) Respiratory rate if indicated 	3–12 weeks	30–60 minutes per session (NSW) I–2 sessions per week Not specified	Low- to moderate- intensity physical activity As appropriate	Aerobic endurance training (e.g. walking, cycling, treadmill, dancing) Resistance training	Australia (National Heart Foundation of Australia, Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association) ^{622,23,42}
Expectations for additional activity	Exercise testing and monitoring	Programme length	Duration and frequency of sessions	Intensity of exercise	Type of exercise	Country

85

Country	Type of exercise	Intensity of exercise	Duration and frequency of sessions	Programme length	Exercise testing and monitoring	Expectations for additional activity
South America (South American Society of Cardiology, Inter- American Committee of Cardiovascular	Aerobic endurance training	60–80% HR _{max} or 50– 70% HRR (beginning at lower limit of range) At anaerobic threshold	30–60 minutes per session 2–5 sessions per week	I–5 months	Exercise testing Exercise stress test with ECG monitor- ing (or 6-minute walk test)	Not specified
Prevention and Rehabilitation) ²⁵	Aerobic interval training	Not specified			Monitoring ECG (progress from	
	Resistance training	Load sufficient to cause fatigue for final 3 reps	6–15 reps per muscle group at an interval of 20–60 seconds 2–3 sessions per week		continuous moni- toring to intermit- tent as appropriate for risk level of	
	Flexibility training	Not specified	At end of each session		patient)	
World Health Organization	Aerobic endurance training	High intensity (60–75% peak work capacity	20–30 minutes per session	≥6–8 weeks	Exercise testing Treadmill exercise test	Home-based, moder- ate-intensity activity
(emphasis on developing countries) ⁴	(e.g. stationary cycle, rowing, stepping as part of a circuit)	or 70–85% HR _{peak}) Low/moderate inten- sity	≥3 sessions per week 30–60 minutes includ- ing 15 minutes of		Monitoring For basic and inter- mediate facilities:	or walking for 30 minutes per day plus twice-daily
	Resistance training (e.g. light weights and	HR <20 bpm above resting HR (symp-	calisthenics at beginning of session		HR monitoring RPE	calisthenics
	pulley exercises for upper body as part of a	tom and observa- tion limited)	\geq 2 sessions per week		For advanced facilities: as above, plus	
	circuit) Flexibility training				ECG (progress from continuous moni-	
	(calisthenics)				toring to intermit-	
					tent as appropriate for risk level of	
					patient)	

electrocardiograph; I RM: one-repetition maximum; PNF: proprioceptive VIC: Victoria (Australian state). 2 a ion; $v O_{2peak}$; peak oxygen uptake; ΠK_{max} ; may ium heart rate; NSW: New South Wales (Australian state);

.

Country	Type of exercise	Intensity of exercise	Duration and frequency of sessions	Programme length	Exercise testing and monitoring	Expectations for additional activity
Europe (European Association of Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation) ^{21,27}	Aerobic endurance training (e.g. walking, jogging, cycling, swimming, rowing, stair climb- ing, elliptical trainer, aerobics)	50–80% VO _{2max} (close to anaerobic threshold) 50–80% HR _{peak} or 40– 60% HRR RPE 10–14	≥20–30 minutes per session ≥3 sessions per week (preferably 6–7)	2–16 weeks	Exercise testing Symptom-limited exer- cise test Monitoring Observation of symp- toms HR monitoring	Equivalent of 30 min- utes of moderate- intensity walking per day
	Resistance training	To moderate fatigue	10–15 reps per set 2 sessions per week		BP monitoring ECG monitoring during initial stages or for patients with new symptoms	
Austria (Austrian Cardiac Society) ²⁶	Aerobic endurance training	50–70% symptom-lim- ited HR 80–90% of HR at anaerobic threshold	Phase II: 10–30 min- utes per session 3 sessions per week Phase III: 20–50 min- utes per session 2 sessions per week	Phase II: 4–6 weeks Phase III: 6–12 month (depending on the status of the patient)	Exercise testing Maximal ergometry including exercise ECG Monitoring Not specified	Phase III: minimum of 20–40 minutes per week (I session) progressing to min- imum of 3 sessions by second half of
	Resistance training	<50% IRM progress- ing to 60–80% IRM	I-2 sets of 8-I5 reps for 6-8 muscle groups 2 sessions per week			this phase, exercis- ing at same intensity as during supervised sessions
Belgium (Belgian Society of Cardiology) ³⁸	Flexibility training Aerobic endurance training Aerobic interval training	Not specified 45–85% VO _{2peak} 60–90% HR _{max} Not specified	Not specified 40–60 minutes per session 3–5 sessions per week	12 weeks (but may continue for up to 38 weeks if required)	Exercise testing Maximal exercise test Submaximal test (if maximal test is	Not specified
	Resistance training (dynamic with machine weights)	50–60% IRM Weight that can be lifted for 8–10 reps	I-3 sets for 8–10 exercises		contraindicated) Monitoring ECG monitoring advised for high-risk patients	

Country	Type of exercise	Intensity of exercise	Duration and frequency of sessions	Programme length	Exercise testing and monitoring
England (Department of Health, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, National Health Service) ³⁰	Not specified	Moderate intensity	For sufficient time to result in a safe and appropriate physio- logical challenge within the session At least 2 sessions per week	6–12 weeks	Exercise testi Functional capa testing (ergo test or walki tests) Monitoring HR monitoring BP monitoring RPE Rate-pressure p
France (French Society of Cardiology) ²⁸	Aerobic endurance training Aerobic interval training Resistance training (dynamic)	60% HRR (constant intensity) Up to 2 minutes at 80– 95% VO _{2max} , 1–4 minutes of active recovery (20–30% VO _{2max}) 30–50% IRM	20–60 minutes per session 3–6 sessions per week 10–15 reps, 8–10 dif- ferent exercises (20–30 minutes) 2–3 sessions per week	≥20 sessions	Exercise testir Exercise stress t (maximal or s tom limited) 6-minute walk t Monitoring HR monitoring BP monitoring Telemetry monin (for initial tra sessions)
Germany ^a (German Federation for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation) ^{17,31}	Flexibility training (gymnastics exercises) Resistance training (dynamic)	Not specified Pre-training: <30% MVC Muscular endurance training: 30–50% MVC (RPE 12–13)	Not specified Pre-training: 1–3 sets of 5–10 reps Muscular endurance training: 1 set of 12– 25 reps	3 weeks (with extensions only in exceptional circumstances)	Exercise testir Exercise stress t (symptom lim Monitoring HR monitoring
		Hypertrophy/strength training: 40–60% MVC (RPE ≤15)	Hypertrophy/strength training: I set of 8– 15 reps 2–3 sessions per week		RPE BP monitoring and after ses Observation of toms ECG (during ea stages of programme)

(continued)

Country Ireland (Irish Association of Cardiac	Type of exercise Aerobic endurance training	Intensity of exercise 40–80% VO _{2peak} 50–85% HR _{max} 40–70% HRR	Duration and frequency of sessions 30 minutes per session >2 sessions per week	Programme length ≥6 weeks	Exercise testin and monitoring Exercise test Functional cap testing using
	Resistance training (dynamic)	Pre-training: < 30% MVC Muscular endurance training: 30–50% MVC (RPE 12–13) Hypertrophy/strength training: 40–60% MVC (RPE ≤15)	Pre-training 1–3 sets of 5–10 reps Muscular endurance training: I set of 12– 25 reps Hypertrophy/strength training: I set of 8– 15 reps 2–3 sessions per week		
The Netherlands (Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy) ^{34,41}	Aerobic endurance training Aerobic interval training	Increase from 50-80% VO _{2max} /HRR (determined by maximal or symp- tom-limited test) 4-minute blocks, 80- 90% VO _{2peal} /HRR, 3 minutes of active recovery (40-50% VO _{2peal} /HRR)	20–30 minutes per session 3–5 sessions per week	Not s	occified
	Resistance training (circuit training and functional exercises)	Increase from 50 to 70–80% IRM	I-3 sets of 10-15 repsfor 8-10 exercises2-3 sessions per week		
Northern Ireland (Clinical Resource Efficiency Support Team) ³³	Aerobic endurance training (e.g. cycling, walking) Resistance training	Low to moderate intensity Not specified	20–30 minutes per session 2 sessions per week Not specified	∨ ∞ ₹	¢ \$

(continued)

Scotland (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network) ³² (Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Cardiac Rehabilitation, British Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation) ^{35,39}	Country
Aerobic endurance training Resistance training Resistance training (static, ballistic or PNF stretches)	Type of exercise
Low to moderate intensity Not specified Moderate intensity 40– 70% HRR RPE 11–14 30–40% IRM for upper body 50–60% IRM for lower body Progress to 50–80% IRM for both To point of tightness	Intensity of exercise
 Long-duration sessions ≥2 sessions per week Single set of 10–15 reps per exercise 2-3 sessions per week 2-3 sessions per week 2-4 sets of 8–12 reps for 8–10 muscle groups 2-4 reps, accumulating 60 seconds per stretch 2-3 sessions per week 	Duration and frequency of sessions
≥8 weeks 4-24 weeks (depending on the status of the patient)	Programme length
Exercise testing Functional exercise capacity test (shut- tle walk test or 6- minute walk test) Maximal exercise test with exercise test patients or high- intensity activity Monitoring RPE Exercise testing Functional capacity test (6-minute walk test/Chester step test or submaximal or symptom-limited ergometer test - no ECG monitoring) Monitoring BP monitoring BP monitoring RPE Oxygen saturation by pulse oximetry if indicated by condition	Exercise testing and monitoring
Not specified	Expectations for additional activity

(continued)

Table 2.6 (continued)

Wales^b Not specified (Welsh Assembly Government, Aneurin Bevan Health Board) ³⁶	Country Type of exerci
Not specified	se Intensity of exercise
Session duration not specified 2 sessions per week	Duration and frequency of sessions
≥8 weeks	Programme length
Exercise testing Functional capacity test (6-minute walk test/shuttle walk test/Chester step test/ergometer test) Exercise tolerance test Monitoring Not specified	Exercise testing and monitoring
Not specified	Expectations for additional activity

this review. ^aOnly resistance training recommendations for cardiac rehabilitation have been published in English for Germany. Recommendations for aerobic endurance training were not located in English for inclusion in electrocardiograph; IRM: one-repetition maximum; VO2peak: peak oxygen uptake; HRmax: maximum heart rate; MVC: maximum voluntary contraction; PNF: proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation. VO_{2max}: maximal oxygen uptake; HRpeak: peak heart rate; HRR: heart rate reserve; RPE: rating of perceived exertion (based on Borg 6-20 scale); reps: repetitions; HR: heart rate; BP: blood pressure; ECG:

^bThe policy document for cardiac rehabilitation in Wales contains limited exercise prescription recommendations and does not refer to other guidelines for this information.

2.6.3 Cardiac rehabilitation: program content and uptake

Cardiac Rehabilitation (CR) was first offered in an outpatient setting in the early 1990s as a means to deliver exercise training and to provide education and secondary prevention to patients with cardiovascular disease (American Heart Association, 1994). In Australia, CR caters for patients with a range of heart diseases including, but not limited to, CAD, heart transplant recipients, patient with cardiac arrhythmias and CHF. Provision of CR is guided by key documents from the National Heart Foundation of Australia and the Australian Cardiac Rehabilitation Association, 2004, Woodruffe et al., 2014). These documents describe CR as an integrated pathway spanning the continuum of care across 3 phases: commencing during the inpatient period after an acute episode (Phase I), continuing through the post-discharge period, often in an outpatient setting (Phase II) and subsequently to a community-based maintenance program for ongoing adherence to exercise and healthy lifestyle (Phase III) (Giuliano et al., 2017) (see Appendix A).

Despite the disparity between guidelines regarding the optimal exercise modality there appears to be little variation in program content among Australian CR providers (Palmer et al., 2019, Abell et al., 2016). In a cross-sectional survey of 251 Australian centres offering exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation, 235 centres (96%) included a resistance component in addition to aerobic exercise, 74% of which were in a circuit-based format (Abell et al., 2016). Only 1% of Australian programs report using HIIT—a lack of resources and staff knowledge being perceived as the biggest barrier amid concerns about the required pre-screening and safety requirements (Hannan et al., 2018).

Even with the unequivocal benefits of CR, programs are currently underutilised. A study from the US investigated the rates of referral to CR among patients with CHF and found that only 6–10% of patients were referred to CR following an acute admission with acute decompensated heart failure (ADHF) (Golwala et al., 2015). Multivariable analysis showed that younger age and fewer comorbid conditions were associated with referral.

A preliminary explorative study, "Barriers to Exercise Rehabilitation in older adults with heart failure" was completed before the commencement of this thesis by Giuliano et al. (2015) (Appendix B) and found that only 4% of older adults with CHF attended CR following admission with acute decompensated heart failure. This study was small and limited to a single hospital site. Currently, no data are available from an Australian

perspective regarding referral rates to CR among older patients with CHF and little is known about the root causes of variable rates of referral to and participation in CR. This provided the impetus for developing Chapter 3, Study 1 of this thesis, which investigates rates of referral to CR following hospitalisation with acute HF and identifies factors associated with referral and participation, as well as Study 4, Chapter 6, which describes the factors associated with enrolment and non-enrolment among patients screened for exercise in the context of a randomised controlled trial of exercise training in older patients with CHF.

2.7 Summary of Chapter 2

CHF is a prevalent and progressive syndrome that causes significant economic and personal burdens. Whereas the underlying pathophysiology of CHF involves central abnormalities (i.e. a reduction in SV and CO), reductions in exercise tolerance are primarily due to peripheral pathologies. Older adults with CHF, who constitute the majority of the CHF population, are uniquely characterised by comorbidities including sarcopenia and frailty.

Treatment by pharmacological agents can reduce mortality but they have little effect on quality of life or functional capacity. Exercise training delivers a range of unique benefits for patients with CHF including increases in aerobic power, muscle strength and quality of life. However, a key limitation of the current exercise literature and exercise clinical guidelines is that older adults are under-represented across clinical trials. Consequently, the transferability of study findings and the applicability of guideline-based recommendations for exercise have limited application to many patients with CHF who are older.

Furthermore, there is little information about the referral rates to cardiac rehabilitation amongst patients discharged from hospital with CHF and it is unclear what factors lead to enrolment or non-enrolment.

Finally, despite the influence of skeletal muscle limitations on reduced exercise capacity, the effects of resistance training and PRIME exercise training on increasing aerobic capacity in patients with CHF is unknown.

These gaps in the knowledge will be addressed in this thesis.

2.8 Aims

The overarching aims of this thesis were to explore factors affecting eligibility, referral and participation in cardiac rehabilitation among older persons with CHF and to investigate novel, muscle-focused rehabilitation techniques in this patient group. To achieve these aims, four studies were undertaken, with the following objectives:

Study 1 (Chapter 3)

- to investigate the rates of referral to cardiac rehabilitation in patients recently discharged from Victorian hospitals with acute decompensated heart failure
- to investigate factors associated with referral

Study 2 (Chapter 4)

• to analyse the effects of resistance training as a standalone therapy in patients with CHF on muscle strength, aerobic capacity and quality of life in patients with CHF.

Study 3 (Chapter 5)

- to investigate whether older patients with HFrEF can tolerate current exercise recommendations involving COMBined Moderate-Intensity Aerobic and Resistance Training (COMBO)
- to analyse the effects of a novel muscle-focused exercise regime called PRIME on aerobic capacity and muscle strength in older adults with HFrEF

Study 4 (Chapter 6)

- to determine eligibility, recruitment and dropout rates among older adults with HFrEF screened for enrolment in exercise training
- to identify the leading clinical reasons for exclusion

Findings from these investigations, alongside the literature review presented in Chapter 2, guided the development of the concluding chapter:

• to provide updated guidelines for exercise training for older adults with CHF.

Chapter 3: Predictors of referral to exercise rehabilitation in patients following hospitalisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis

3.1 Background and context

The literature review presented in Chapter 2 highlighted the benefits of exercise training for patients with CHF. It also acknowledged that outpatient exercise rehabilitation programs may be underutilised in Australia with only 30% – 50% of eligible patients engaging in cardiac rehabilitation (Sundararajan et al., 2004, Scott et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2004). These data, however, mostly represent patients with acute coronary syndrome or patients undergoing coronary revascularisation procedures (Sundararajan et al., 2004, Scott et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2004). Current utilisation of outpatient exercise rehabilitation among patients with CHF in Australia remains largely unknown, as do the factors that influence referral and participation in this patient group.

3.2 Research aims

This chapter addresses the first two objectives of this thesis (see section 2.9); To investigate the rates of referral to outpatient exercise rehabilitation in patients recently discharged from Victorian hospitals with acute decompensated heart failure and; to investigate factors which affect referral.

3.3 Manuscript

The following paper, "Predictors of referral to cardiac rehabilitation in patients following hospitalisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis" is currently under review at *Heart, Lungs and Circulation*.

Full Title: Predictors of referral to exercise rehabilitation in patients following hospitalisation with heart failure: A multivariate regression analysis

Catherine Giuliano ^{a,b} MAppSci; Don Vicendese ^{c,d} PhD; Sara Vogrin ^{e,} PhD; Rebecca Lane ^{a,} ^g, PhD; Andrea Driscoll ^{i,j}, PhD; Diem Dinh ^h, PhD; Katie Palmer ^k BHSc; Itamar Levinger*^{a,b,e} PhD; Christopher Alan Neil*^{a,b,e,f}PhD

* these authors contributed equally to the manuscript

Authors affiliations

- ^a Institute for Health and Sport (IHES), Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia.
 Catherine.giuliano@live.vu.edu.au
- ^b Western Health, Department of Cardiology, Sunshine Hospital, Melbourne, Australia. Christopher.neil@wh.org.au
- Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne
 Don.Vicendese@unimelb.edu.au
- ^d Department of Mathematics and Statistics, La Trobe University
 Don.vicendese@unimelb.edu.au
- Australian Institute for Musculoskeletal Science (AIMSS), University of Melbourne and Western Health, St Albans, VIC Australia Itamar.levinger@vu.edu.au; Christopher.neil@wh.org.au; sara.vogrin@unimelb.org.au
- ^f Department of Medicine Western Health, The University of Melbourne, Australia Sara.vogrin@unimelb.edu.au; Christopher.neil@wh.org.au;
- ^g College of Health and Biomedicine, Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia Rebecca.lane@vu.edu.au
- ^h Department of Paramedicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia diem.dinh@monash.edu
- ⁱ School of Nursing and Midwifery, Centre for Quality and Patient Safety, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

andrea.driscoll@deakin.edu.au

- ^j Department of Cardiology, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia andrea.driscoll@deakin.edu.au
- ^k Centre of Cardiovascular Research and Education in Therapeutics, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

Katie.Palmer@monashhealth.org

Corresponding author

Catherine Giuliano

Institute for Health and Sport (IHES), Victoria University

Level 3, Western Centre for Health, Research and Education (WCHRE)

Sunshine Hospital

176 Furlong Rd, St Albans

Ph: (+61) 407 218 737

Catherine.giuliano@live.vu.edu.au;

Word Count: 2481

Abstract

Aims

This study investigated the rates of referral to outpatient exercise rehabilitation (ER) among patients following hospitalization with heart failure (HF) and identified factors associated with referral.

Methods

This prospective observational case control study involved patients hospitalized with HF as identified by the Victorian Cardiac Outcomes Registry Heart Failure study. The unadjusted effect of factors of interest on referral was evaluated using univariate logistic regression. Factors found to be univariately associated with referral were selected for multivariate logistic regression. This process was also completed for subgroups of patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF).

Results

Among 1281 patients, (mean age; 76.9 years, 32.8% with HFrEF and 33.9% with HFpEF) 125 (9.8%) were referred to ER. Patients referred were younger (73.6 [62.7, 81.5] vs. 80.2 [71.1, 86.5] p < 0.001) and were more likely to be men (72%, p < 0.001). Factors associated with referral included inpatient percutaneous coronary intervention procedure (OR, 3.31; 95% CI, 1.04-10.48; p=0.04), an aetiology of ischaemic or rhythm-related cardiomyopathy and anticoagulants prescribed on discharge. Factors that lowered the likelihood of referral included older age, female, receiving inpatient oxygen therapy and the presence of COPD or anaemia.

Conclusions

Despite established evidence supporting ER, referral to ER following hospital admission with HF is low. Referral shortfalls are particularly evident among females, older patients and in those with COPD or anaemia. Future studies should focus on improving referral processes during hospitalisation and translating proven strategies that increase referrals to ER, into practice.

Keywords: heart failure, referral, exercise rehabilitation, exercise training

Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is a complex syndrome that affects more than 30 million people worldwide (Cook et al., 2014, Vos et al., 2012) and results in significant clinical, functional and financial costs to individuals and the community (Cook et al., 2014, Chen et al., 2017). The prevalence of HF is expected to grow due to the global aging population, increasing prevalence of HF risk factors and improved post-myocardial infarction survival (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2014). Symptomatically, patients with HF experience a significant burden, including exercise intolerance, dyspnoea and fatigue (Zambroski et al., 2005).

Exercise rehabilitation (ER) is an integral component in the treatment paradigm for HF, with evidence consistently demonstrating the reversal of muscle dysfunction and increased aerobic capacity following ER (Atherton et al., 2018, Yancy et al., 2017, Ponikowski et al., 2016a). Suitably designed exercise programs may also reduce premature mortality and the risk of hospitalisations, as well as improve quality of life, regardless of disease severity (Long et al., 2019, Palmer et al., 2018). Despite these benefits, ER programs may be underutilised in Australia, with only 30% - 50% of eligible patients engaging in ER (Sundararajan et al., 2004, Scott et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2004). These data, however, mostly represent patients with acute coronary syndrome or patients undergoing coronary revascularisation procedures (Sundararajan et al., 2004, Scott et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2003b, Worcester et al., 2004b, Worcester et al

Only one previous study from the USA has investigated the rates of referral to ER among patients hospitalised with HF (Golwala et al., 2015), however, due to the possible influence of patient insurance and program eligibility criteria, these findings may not be transferrable to the other nations, including Australia. Current utilisation of ER among patients with HF in Australia remains largely unknown, as do the factors that influence referral and participation in this patient group. This study investigated the rates of referral to ER among patients following hospitalization with HF in Victoria and identified factors associated with referral and participation.

Methods

This prospective observational case control study is nested within the Victorian Cardiac Outcomes Registry Heart Failure study (VCOR-HF) (Driscoll et al., 2020)—a prospective longitudinal cohort studying involving patients admitted to Victorian Hospitals with an acute episode of heart failure. The VCOR-HF study (described in detail elsewhere (Driscoll et al., 2020)) was rolled out across 16 hospital sites and enrolled all adults hospitalised with a primary diagnosis of HF, over a one month period annually, between the years of 2014 and 2017. Data collected included patient demographics, medical history, cardiac risk factors, HF aetiology, clinical measures, cardiac investigations (i.e. echocardiogram and angiogram), inpatient procedures received, discharge medications, discharge clinical status and referral information. The primary outcome, referral to ER, included patients who were referred to either outpatient cardiac rehabilitation, or a specific HF exercise program.

The research protocol was approved by Ethics Committees from Melbourne Health and Victoria University as well as the VCOR Data Research & Publications (DRP) Committee. Patients included in this study were identified from the VCOR-HF study dataset based on aligibility for referral to EP, as determined by discharge destination; patients were evaluated

eligibility for referral to ER, as determined by discharge destination; patients were excluded if they were discharged to palliative care or died in hospital. The study population was then grouped according to the status of referral to ER on discharge.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics are presented as median and interquartile range ([IQR] 25th percentile, 75th percentile) for continuous variables (none of the data was normally distributed) and frequency and percentage for categorical variables. Baseline patient characteristics were compared between ER referral groups using Man-Whitney non-parametric tests for continuous variables and Pearson's chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical values. The unadjusted effect of each factor of interest on referral to ER was evaluated using univariate logistic regression and presented as odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI). This process was completed for the entire study population and repeated for subgroups of patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF [EF \leq 40%]) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF [EF \geq 50%]) (Ponikowski et al., 2016a). Factors found to be univariately associated with ER referral for each group were selected for multivariate logistic regression to assess the independent effect of each factor on the outcome, while adjusting for all other factors of interest. The covariates of age and gender were included in the multivariate logistic regression, regardless of univariate associations. Backward and forward elimination was carried out with an SPSS (Inc, 2010) automatic algorithm based on the backward Likelihood Ratio and forward Likelihood Ratio methods respectively (Pereira et al., 2016). Final resultant models were compared using likelihood ratio tests (LRT), Akaike information criterion (AIC) and calculating the area under the receiver operator curve (AUC).

The influence on model selection from several variables that either had a high proportion of missing observations or categories defined as unknown was assessed by separately building models that included and then excluded them. The high proportion of missing data may have biased model selection due to the exclusion of a higher number of non-complete cases. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS software, version 23.

Results

Patient Identification and Referral to ER

Patient identification and referral outcome are shown in Figure 3.1. A total of 1357 patients were identified in the index dataset. Of these, 76 patients were excluded due to hospital discharge to palliative care (n = 15), in-hospital mortality (n = 60) or missing ER referral data (n = 1), leaving 1281 patients who were potentially eligible for referral to ER at time of discharge (median age; 76.9 years [70.3,86.3], 32.8% with HFrEF and 33.9% with HFpEF). At the time of discharge, 125 (9.8%) patients were referred to ER (median age; 73.6 years [62.7, 81.5], 28% females). This included 92/1087 (8.5%) adults \geq 65 years, 62/420 (14.8%) patients with HFrEF and 26/434 (6%) patients with HFpEF.



Figure 3.1 Patient identification and referral to exercise rehabilitation

Baseline Characteristics of the Population

Select baseline characteristics of the population are presented in Table 3.1. A complete baseline characteristics table is reported in Appendix D. Patients referred to ER were younger (73.6 [62.7, 81.5] vs. 80.2 [71.1, 86.5] p < 0.001) and were more likely to be men (72% vs 28%, p < 0.001). In patients where the HF Subtype was known, there was a statistically significant difference for level of HF Subtype (p < 0.001), with the main difference being that referred patients were more likely to have HFrEF than HFpEF (49.6% vs 20.8%) compared to non-referred patients (30.1% vs 35.3%). The presence of hypertension, dementia, COPD/asthma, chronic kidney disease, iron deficiency and anaemia were significantly more frequent in the Non-Referred group compared to the Referred group, whereas the proportion of patients with ischaemic or arrhythmia related HF aetiology was significantly greater in the Referred group compared to the Non-Referred group (p = 0.001 and 0.04, respectively). Patients not referred to ER had a significantly greater number of medications prescribed on discharge (9 [8,11] vs 10 [8,13], p = 0.047).

Table 3.1: Select baseline patient characteristics among all patients and those referred and not referred to exercise rehabilitation

Characteristics	All (%)	ER Referral	No ER Referral	<i>p</i> -value
	(n = 1281)	(%) (n = 125)	(%) (n=1156)	•
Age, y	79.7 (70.3, 86.3)	73.6 (62.7, 81.5)	80.2 (71.1, 86.5)	< 0.001
Male, n (%)	723 (56.4)	90 (72.0)	633 (54.8)	< 0.001
\pm BMI, kg/m ²	29.1 (35.8, 34.5)	29.7 (25.8, 34.9)	29.0 (24.8, 34.5)	
HF Subtype, n (%)		· · · ·	· · · /	
HFrEF	420 (32.8)	62 (49.6)	358 (31.0)	
HFmrEF	169 (13.2)	11 (8.8)	158 (13.7)	<0.001
HFpEF	434 (33.9)	26 (20.8)	408 (35.3)	<0.001 4
Unknown	258 (20.1)	26 (20.8)	232 (20.1)	
‡ LVEF (%)	38.0 (25.6, 50.3)	30.0 (22.3, 39.8)	40 (26.0, 53.0)	0.004
NYHA on discharge, n (%)				
Class I / II	20 (4.5) / 236	2 (0.5) /37 (68.8)	18 (4.7) / 198	
	(53.5)		(51.4)	
Class III/ IV	162 (36.7) / 23	14 (25.9) / 1	148 (38.2) / 22	
	(5.2)	(1.9)	(5.7)	
Unknown	840 (65.6)	71 (56.8)	770 (66.7)	
Admission Speciality, n (%)				
HF Unit	126 (9.8)	18 (14.5)	108 (9.3)	
Cardiology	434 (33.9)	58 (46.8)	376 (32.5)	0.001+
Gerontology	36 (2.8)	5 (4.0)	31 (2.7)	
General Medicine	622 (48.6)	39 (31.5)	583 (50.4)	
Other	62 (4.8)	4 (3.2)	58 (5.0)	
Cardiovascular History, n (%)				
History of heart failure	968 (75.5)	93 (74)	874 (75.6)	
Previous hospitalisation for HF	774 (60.4)	75 (60.0)	698 (60.4)	
Cerebrovascular disease	242 (18.9)	27 (21.6)	215 (18.6)	0.00
Hypertension	9//(/6.2)	85 (68.0)	891 (77.1)	0.02
History of angina	481 (37.5)	43 (34.4)	43/(3/.8)	
History of PCI of CABG	393 (30.7)	37 (29.6)	356 (30.8)	
History of MI	394 (30.7)	40 (32)	353 (30.5)	
Arrythmia	695 (54.2)	66 (52.8)	628 (54.3)	0.004
CIED therapy	284 (22.2)	29 (23.2)	255 (22.1)	0.004
† Smoking Status		10 (1(5)	115 (11.0)	
Current smoker	133 (12.4)	18(10.5)	115 (11.9)	
Last Esilve Asticlogy n (9/)	304 (40.8)	51 (40.8)	431 (40.8)	
Ischaemic	158 (35.8)	62 (49.6)	306 (3/ 3)	0.001
Hypertension	+38(33.8)	16 (12.8)	207(17.0)	0.001
Valvular	179(140)	12 (9.6)	137(11.3)	
Arrhythmia	179 (14.0)	26(20.8)	161 (13.9)	0.04
Other Medical History n (%)	107 (14.0)	20 (20.0)	101 (15.7)	0.04
Diabetes	552 (43.1)	56 (44.8)	496 (42 9)	
Dementia	100 (7.8)	4 (3 2)	96 (8 3)	0.04
Depression	251 (19.6)	20 (16 0)	231 (20.0)	0.01
COPD / Asthma	394 (30.8)	23 (18.4)	371 (32.1)	0.002
Obstructive Sleep Appoea	187 (14.6)	17 (13.6)	170 (14.7)	0.002
Chronic kidney disease				0.005
Mild	241 (18.8)	22 (17.6)	217 (19.0)	0.002

400 (21.0)	20 (22 1)		
408 (31.9)	28 (22.4)	380 (32.9)	
159 (12.4)	10 (8.0)	149 (12.9)	
253 (20)	16 (12.9)	237 (20.8)	0.04
394 (30.8)	23 (18.4)	371 (32.1)	0.002
1096 (85.8)	102 (82.9)	994 (86.1)	
1161 (90.9)	108 (88.5)	1053 (91.2)	
837 (65.6)	65 (53.3)	772 (66.9)	0.003
174 (13.6)	13 (10.6)	161 (14.0)	
112 (8.8)	19 (15.3)	93 (8.1)	0.01
15 (1.2)	5 (4.0)	10 (0.9)	0.002
28 (2.2)	3 (2.4)	25 (2.2)	
2 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.2)	0.002
15 (1.2)	5 (4.1)	10 (0.9)	
18 (1.4)	13 (1.1)	5 (4.1)	
120 (110.0, 135)	118 (110, 130)	120 (110, 135)	
68 (60, 75)	68 (60, 75)	68 (60, 75)	
74.0 (65, 83)	75.0 (65, 85)	74.0 (65, 82)	
534 (41.8)	54 (43.2)	480 (41.6)	
219 (17.1)	24 (19.4)	195 (16.9)	
910 (71.2)	98 (79.0)	812 (70.4)	0.04
474 (37.1)	48 (38.7)	426 (36.9)	
210 (16.4)	15 (12.1)	195 (16.9)	
1207 (94.2)	118 (94.4)	1089 (94.2)	
674 (52.7)	60 (48.0)	614 (53.2)	
586 (45.8)	69 (55.6)	517 (44.8)	0.02
209 (16.4)	21 (16.9)	188 (16.3)	
10.0 (8.0-13)	9 (8,11)	10 (8,13)	0.047
	$\begin{array}{c} 408 (31.9) \\ 159 (12.4) \\ 253 (20) \\ 394 (30.8) \\ \hline \\ 1096 (85.8) \\ 1161 (90.9) \\ 837 (65.6) \\ 174 (13.6) \\ 112 (8.8) \\ 15 (1.2) \\ \hline \\ 28 (2.2) \\ 2 (0.2) \\ 15 (1.2) \\ \hline \\ 120 (110.0, 135) \\ 68 (60, 75) \\ 74.0 (65, 83) \\ \hline \\ 534 (41.8) \\ 219 (17.1) \\ 910 (71.2) \\ 474 (37.1) \\ 210 (16.4) \\ 1207 (94.2) \\ 674 (52.7) \\ 586 (45.8) \\ 209 (16.4) \\ 10.0 (8.0-13) \\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Data expressed as median and percentiles (75%, 25%) for continuous variables and count and proportions (%) for categorical variables.

[‡] Variables where missing data >15%.

+where factor has more than one level, *p*-value applies to the overall association of this factor with the outcome.

BMI, body mass index; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; HFmrEF, heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HF, heart failure; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; MI, myocardial infarction; CIED, Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device; CRT-p, cardiac resynchronisation therapy – pacemaker; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; CRT-D, cardiac resynchronisation therapy – defibrillator;

IV, intravenous; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CPAP, continuous positive airway pressure; BiPAP, bilevel positive airway pressure; BP, blood pressure; HR, heart rate; ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; ARB, aldosterone receptor blocker

Factors associated with referral to ER

Factors associated with referral to ER at the time of discharge are presented in

Table **3.2** and include; inpatient percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) procedure (OR, 3.31; 95% CI, 1.04 - 10.48; p = 0.04), an aetiology of ischaemic-related or rhythm-related cardiomyopathy and anticoagulants prescribed on discharge. Factors that lowered the chance of referral included older age, female, receiving inpatient oxygen therapy and the presence of COPD or anaemia. Due to missing data, the variables of smoking history, HF Subtype and estimated ejection fraction were excluded from the model; the sensitivity analysis resulted in identical final variables found to be independently associated with the outcome.

Factor	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	0.98	0.96, 0.99	0.001
Gender (female)	0.65	0.42, 1.02	0.06
COPD	0.52	0.31, 0.87	0.01
Anaemia	0.59	0.36, 0.99	0.04
Ischaemic Aetiology	1.91	1.27, 2.90	0.01
Rhythm Related Aetiology	1.90	1.13, 3.18	0.02
Inpatient Oxygen Therapy	0.63	0.42, 0.94	0.02
Inpatient PCI	3.31	1.04, 10.48	0.04
Discharge Medication:	1.55	1.03, 2.33	0.04
Anticoagulant			
COPD, chronic obstructive pulmor	nary disease; PCI, pe	rcutaneous corona	ry intervention

Table 3.2: Factors associated with referral to exercise rehabilitation at time of discharge among all patients with HF

Subgroup analysis

Factors associated with referral to ER by multivariate analysis by HF subgroup type are shown in

Table **3.3**. For patients with HFrEF, factors significantly associated with increased referral to ER included; inpatient PCI (OR, 4.91; 95% CI, 1.27 - 18.92; p = 0.02), discharge heart rate and implantable cardiac defibrillator inserted during hospital admission (refer to

Table 3.3 for OR, CI and *p*-values), while antiplatelets prescribed on discharge was significantly associated with decreased odds of referral. No association was found for age

among patients with HFrEF. For patients with HFpEF, factors that significantly increased the odds of referral included; ischaemic or rhythm-related aetiology, while receiving inpatient oxygen therapy significantly decreased odds of referral. No associations were found for age and gender among patients with HFpEF.

For patients with HFrEF, forward elimination compared to backward elimination resulted in a better model based on LRT, AIC and AUC, whereas, for patients with HFpEF, backward elimination was the preferred model.

Table 3.3: Factors associated with referral to exercise rehabilitation at time of discharge, in

 patients with HFrEF and HFpEF

Factor	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
HFrEF			
Age (years)	0.99	0.97, 1.00	0.13
Gender (female)	0.47	0.21, 1.04	0.06
Discharge HR	1.03	1.01, 1.05	0.01
Inpatient PCI	4.91	1.27, 18.92	0.02
Inpatient ICD	3.89	1.15, 13.14	0.03
Inpatient CRT-D	3.03	0.92, 9.95	0.07
Discharge Medication:	0.46	0.25, 0.85	0.01
Antiplatelets			
HFpEF			
Age (years)	1.02	0.97, 1.07	0.52
Gender (female)	0.58	0.25, 1.36	0.21
Ischaemic Aetiology	3.01	1.29, 7.02	0.01
Rhythm Related Aetiology	3.08	1.26, 7.53	0.01
Inpatient Oxygen Therapy	0.39	0.17, 0.88	0.02

HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HR, heart rate; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; CRT-D, cardiac resynchronisation therapy-defibrillator

Discussion

In this study, we observed several key findings that are summarized in Figure 2. First, less than 10% of patients following hospitalisation with HF are referred to ER. Second, factors independently associated with increased referral included younger age, male, receiving an inpatient PCI and an aetiology of ischaemic or rhythm-related cardiomyopathy, as well as receiving anticoagulants on discharge. Finally, factors independently associated with decreased referral included; older age, female, receiving oxygen therapy, and the presence of COPD or anaemia.



Figure 3.2: Central illustration of key findings

ER is recommended by leading cardiological societies around the world (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Piepoli et al., 2011, Selig et al., 2010b). While this study involved patients admitted to hospital with acute decompensated HF, these patients fall within the chronic heart failure (CHF) spectrum and the findings of this research extend well

to the general population with CHF. The issue of poor engagement in ER in Australia was identified as early as 2003 (Scott et al., 2003a), however, this is the first study to report referrals to ER in patients hospitalised with HF. Referral to ER is the essential first step to program engagement, yet this study found a referral rate of less than 10%. Several strategies have been suggested to improve the ER referral process such as; electronic referral systems (Pirruccello et al., 2017), integrating referral to ER into the quality assessment of HF management (Fernandez et al., 2010, Piepoli et al., 2011) and pre-printed hospital discharge orders (Fernandez et al., 2010), as well as several opportunities to facilitate continuity of care, including a dedicated and consistent team of health professions and established pathways of communication between inpatient and outpatient ER facilitators (Giuliano et al., 2017). Despite these strategies, our data suggests low referral rates remains a key issue that affects engagement in ER among patients with HF and further work is required to translate previously proven effective strategies into practice.

This study identified several factors that significantly influenced the odds of referral. Notably, patients who received an inpatient PCI were 3.3 times more likely to receive a referral and the odds of referral were almost doubled in patients or with an ischaemic of rhythm related aetiology. Other studies have found a greater proportion of referrals to cardiac rehabilitation – by two-thirds – in patients with cardiovascular conditions other than chronic HF (Scott et al., 2003a). This is perhaps not surprising, given the evidence supporting ER for patients with chronic HF lagged that for other cardiovascular conditions by as much as 14 years (Pashkow, 1993, McKelvie et al., 1995). It is plausible that there are cultural differences in the considered importance of ER for patients with acute ischemic conditions, compared to those with HF exists, that may influence clinicians referring practices. Suitably designed future studies should consider investigating this hypothesis.

This study also found that for every year increase in age, the odds of referral decreased by 2%, 95%CI (1%, 4%), while the presence of COPD or anaemia reduced the likelihood of referral by 41%, 95%CI (1%, 64%) and 48%, 95%CI (13%, 69%), respectively. It is well established that older individuals are disproportionately affected by HF (Curtis et al., 2008). Older patients with HF are characterized by a higher incidence of comorbidities such as COPD, anaemia, sarcopenia and frailty (Barsheshet et al., 2010, Mogensen et al., 2011, von Haehling, 2015, Fulster et al., 2013), and they experience higher rates of hospitalisation and clinically adverse events in comparison to younger individuals with HF (Londono et al., 2018, Barsheshet et al., 2010). Hence, older individuals represent a group of patients that may

benefit the most from engagement with ER and referring these individuals should be considered a priority. Furthermore, gender is an important clinical consideration across all specialities. Although not found to be statistically significant in this study, females had half the odds of referral to ER among all patients, and in subgroups of HFpEF and HFrEF. Our results indicate that specific strategies for increasing referrals for older individuals, those with comorbidities and females need to be further evaluated.

Patients with HFrEF were more likely to be referred compared to patients with HFpEF (63% vs. 26%). It is known that individuals with HFpEF are generally older than patients with HFrEF, and are more likely to be female. Although not statistically significant, only gender appeared to be a driving factor for referral to ER in patients with HFpEF. It is also possible that the difference in referrals between HF Subtype may be due to a relatively smaller evidence base supporting exercise training for patients with HFpEF (Gomes-Neto et al., 2019b), and there may be a lag in translation to practice for this patient group, which also needs to be addressed by future studies.

This study has some potential limitations. First, this analysis determined eligibility for ER based on discharge destination following hospital admission. In reality, not all patients discharged home may be eligible for ER due to contraindications to exercise training, for instance, due to severe aortic stenosis or uncontrolled diabetes (Selig et al., 2010b). Second, this study assessed referral status based on a single hospital admission and we were unable to ascertain whether patients had already attended ER following an earlier/previous hospital discharge. Likewise, the VCOR-HF data did not capture referrals that may have been initiated in the outpatient or primary care setting following hospital discharge. Third, this study only assessed the influence of a select number of factors on ER referral. It did not consider possible individual patient, clinician or system-related influences on referral and participation, including the proportion of patients who were offered referral to ER but declined. Further research investigating a possible cultural influence among referring practitioners is important. Despite these limitations, this is the first study to evaluate factors influencing referral to ER in an Australian context and as such, provides a valuable insight into the current issues facing rehabilitation engagement in the HF population.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge the Victorian Cardiac Outcomes Registry for their prior work in establishing the database used for this study, and staff at the participating hospitals involved in the collection of this data.

The VCOR-HF database was funded by Department of Health and Human Services, Victorian Cardiac Clinical Network.

Funding

This work was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program (RTP) Scholarship for Ms Catherine Giuliano.

Professor Andrea Driscoll is supported by a Heart Foundation Future Leader fellowship (100472) from the National Heart Foundation of Australia.

Conflict of Interest

None to declare

References

- ATHERTON, J. J., SINDONE, A., DE PASQUALE, C. G., DRISCOLL, A., MACDONALD, P. S., HOPPER, I., KISTLER, P. M., BRIFFA, T., WONG, J., ABHAYARATNA, W., THOMAS, L., AUDEHM, R., NEWTON, P., O'LOUGHLIN, J., BRANAGAN, M. & CONNELL, C. 2018. National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: Guidelines for the Prevention, Detection, and Management of Heart Failure in Australia 2018. *Heart, Lung and Circulation*, 27, 1123-1208.
- AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF HEALTH AND WELFARE 2014. National hospital morbidity database (NHMD). *Trends in cardiovascular disease*.
- BARSHESHET, A., SHOTAN, A., COHEN, E., GARTY, M., GOLDENBERG, I., SANDACH, A., BEHAR, S., ZIMLICHMAN, E., LEWIS, B. S. & GOTTLIEB, S. 2010. Predictors of long-term (4-year) mortality in elderly and young patients with acute heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 12, 833-40.
- CHEN, L., BOOLEY, S., KEATES, A. & STEWART, S. 2017. Snapshot of heart failure in Australia. *Melbourne, Australia: Mary MacKillop Institute for Health Research, Australian Catholic University.*
- COOK, C., COLE, G., ASARIA, P., JABBOUR, R. & FRANCIS, D. P. 2014. The annual global economic burden of heart failure. *International journal of cardiology*, 171, 368-376.
- CURTIS, L. H., WHELLAN, D. J., HAMMILL, B. G., HERNANDEZ, A. F., ANSTROM, K. J., SHEA, A. M. & SCHULMAN, K. A. 2008. Incidence and Prevalence of Heart Failure in Elderly Persons, 1994-2003. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 168, 418-424.
- DRISCOLL, A., DINH, D., PRIOR, D., KAYE, D., HARE, D., NEIL, C., LOCKWOOD, S., BRENNAN, A., LEFKOVITS, J., CARRUTHERS, H., AMERENA, J., COOKE, J. C., VADDADI, G., NADURATA, V. & REID, C. M. 2020. The Effect of Transitional Care on 30-Day Outcomes in Patients Hospitalised With Acute Heart Failure. *Heart Lung Circ*.
- FERNANDEZ, R. S., DAVIDSON, P., GRIFFITHS, R. & SALAMONSON, Y. 2010. Overcoming barriers to guideline implementation: the case of cardiac rehabilitation. *Quality and Safety in Health Care,* 19, e15.
- FULSTER, S., TACKE, M., SANDEK, A., EBNER, N., TSCHOPE, C., DOEHNER, W., ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2013. Muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure: results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF). *Eur Heart J*, 34, 512-9.
- GIULIANO, C., PARMENTER, B. J., BAKER, M. K., MITCHELL, B. L., WILLIAMS, A. D., LYNDON, K., MAIR, T., MAIORANA, A., SMART, N. A. & LEVINGER, I. 2017. Cardiac rehabilitation for patients with coronary artery disease: a practical guide to enhance patient outcomes through continuity of care. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Cardiology*, 11, 1179546817710028.
- GOLWALA, H., PANDEY, A., JU, C., BUTLER, J., YANCY, C., BHATT, D. L., HERNANDEZ, A. F. & FONAROW, G. C. 2015. Temporal Trends and Factors Associated With Cardiac Rehabilitation Referral Among Patients Hospitalized With Heart Failure: Findings From Get With The Guidelines-Heart Failure Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol, 66, 917-26.

GOMES-NETO, M., DURÃES, A. R., CONCEIÇÃO, L. S. R., ROEVER, L., LIU, T., TSE, G., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G., GOES, A. L. B., ALVES, I. G. N., ELLINGSEN, Ø. & CARVALHO, V. O. 2019. Effect of Aerobic Exercise on Peak Oxygen Consumption, VE/VCO(2) Slope, and Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Heart Failure with Preserved Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 21, 45.

INC, S. 2010. SPSS (Version 23). SPSS Inc Chicago, IL.

- LONDONO, K. L., FORMIGA, F., CHIVITE, D., MORENO-GONZALEZ, R., MIGONE DE AMICIS, M. & CORBELLA, X. 2018. Prognostic influence of prior chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients admitted for their first episode of acute heart failure. *Intern Emerg Med*, 13, 351-357.
- LONG, L., MORDI, I. R., BRIDGES, C., SAGAR, V. A., DAVIES, E. J., COATS, A. J., DALAL, H., REES, K., SINGH, S. J. & TAYLOR, R. S. 2019. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 1, Cd003331.
- MCKELVIE, R. S., TEO, K. K., MCCARTNEY, N., HUMEN, D., MONTAGUE, T. & YUSUF, S. 1995. Effects of exercise training in patients with congestive heart failure: A critical review. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 25, 789.
- MOGENSEN, U. M., ERSBOLL, M., ANDERSEN, M., ANDERSSON, C., HASSAGER, C., TORP-PEDERSEN, C., GUSTAFSSON, F. & KOBER, L. 2011. Clinical characteristics and major comorbidities in heart failure patients more than 85 years of age compared with younger age groups. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 13, 1216-23.
- PALMER, K., BOWLES, K. A., PATON, M., JEPSON, M. & LANE, R. 2018. Chronic Heart Failure and Exercise Rehabilitation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*.
- PASHKOW, F. J. 1993. Issues in contemporary cardiac rehabilitation: A historical perspective. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 21, 822-834.
- PEREIRA, J. M., BASTO, M. & DA SILVA, A. F. 2016. The logistic lasso and ridge regression in predicting corporate failure. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 39, 634-641.
- PIEPOLI, M. F., CONRAADS, V., CORRA, U., DICKSTEIN, K., FRANCIS, D. P., JAARSMA, T., MCMURRAY, J., PIESKE, B., PIOTROWICZ, E., SCHMID, J. P., ANKER, S. D., SOLAL, A. C., FILIPPATOS, G. S., HOES, A. W., GIELEN, S., GIANNUZZI, P. & PONIKOWSKI, P. P. 2011. Exercise training in heart failure: from theory to practice. A consensus document of the Heart Failure Association and the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 13, 347-57.
- PIRRUCCELLO, J. P., TRAYNOR, K. C., NATARAJAN, P., BROWN, C., HIDRUE, M. K., ROSENFIELD, K. A., KATHIRESAN, S. & WASFY, J. H. 2017. An electronic cardiac rehabilitation referral system increases cardiac rehabilitation referrals. *Coron Artery Dis*, 28, 342-345.
- PONIKOWSKI, P., VOORS, A. A., ANKER, S. D., BUENO, H., CLELAND, J. G., COATS, A. J., FALK, V., GONZALEZ-JUANATEY, J. R., HARJOLA, V. P., JANKOWSKA, E. A., JESSUP, M., LINDE, C., NIHOYANNOPOULOS, P., PARISSIS, J. T., PIESKE, B., RILEY, J. P., ROSANO, G. M., RUILOPE, L. M., RUSCHITZKA, F., RUTTEN, F. H. & VAN DER MEER, P. 2016. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The

Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 18, 891-975.

- SCOTT, I. A., LINDSAY, K. A. & HARDEN, H. E. 2003a. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 179, 341-345.
- SCOTT, I. A., LINDSAY, K. A. & HARDEN, H. E. 2003b. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. *Med J Aust*, 179, 341-5.
- SELIG, S. E., LEVINGER, I., WILLIAMS, A. D., SMART, N., HOLLAND, D. J., MAIORANA, A., GREEN, D. J. & HARE, D. L. 2010. Exercise & Sports Science Australia Position Statement on exercise training and chronic heart failure. J Sci Med Sport, 13, 288-94.
- SUNDARARAJAN, V., BUNKER, S. J., BEGG, S., MARSHALL, R. & MCBURNEY, H. 2004. Attendance rates and outcomes of cardiac rehabilitation in Victoria, 1998. *Med J Aust*, 180, 268-71.
- VON HAEHLING, S. 2015. The wasting continuum in heart failure: from sarcopenia to cachexia. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 74, 367-77.
- VOS, T., FLAXMAN, A. D., NAGHAVI, M., LOZANO, R., MICHAUD, C., EZZATI, M., SHIBUYA, K., SALOMON, J. A., ABDALLA, S. & ABOYANS, V. 2012. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990– 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The lancet*, 380, 2163-2196.
- WORCESTER, M. U. C., MURPHY, B. M., MEE, V. K., ROBERTS, S. B. & GOBLE, A. J. 2004. Cardiac rehabilitation programmes: predictors of non-attendance and drop-out. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 11, 328-335.
- YANCY, C. W., JESSUP, M., BOZKURT, B., BUTLER, J., CASEY, D. E., JR., COLVIN, M. M., DRAZNER, M. H., FILIPPATOS, G. S., FONAROW, G. C., GIVERTZ, M. M., HOLLENBERG, S. M., LINDENFELD, J., MASOUDI, F. A., MCBRIDE, P. E., PETERSON, P. N., STEVENSON, L. W. & WESTLAKE, C. 2017. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. *Circulation*, 136, e137-e161.
- ZAMBROSKI, C. H., MOSER, D. K., BHAT, G. & ZIEGLER, C. 2005. Impact of Symptom Prevalence and Symptom Burden on Quality of Life in Patients with Heart Failure. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 4, 198-206.

Chapter 4: The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure—A meta-analysis

4.1 Background and context

Up until the 1990's, resistance training was not advised for patients with CHF. This was due to concerns about the integrity of the left ventricle under high afterloads, thought to be raised during this form of exercise. However, modern studies indicate that resistance training provides an additive benefit for improving quality of life and measures of muscular strength when combined with aerobic training in patients with HFrEF, thus, resistance training is recommended as a complementary exercise mode to aerobic training within clinical practice guidelines.

Considering the muscle hypothesis of CHF (discussed in section 2.2.3.2), this chapter explores the greater utility of resistance training, with interest to its effectiveness as a standalone therapy to increase aerobic capacity. The study hypothesis – that resistance training as a standalone therapy can increase aerobic capacity in patients with CHF – if proven, could broaden the exercise therapy options to patients who are unable or unwilling to participate in aerobic based exercise training. The study presented in Chapter 4 explores this narrative.

4.2 Research aims

Chapter 4 presents a meta-analysis which addresses the third objective of this thesis (see section 2.9); To analyse the effects of resistance training as a standalone therapy in patients with CHF on muscle strength, aerobic capacity and quality of life in patients with CHF.

4.3 Manuscript

The following paper, "The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure - A meta-analysis" was published in the *International Journal of Cardiology* in 2017. It was also presented at the following conferences:

- Oral Presentation: Western Health Research Week 2016
- Oral Presentation: Victoria University HDR Conference 2016



OFFICE FOR RESEARCH TRAINING, QUALITY AND INTEGRITY

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP AND CO-CONTRIBUTION: PAPERS INCORPORATED IN THESIS

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.

1. PUBLICATION DETAILS (to be completed by the candidate)

Title of Paper/Journal/Book:	The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure — A meta-analysis International Journal of Cardiology			
Surname: Giuliano Institute: Institute for He	ealth and Sport	First name:	Catherine Contribution (%): 64	
Status: Accepted and in press: Published:		Date:	7/11/2016	

2. CANDIDATE DECLARATION

I declare that the publication above meets the requirements to be included in the thesis as outlined in the HDR Policy and related Procedures – <u>policy.vu.edu.au</u>.



3. CO-AUTHOR(S) DECLARATION

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
- 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;

PO Box 14428, Melbourne, Vic 8001, Australia +61 3 9919 6100

Victoria University ABN 83776954731 CRICOS Provider No. 00124K (Melbourne), 02475D (Sydney), RTO 3113





- **UNIVERSITY** 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
- 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies, b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
- 5. The original data will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below and is stored at the following **location**(**s**):

Western Health and Victoria University

Name(s) of Co-Author(s)	Contribution (%)	Nature of Contribution	Signature	Date
Christopher James Neil	8	Data interpretation, clinical support and appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21
Amalia Kalahalios	8	Data analysis and interpretation and appraisal of manuscript		15/01/21
Jason David Allen	10	Appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21
Itamar Levinger	10	Data interpretation and appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21

Updated: September 2019
International Journal of Cardiology 227 (2017) 413-423



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

International Journal of Cardiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijcard



The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure — A meta-analysis



CARDIOLOC

Catherine Giuliano^{a,b}, Amalia Karahalios^c, Christopher Neil^{a,b,e}, Jason Allen^{a,b}, Itamar Levinger^{a,b,d,*}

^a Clinical Exercise Science Research Program, Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living (ISEAL), Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia

^b Western Health, Melbourne, Australia

^c Centre for Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, The University of Melbourne, Australia

^d Department of Cardiology, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia

^e Department of Medicine-Western Precinct at the University of Melbourne, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 August 2016 Accepted 4 November 2016 Available online 7 November 2016

Keywords: Chronic heart failure Meta-analysis Systematic review Muscle strength Quality of life Aerobic capacity

ABSTRACT

Background: Resistance training (RT) has been utilised to target muscle dysfunction associated with Chronic Heart Failure (CHF). However, there is limited meta-analysis evidence to support its use as a standalone therapy. This meta-analysis examined the effects of RT on muscle strength (one repetition maximum, 1RM and Peak Torque), aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak} and 6 min walk distance) and quality of life (QoL) in patients with CHF. *Methods:* We searched Medline, EMBASE, Cochrane and CINAHL for studies published up to July 2016, combining terms related to the population (eg, *heart failure, CHF*) with terms for the intervention (eg, *resistance, strength*).

training) and the outcomes (eg, *QoL*, *VO*₂ *peak*, *strength*, *aerobic capacity*). *Results*: Ten studies including 240 participants were included in our meta-analysis (aged 48–76 years, Ejection Fraction 18–37%). Training duration ranged from 8 to 24 weeks and intensity up to 80% of 1RM. RT increased 1RM (standardised change score = 0.60; 95% Confidence Interval: 0.43, 0.77) but not strength measured via peak torque at $60^{\circ}/s^{-1}$ and $180^{\circ}/s^{-1}$. RT increased VO_{2peak} (CSMD: 2.71 ml/kg/min; 1.96, 3.45) and QoL (CSMD: -5.71; -9.85, -1.56).

Conclusion: RT as a single intervention can increase muscle strength, aerobic capacity and QoL in patients with CHF and may offer an alternative approach, particularly for those unable to participate in aerobic training. The effect of RT on muscle strength is mainly during slow controlled movements and not during rapid movements. Older adults and patients with advanced CHF are underrepresented in RT trials and future studies should seek to optimise their inclusion.

© 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) is a dynamic and progressive syndrome, which develops secondary to structural or functional abnormalities of cardiac tissue. It leads to the inability of the heart to supply enough blood to meet the body's metabolic needs and causes breathlessness, fatigue and reduced exercise tolerance [1]. Life expectancy in patients with CHF is increasing however, many of these recovered years are spent with debilitating burden of symptoms [2], high incidence of hospitalisations [3,4] and a poor ultimate prognosis [4].

Treatment for patients with CHF is alike other terminal illnesses and is primarily focussed on managing symptoms and maintaining quality

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.11.023 0167-5273/© 2016 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. of life (QoL). Exercise training is an integral component of this paradigm [5–7] due to its capacity to ameliorate symptoms [8], reduce hospital admissions [9] and improve functional capacity, which translate into improved QoL [8,10–12]. Traditional approaches to exercise rehabilitation have largely focussed on aerobic-based training given its ability to increase aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak}) [13–15]. However, it is now accepted that exercise intolerance in CHF is not exclusively due to central cardiovascular factors and consequently, clinicians are moving beyond a centrally focussed treatment approach. Specifically, the "muscle hypothesis" argues that abnormalities in peripheral muscle tissue initiate deleterious feedback loops and become drivers for disease progression [16]. Adding to the fact that muscle mass is strongly correlated with VO_{2peak} [17,18] it has been argued that targeting muscle dysfunction may interrupt these maladaptive feedback loops and improve exercise tolerance [19].

Resistance training (RT) is normally employed for conditioning skeletal muscle tissue however, it was largely overlooked for patients with CHF prior to 1990's due to concerns that high cardiac afterload

^{*} Corresponding author at: Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living (ISEAL), Victoria University, PO Box 14428, Melbourne, VIC 8001, Australia.

E-mail addresses: Catherine.giuliano@vu.edu.au (C. Giuliano),

emily.karahalios@unimelb.edu.au (A. Karahalios), Christopher.neil@wh.org.au (C. Neil), Jason.allen@vu.edu.au (J. Allen), Itamar.levinger@vu.edu.au (I. Levinger).

2. Methods

2.1. Search strategy

may adversely affect left ventricular remodelling [8,20]. More recently, modern methods of hemodynamic measurement have allayed these concerns by confirming the integrity of the left ventricle during RT [12,21]. With confirmation of safety and acknowledgment of the wider health and fitness benefits, RT is now supported in clinical practice guidelines for people with cardiovascular disease [22]. There are however, several unresolved limitations to these guidelines, which continue to impact on clinical decision making.

Firstly is the question of applicability of current best practice guidelines to patients with CHF. The joint council Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association recommends RT for individuals with and without cardiovascular disease [22]. The guideline presents a consensus of evidence supporting the safety and efficacy of RT through large randomised controlled trials and metaanalyses. However, these data are largely derived from patients with cardiovascular diseases other than CHF, or in patients with few comorbidities or risk factors. In specific reference to CHF, the guidelines are based on only a small number of individual studies [23,24]. The precision of estimates of effects derived from such studies is limited and authors acknowledged the need for further evidence. The consequences of overly generalised guidelines for cardiovascular disease is particularly problematic in CHF, since it is the end stage of other cardiovascular conditions and as such, patients often suffer from multi-organ and co-morbid disease which can further challenge management. For instance, Havranek et al. [25]. reported an incidence of diabetes and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease of 40% and 33%, respectively, in elderly patients with CHF.

Secondly, patients with CHF are generally older than those with other cardiovascular conditions, yet this age discrepancy is largely unaddressed in these guidelines. The Framingham Heart study reported a mean age of diagnosis of 76.4 years for CHF [26], compared to 56 or 65 years for the median age of first myocardial infarction, for men and women respectively [27]. Patients with CHF, particularly those who are elderly, are a heterogeneous group and differ significantly from patients with other cardiovascular diseases. The complexity of the illness merits exclusive exercise recommendations for treatment. It is for this reason, that explicit medical guidelines exist for patients with CHF which pay specific attention to the management of co-morbidities, as well as issues related to older age [28].

Finally, the focus for cardiac rehabilitation remains heavily on aerobic or centrally focussed training and limited evidence exists to support RT as an effective standalone therapy. It was previously reported that RT has a smaller effect compared to aerobic training in increasing peak VO₂ in patients with CHF [29], however RT produces greater improvements in skeletal muscle strength and endurance [30]. The American Heart Association acknowledges the potential benefits of RT for cardiovascular health, weight management and prevention of disability and falls, however, given the extensive benefits of aerobic training, RT was not recommended to be used as its substitute [22]. Some clinicians and researchers have argued that many patients have insufficient capacity to tolerate aerobic exercise, such as those who are elderly or have more advanced CHF and that RT may be a suitable alternative for these patients [31–33].

Systematic reviews and meta-analysis are the reference standard for developing clinical practice guidelines because of their methodological rigour and assessment of potential bias. To our knowledge only one meta-analysis has analysed the effects of RT versus usual care in patients with CHF [34], however this study did not analyse muscular strength. Therefore, the purpose of this meta-analysis was to systematically review randomised controlled trials (including quasi-randomised designs) and meta-analyse the effects of RT, as a single intervention, on muscle strength, aerobic capacity and QoL in patients with CHF. With the support from a clinical librarian, we developed search strategies to identify controlled trials of RT in patients with CHF. Specifically, we focussed on the effect of RT on muscle strength (1 repetition maximum, 1RM, and/or peak isokinetic torque), aerobic capacity (measured by VO_2 peak and/or 6 min walk distance [6MWD]), and QoL measured using the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure questionnaire. We searched CINAHL, Medline, EMBASE, and Cochrane databases up to 10th July, 2016. In brief, the search strategy combined terms related to the population (eg, heart failure, cardiomyopathy, CHF) with terms for the intervention (eg, resistance training, strength training, circuit training) and the outcomes (eg, QoL, VO_{2peak} , muscle strength, aerobic capacity). The full electronic search strategy for Medline is presented in Appendix 1. Next, we hand searched the reference lists of retrieved papers to identify additional relevant studies. Unpublished studies or eligible abstracts (i.e. from conferences and research meetings) that did not have full text available were not included.

2.2. Eligibility criteria

The inclusion criteria for studies were: (i) controlled trials (including quasirandomised design); (ii) adult participants >18 years with CHF, where a diagnosis was based on clinical signs or left ventricular ejection fraction less than 40%; (iii) intervention of interest was progressive RT, and included regimes designed for targeted muscle training, or those in which high central cardiovascular strain or aerobic stimulus was specifically avoided; (iv) the comparison group was a non-exercise control group (i.e. studies comparing RT to another mode of exercise were excluded); and (v) the outcome of interest was aerobic capacity measured using the 6 min walk distance (6MWD), and/or VO_{2peak} . QoL measured using 1RM and/or peak isokinetic torque measurements (Fig. 1). In the case of suspected duplication of data across publications, authors were contacted for confirmation and only the largest study was included.

2.3. Data extraction

CG and AK extracted the data from the included studies and IL resolved discrepancies. The following data were extracted: (i) the characteristics of the participants in the control and intervention group i.e. sample size, mean (standard deviation) age, sex, New York Heart Association Class (NYHA), ejection fraction (%), mean height (meters) and mean

Participants

- Adults with Chronic Heart Failure
- Diagnosis based on clinical signs or left ventricular ejection fraction <40%

Intervention

• Progressive resistance exercise training, including circuit, or other modified strength training regimes

Comparison

Control group (i.e. not another mode of exercise)

Outcome measures

- Aerobic capacity
 - o 6 Minute Walk Distance
- VO_{2 peak}
- Quality of Life
 - Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire
- Muscle Strength
 - 1 Repetition Maximum (RM)
 - o Peak Isokinetic Torque measurements

Study Design

Controlled trials (including quasi-randomised)

Fig. 1. Eligibility criteria for study inclusion.

weight (kilograms); (ii) details of the methodology used for the resistance training group (i.e. the treatment group): type of training, frequency and duration, session time, intensity, sets and repetitions, and method of progression; and (iii) details of the outcomes of interest measured at baseline and follow-up for the treatment and control groups, i.e. aerobic capacity measured using the 6 Minute Walk Distance (metres), VO_{2peak} (mL/kg⁻¹/min⁻¹), QoL measured using the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire, Muscle Strength measured using 1RM, or Peak Isokinetic Torque measurements (180°/s⁻¹ and/or 60°/s⁻¹).

2.4. Data analysis

We estimated using meta-analysis with random effects the pooled mean difference of the change scores for each outcome. We used the restricted maximum likelihood estimator to estimate the between study heterogeneity [35]. For outcomes that were measured with different equipment/scales (i.e. 1RM), we estimated a pooled standardised mean difference of the final values.

We visually inspected funnel plots of the study size versus standard error and performed Egger's regression asymmetry test to assess bias due to small study effects [36]. There was no indication of small-study effects (available on request) from the funnel plots or Egger's test.

Statistical heterogeneity between studies was tested with the Q statistic and quantified with the l² statistic [37].

2.5. Assessment of study quality

We used the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool to assess the quality of the studies [38]. The tool consists of the following seven domains: sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective outcome reporting and 'other issues'. Each domain was considered for each of the included studies and assigned either a low, high or unclear risk of bias. For each of the included studies an overall risk was displayed visually utilising RevMan5 software.

2.6. Sensitivity analyses

We estimated the pooled mean difference of the change score between baselines and follow-up for each outcome between the two groups (i.e. resistance training and control) using meta-analysis with fixed effect. The standard deviation of the change score was calculated from the baseline and follow-up standard deviations by assuming that the correlation between baseline and follow-up scores was 0.8 [39,40].

We assessed the balance of the outcomes measurements at baseline for each study by undertaking a meta-analysis of the primary outcome at baseline [41]; baseline imbalance was not detected.

This systematic review was planned, conducted and reported based on the guidelines set out by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses Guidelines [42] (Appendix 2). Statistical analyses were carried out using Stata version 13.1[43].

3. Results

3.1. Study selection

The search strategy identified 10,424 citations. After removal of duplicates, 7650 were broadly screened by title and abstract and 7596 articles were excluded. Fifty-five articles were included for full text review. Of these, a further 45 were excluded leaving 10 articles for inclusion in the meta-analysis. The reasons for excluding articles are shown in Fig. 2; 19 papers did not report on the outcome(s) of interest. One additional study was identified incidentally while confirming inclusion criteria for another identified paper, via direct contact with the author.

3.2. Study characteristics

Table 1 summarises the characteristics of the included studies. A total of 240 patients (59 females; 25%) took part in the ten studies, of which 112 were in the control groups. Studies were published between 1997 and 2011 of which three were conducted in Australia [44–46], three in the USA [24,47,48], two in Sweden [49,50] and one each in Germany [51] and Luxembourg [52]. Sample sizes were generally small and ranged from 15 to 39 participants. Two studies recruited only male participants [44,48], one study recruited women only [24] and the remaining studies recruited both males and females [45–47, 49–52].

Age of participants across studies ranged from 48 to 76 years. Eight of the studies included patients with a mean age of less than 65 years [44–47,49–52]. One study [24] specifically recruited older women, and had a mean age of 76 years.

Eight of the studies reported NYHA class [24,45,46,48–52]. Seven studies [44,45,47–50,52] reported the number of participants per class group; NYHA Class I: 19 (17%), Class II: 48 (42%), Class III: 46 (41%), and none of the studies involved patients with NYHA class IV. Three studies [24,46,51]. Reported the mean class as a continuous variable of which the mean across studies was 2.6. Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction (LVEF) ranged from 18 to 37%.

Study protocols for RT interventions varied and included the use of free weights, cuff weights, machine resisted exercise, multisystem gym systems and Theraband resisted exercise (Table 2). Two studies [46,47] utilised cycle ergometers for their training intervention. Although this is traditionally viewed as aerobic training, authors commented on the rationale for their exercise prescription, which was to avoid intensities in the aerobic training zone in order to limit central strain and specifically target muscle tissue. Specifically, Selig et al. stated that "Arm and leg cycling were each of short duration (0.5 to 2 min) and relatively moderate intensities (by heart rate monitoring)-the objective being to provide additional strength exercise while minimizing aerobic training effects" [46]. Beniaminoitz et al. ultised "selective exercise of leg muscles at a low level that does not condition the respiratory muscles. To do this, patients were carefully trained at a work load that did not increase the minute ventilation beyond 25 l/min". Therefore, these studies were included in the analysis.

3.3. Lower body muscle strength

Four studies [24,44,45,48] with a total of 35 participants in the intervention group and 36 participants in the control group were included in the analysis of 1RM of leg press. Pu et al. [24]used pneumatic resistance equipment for the measurement of 1RM, whilst the other studies used weight stacked machines, so we estimated a pooled standardised mean difference using a fixed effect. Lower body muscle strength was increased in the RT group compared to the control group (standardised change score = 0.60, 0.43, 0.77) (Fig. 3).

Four studies [46,47,49,52] evaluated changes to lower body muscle strength via isokinetic peak torque at $60^{\circ}/s^{-1}$ with 63 participants in the intervention group, and 55 in the control group. These studies reported no change in muscle strength (6.84 $60^{\circ}/s^{-1}$ Nm, -0.75, 14.43). Two studies [49,52] analysed lower body muscle strength via peak isokinetic torque at 180 °/s⁻¹ with 27 participants in the control and the intervention groups. These studies reported no change in muscle strength (5.02180°/s⁻¹ Nm; -7.07, 17.12) (Fig. 4).

3.4. Aerobic capacity

Nine studies [24,44–47,49–52] reported VO_{2peak} data, with 122 participants in the intervention group and 102 participants in the control group. Four studies [24,47,48,50] used the 6MWD and they included 32 participants in the intervention group and 25 participants in the control groups. Both VO_{2peak} and 6MWD improved in the RT group compared to the control group (VO_{2peak}, 2.71 ml/kg/min, 1.96, 3.45; 6MWD, 59.26 m; 36.75, 18.78) (Figs. 5 and 6).

3.5. Quality of Life

Three studies included QoL assessment [44,47,52]. The studies included a total of 40 participants in the RT group and 30 participants in the control groups. A reduction in QoL scores (indicating an improvement in QoL) was seen following RT, compared to the control (-5.71 points, -9.85, -1.56) (Fig. 7).



Fig. 2. Identification, screening, and selection of studies. (PRISMA Flow Diagram).

3.6. Sensitivity analyses

3.7. Study quality

We conducted a sensitivity analysis where we used the final values instead of the change scores; the effect estimates did not materially change. Fig. 8 shows the risk of bias for each study according to the seven domains in the Cochrane Risk of Bias Tool. Our attempts to assess risk of bias were limited in many cases by incomplete reporting by authors.

Table 1

Participant characteristics.									
Author, year	Height (m) and weight (m) or BMI (kg/m2) (mean ± SD)		Age (mean \pm SD)		NYHA class (I/II/III/IV or mean ± SD)		LVEF (%) (Mean ± SD)		
Cider, 1997 [48]	• Height: 171.6 \pm 32.9 • Weight: 76.1 \pm 44.7	• Height: 172.2 ± 23.2 • Weight: 75.8 \pm 42.3	61.8 ± 33.9	64.7 ± 18.35	7/3/2/0	5/2/3/2	Not stated	Not stated	
Feiereisen, 2007 [51]	· Height: 174 \pm 7 · Weight: 86.7 \pm 15.5	• Height: 173 ± 6 • Weight: 84.2 ± 15.3	57.9 ± 5.8	55.5 ± 7.5	0/3/12/0	0/8/7/0	24 ± 7	25 ± 6	
Grosse, 2001 [50]	• Height: 175.5 \pm 7.4 • Weight: 65.0 \pm 22.1	• Height: 174.8 \pm 8.8 • Weight: 77.1 \pm 15.0	56.5 ± 9.5	$58.4~\pm~5.8$	3 ± 0.4	3 ± 0.5	28.3 ± 10.1	26.2 ± 11.2	
Levinger, 2005 [43]	• Height: 178.6 \pm 4.7 • Weight: 91.4 \pm 14.0	• Height: 177.7 \pm 10.5 • Weight: 91.1 \pm 10.7	57.3 ± 11.1	56.7 ± 10.0	Not stated	Not stated	35.4 ± 6.3	34.0 ± 8.8	
Palevo, 2009 [47]	· Height: 175 \pm 0.08 · Weight: 77 \pm 19	• Height: 1.78 ± 0.08 • Weight: 91 ± 24	70 ± 12	65 ± 13	0/3/7/0	0/4/3/0	32 ± 0.12	40 ± 0.8	
Pu, 2001 [24]	· BMI: 24.7 ± 3.6	· BMI: 28.0 ± 5.0	76.6 ± 6	76.6 ± 6.4	2.2 ± 0.3	2.3 ± 0.5	36.3 ± 8.1	36.0 ± 7.7	
Selig, 2004 [45]	· Height: 171 \pm 9 · Weight: 84 \pm 19	\cdot Height: 171 \pm 7 \cdot Weight: 79 \pm 12	65 ± 13	64 ± 9	2.4 ± 0.5	2.3 ± 0.4	27 ± 7	28 ± 6	
Tyni-LennÈ, 2001 [49]	\cdot BMI: 28 \pm 4	\cdot BMI: 27 \pm 7	63 ± 9	62 ± 11	0/11/5/0	0/6/2/0	30 ± 9	30 ± 10	
Beniaminovitz, 2002 [46]	 Height: 172.7 ± 7 Weight: 84.6 ± 11.1 	 Height: 172.7 ± 7 Weight: 76.5 ± 3.9 	50 ± 12.3	48 ± 11.3	Not stated	Not stated	20 ± 4.1	18 ± 2.8	
Maioriana, 2011 [44] Cider, 1997 [48]	 BMI: 28.4 ± 2.7 Height: 171.6 ± 32.9 Weight: 76.1 ± 44.7 	 BMI: 30.1 ± 4.5 Height: 172.2 ± 23.2 Weight: 75.8 ± 42.3 	$\begin{array}{c} 58.8 \pm 12.1 \\ 61.8 \pm 33.9 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 64.4 \pm 8.3 \\ 64.7 \pm 18.35 \end{array}$	3/6/3/0 7/3/2/0	4/6/2/0 5/2/3/2	26 ± 3 Not stated	37 ± 3 Not stated	

Iable 2 Intervention characterist	ics.						
Author	Type of resistance training	Frequency & duration	Duration of session	Intensity (% of 1RM) and method of progression	Tempo	Sets $ imes$ reps	Rest between sets
Cider, 1997 [49]	Circuit weight training	· 2 per week · 5 months	60 min	 60% of 1RM 1RM tested once a month and weights morerested accordingly 	2 s concentric 2 seccentric Ŧ	2 × 30 †	15 s
Feiereisen, 2007 [52]	Machine weights • latissimus pulldown, reverse butterfly, row, shoulder abduction, knee extension, knee flexion, leg press, calf raises, trunk flexion, trunk extension	• 3 per week • 14.33 weeks ¥	45 min	• 60% of 1RM for first 20 sessions • increased to 70% final 20 sessions	3 s concentric 3 s eccentric	4×10	120 s
Grosse, 2001 [51]	Cuff weights Four muscle groups; biceps, triceps, quadricepts, ischiocrurale	· 2 per week · 12 weeks	Not stated	 . 65% 1RM ≠ Progression individually based on using RPE 	Not stated	2 × 15	120 s
Levinger, 2005 [44]	Multi-station machine 8 different exercises for the major muscle groups	· 3 per week · 8 weeks	60 min	 40–60% of 1RM Increased 4.54 kg as upper desired number of repetitions was reached 	Not Stated	$1 \times 15-20$ Progressing to $3 \times 8-12$	Not Stated
Palevo, 2009 [48]	Free weights & machine weights • Bench press, seated knee extension, lateral raise,	· 3 per week · 8 weeks	Not stated	 60% 1RM initially Progression individually based on using RPE, no more than 10% per week 	Not stated	2 × 12-15	120 s
	reg cut, back extension, incline reg press, abdominal curl, latissimus pulldown, elbow flexion, calf raise, elbow extension and toe raise						
Pu, 2001 [24]	Pneumatic-resistance training equipment • Seated leg press, chest press, knee ext., triceps and knee flex	· 3 per week · 10 weeks	60 min	· 80%1RM · Not stated	Each rep 6–9 s 2–3 s rest between reps	α Χ	60-90 s
Selig, 2004 [46]	Multi-station machine and leg ergometers	· 3 per week · 12 weeks	Not stated	 Cycling/climbing (0.5–2 min) and 2 × 30 s of strength training at moderate intensity Progression by increasing resistance or sets 	Not stated	Cycling/climbing (0.5–2 min) and 2 x 30s of strength training at moderate intensity? how this was measured	Determined by heart rate to within 10 beats of resting
Tyni-LennÈ, 2001 [50]	Therabands	 3 per week 8 weeks 	60 min	 Theraband increased when RPE scored <13/20 	70 beats per minute	2×25	Not Stated
Beniaminovitz, 2002 [47]	Therabands and cuff weights • Bicycle and treadmill at <50% of peak VO2 and minute ventilation <25 l/min and heart rate < 120 beats/min	· 3 per week · 3 months	Not stated	 2 lb./leg increasing by 2 lb/leg per month and additional set Theraband also progressed each month 	Not Stated	Not Stated	Not Stated
Maioriana, 2011 [45]	Not specified	· 3 per week · 12 weeks	46.5 min	 50-60%1RM for first 6 weeks increasing to 60-70%1RM for weeks 7 to 12 	Not Stated	• First few sessions: 45 s work:45 s rest • Thereafter, 3 × 9	• First few sessions: 45 s • Thereafter, 3 min rest

t = reported by authors as 2 sets, performed for 1 min of time; at 1 rep every 2 s = 30 reps, T = reported by authors as 1 activation every other second, $\star = 1RM$ estimated from 15RM by calculations.

417

94



Fig. 3. Mean difference between resistance training group and control group for the change in 1 repetition maximum between baseline and follow-up; dashed line, overall estimate; bars, 95% confidence interval (CI).

Where reporting detail made assessment possible, bias was most commonly seen due to a lack of blinding of participants and personnel, which is difficult to manage in an exercise intervention study whereby exercise must be supervised. Two of the included studies [44,47] were controlled trials, but not randomised.

4. Discussion

The main findings of the current meta-analysis are that RT as a single intervention can increase muscle strength, aerobic capacity, and QoL in patients with CHF. However the effect of RT on muscle strength is mainly during slow controlled movements (1RM) and not during rapid movements. Older adults, who are the vast majority of patients with CHF, are underrepresented across studies and there are no RT studies in patients with severe CHF (NYHA IV).

To our knowledge, only one previous meta-analysis [34] has reported on the isolated effects of RT and included only four studies comparing RT alone to a control group. In this review, two studies with 40 participants [24,50] were pooled using a fixed effect model and found an increased weighted mean difference of 52 m (95% CI: 19 to 85 m) for the 6MWD which is similar to our own findings. On the other hand, data from four studies with 96 participants [24,46,49,50] were pooled for VO_{2peak}, resulting in a weighted mean difference of 1.4 ml/kg/min (95% CI: -0.3 to 3.1 ml/kg/min). The authors did not assess whether or not the baseline values of the outcomes for the individual studies were balanced and using an analysis of final values could lead to biased estimates [53].

Contrary to this finding, our systematic review and meta-analysis pooled estimates from nine studies and revealed for the first time that RT increased VO_{2peak} compared to a control group. VO_{2peak} is an

Author	Mann difference of	0/
Author	Mean difference of	%
year	change score (95% CI)	Weight
60 degrees per second		
Cider 1997	6.70 (-56.97, 70.37)	1.02
Beniaminovitz 2002 -	3.00 (-7.84, 13.84)	35.16
Selig 2004 -+	- 12.00 (-1.27, 25.27)	23.46
Feiereisen 2007	8.00 (-10.48, 26.48)	12.10
Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.782)	6.84 (-0.75, 14.43)	71.74
180 degrees per second		
Cider 1997	5.50 (-48.81, 59.81)	1.40
Feiereisen 2007	5.00 (-7.41, 17.41)	26.85
Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.986)	5.02 (-7.07, 17.12)	28.26
Heterogeneity between groups: p = 0.803		
Overall (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.951)	6.33 (-0.10, 12.76)	100.00
-70.4 0	70.4	
Mean differer	nce (95%CI)	

Fig. 4. Mean difference between resistance training group and control group for the change in isokinetic torque at 60 and 180 degrees per second between baseline and follow-up; dashed line, overall estimate; bars, 95% confidence interval (CI).

C. Giuliano et al. / International Journal of Cardiology 227 (2017) 413-423

	Mean difference of	%			
Author year	change score (95% C	change score (95% CI)Weight			
Cider 1997	-1.10 (-16.34, 14.14)	0.24			
Grosse 2001	1.90 (0.11, 3.69)	17.36			
Pu 2001	-0.73 (-3.29, 1.83)	8.52			
Tyni-Lenné 2001	2.70 (0.48, 4.92)	11.36			
Beniaminovitz 2002	1.60 (-11.76, 14.96)	0.31			
Selig 2004	3.40 (1.63, 5.17)	17.76			
Levinger 2005	3.50 (1.48, 5.52)	13.67			
Feiereisen 2007	3.20 (1.44, 4.96)	18.02			
Maiorana 2011	3.70 (1.61, 5.79)	12.76			
Overall (I-squared = 22.5%, p = 0.243)	2.71 (1.96, 3.45)	100.00			

Fig. 5. Mean difference between resistance training group and control group for the change in VO₂ Peak between baseline and follow-up; dashed line, overall estimate; bars, 95% confidence interval (Cl).

important clinical measure in patients with CHF as it is closely linked to cardiovascular mortality [54,55]. Therefore, increasing VO_{2peak} is a key objective of cardiac rehabilitation. Current guidelines favour aerobic training when the primary objective is to increase aerobic capacity, as this mode has been shown to have greater benefits than RT for this outcome [30,33]. However, clinicians and researchers have suggested that aerobic training may be unsuited to some patients, especially the elderly [33,56]. RT has an effect on skeletal muscle, but elicits less strain on the cardio-respiratory system compared to aerobic exercises. It may therefore be a suitable alternative for patients with CHF. Indeed, the current meta-analysis indicates that RT has the capacity to increase aerobic capacity in this population.

As expected, this meta-analysis revealed that RT improves muscle strength in the lower extremity in patients with CHF. This is clinically and functionally important for patients with CHF. Loss of muscle mass and strength, known as sarcopenia [57] is prevalent in the community-dwelling populations and is a determinant of independence, prolonged hospital admissions and reduced QoL [58]. In CHF, the changes in skeletal muscle may be even more pronounced, with further disease-mediated reductions in muscle mass and strength [59]. In CHF, skeletal muscle strength is strongly correlated with both morbidity and mortality [60, 61] and is an independent predictor of VO₂peak [17]. The impact of muscle mass and muscle strength may be overlapping to some degree. Indeed, patients with reduced muscle mass have been shown to have poorer muscle strength and VO₂peak [59].

Muscle strength also has a profound impact on independent living and functional capacity. In patients with CHF, the capacity to perform activities of daily living (ADLs) is 30% lower than healthy controls and this can be attributed to both reduced muscle strength and aerobic capacity [62]. Furthermore, Seo et al., demonstrated that patients with CHF with poorer quadriceps muscle strength had greater dyspnea and exercise intolerance compared to individuals with greater muscle strength [63]. Improvement or at least preservation of muscle strength is an important clinical objective for patients with CHF. Our results confirm that RT is an important method to achieve this outcome.

Interestingly, this meta-analysis revealed that improvements in muscle strength were seen only during relatively slow 1RM movements and not during relatively rapid movements of 60 and 180°/s⁻¹. The implication of this finding is not entirely clear, but it may be hold clinical and functional importance. For instance, it was previously reported that the inability of skeletal muscle to generate rapid movements is related to a higher risk of falls in the elderly [64]. Moreover, it may be more important than muscle strength per se in preventing slip related falls [65]. Falls in patients with CHF, are common; 7–15% higher compared to other disease states [66] although the factors associated with falls in CHF are not clear [67]. It is plausible that standard RT programs that target muscle power will increase the capacity to perform ADLs and QoL, but will have a limited effect on falls risk. Future studies should test the hypothesis that power training is superior to standard RT in reducing falls risk in patients with CHF.

This meta-analysis highlights an under-representation of elderly patients, as well as those with advanced CHF (NYHA Class IV) in RT trials. This creates concerns regarding the interpretation and application



Fig. 6. Mean difference between resistance training group and control group for the change in 6MWD between baseline and follow-up; dashed line, overall estimate; bars, 95% confidence interval (CI).

C. Giuliano et al. / International Journal of Cardiology 227 (2017) 413-423



Fig. 7. Mean difference between resistance training group and control group for the change in QOL between baseline and follow-up; dashed line, overall estimate; bars, 95% confidence interval (CI).

of guidelines to the wider CHF population. For instance, the incidence of CHF was shown to increase 9% with each year of age over 65 [68]. Furthermore, the Framingham Heart Study reported a mean age of diagnosis of 76.4 years [26] yet only one of the included RT studies included patients above 65 years, the remaining were 6–28 years younger. Adding the fact that there is a growing population of elderly patients with CHF; a consequence of both an ageing population and



Fig. 8. Risk of Bias. Note: ? indicates unclear, + indicates low risk, - indicates high risk.

improved survival from other cardiovascular conditions that are precipitators for CHF, the evidence base is limited and further studies are needed with a more representative group of patients.

The strengths of this meta-analysis are that we employed a comprehensive search strategy, with the help of a clinical librarian, which resulted in a comprehensive list of citations. We used the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool to assess the risk of bias from individual studies. Our assessment of bias was limited by the information presented by the individual papers and we strongly encourage future studies to report in accordance with the CONSORT statement [69].

The current meta-analysis has some potential limitations. First, there are a relatively small number of studies, generally with a small number of participants. Second, meta-analyses are also limited by the potential of small study effects, where smaller studies that do not find an association do not publish their results. We used visual inspection of funnel plots and Egger's regression asymmetry test to ascertain bias due to small-study effects [36]. With the small number of studies included in our meta-analyses, it was difficult to ascertain whether there was any bias present from small-study effects and Egger's test is known to have low power when less than 20 studies are included in a metaanalysis [70]. Current recommendations for meta-analysis of continuous outcomes suggest the use of ANCOVA estimates when available [39]. However, ANCOVA estimates were poorly reported, we used the change scores and conducted a sensitivity analysis of the final values. Future studies should report the actual ANCOVA estimates when such analyses are conducted so they can be properly used in evidence synthesis [39].

In conclusion, RT as a single intervention can increase muscle strength, aerobic capacity, and QoL in patients with CHF. The effect of RT on muscle strength is mainly during slow controlled movements and not during rapid movements which may have clinical implications for falls related risks. In addition, this study identified that older adults and patients with advanced heart failure are underrepresented in resistance training controlled trials and further research should seek to optimise inclusion of these patients.

Conflict of interest

The authors report no relationships that could be construed as a conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements

Associate Professor Levinger is supported by Future Leader Fellowship (ID: 100040) from the National Heart Foundation of Australia. We would like to thank Evelyn Hutcheon and Steven Chang from Western Health library service for their help with the literature search.

Appendix 1. Search Stategy for Medline

#	Searches	Results
1	Exercise/	74,066
2	exercis*.mp. [mp $=$ title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept	284,520
-	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
3	Circuit-based exercise/	11
4	Physical conditioning, numan/	504 146
5	Pyonetric exectose/	140 //221
7	Nestorice (animity/ Walking /	23 153
8	Winning/	14 362
9	Exercise therapy/	29.095
10	Hydrotherapy/	2300
11	hydrotherapy.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary	2611
	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
12	"physical therap"".mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary	41,725
	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
13	((resistance or aerobic or strength* or interval or circuit) adj2 (training or program*)).mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word,	16,295
	subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	170
14	calisthenic".mp. $[mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept$	170
15	word, rate disease supprementary concept word, unique identifier (20
15	cansulent n_{1} , n_{1} – n_{2} – n_{3}	29
16	where the abstract original title name of substance word subject heading word keyword heading word protocol supplementary concept	140.613
10	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier l	1 10,010
17	kinesiotherap*.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary	139
	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
18	strengthen*.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept	53,209
	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
19	exp Running/	15,010
20	running.mp. $[mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept$	50,911
21	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	00 5 60
21	Walk .mp. [mp = title, abstract, orginal title, name of substance word, subject neading word, keyword neading word, protocol supplementary concept word, was disease unplementary concept word, unjung identifical	89,560
22	rare duscase supplementary concept word, unique identiner j	22 2/1
22	τΑρ γναικιμής/	603 308
24	heart failure mp. Imp. = title abstract original title name of substance word subject heading word keyword heading word protocol supplementary concent	154 113
2.	word, rate disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier	10 1,110
25	exp Heart Failure/	95,125
26	Ventricular dysfunction, Left/	22,541
27	cardiomyopathy.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary	60,012
	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
28	exp Cardiomyopathies/	78,146
29	Let ventricular Ejection riaction.mp. $[mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject neading word, keyword neading word, protocol substance word, subject neading word, keyword neading word, protocol$	18,484
30	supprehending concept word, rate disease supprehending concept word, unique dentiner $\int Credits resultance and resultance and restrict and the abstract vorticinal title name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol$	5648
50	cardia (csynchronizatori, nip) – utc, abstract, original utc, name of substance word, subject nearing word, keyword nearing word, protocol substance word, subject nearing word, keyword nearing word, protocol substance or substance word, subject nearing word, keyword nearing word, protocol substance or substance word unique identifier]	5040
31	Support in the provident of the second seco	3134
	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier	
32	Left ventricular systolic dysfunction.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol	2290
	supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
33	Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol	1118
	supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
34	Cardiac tailure.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary	10,660
25	concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	002
55	(11) where other is the rest of the res	202
36	A or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 20 or 31 or 31 or 32 or 33 or 34 or 35	261 972
37	Randomized controlled trial.pt.	418,427
38	Controlled clinical trial.pt.	92,318
39	Randomized.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept	644,093
	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
40	Placebo.mp. [mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept	176,469
	word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	
41	Clinical trials as topic.sh.	180,293
42	Randomly.mp. $[mp = title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, keyword heading word, protocol supplementary concept$	246,690
40	woru, rare usease supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	057.056
43	mainip, mp = une, austract, original une, name or substance word, subject neading word, keyword neading word, protocol supplementary concept word, care disaste supplementary concept word, unique identifier]	937,056
ΔΔ	Tarc use as supportentially concept word, unique identifier j 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43	1 357 098
45		18 760 612
46	Humans/	14,599,060
47	45 not 46	4,161,552
48	44 not 47	1,259,412
49	23 and 36 and 48	4207

Appendix 2. PRISMA checklist

Section/topic	#	Checklist item	Reported on page #
Title	1	Identify the report as a systematic region, meta analysis or both	1
Inte	1	identity the report as a systematic review, meta-analysis, or both.	1
Abstract Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary including, as applicable: background; objectives; data sources; study eligibility criteria, participants, and interventions; study appraisal and synthesis methods; results; limitations; conclusions and implications of key findings; systematic review registration number.	1
Introduction			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known.	3-4
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of questions being addressed with reference to participants, interventions, comparisons, outcomes, and study design (PICOS).	4
Methods	_		_
Protocol and	5	Indicate if a review protocol exists, if and where it can be accessed (e.g., Web address), and, if available, provide registration	7
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify study characteristics (e.g., PICOS, length of follow-up) and report characteristics (e.g., years considered, language, nublication status) used as criteria for eligibility giving rationale	5,14
Information sources	7	Describe all information sources (e.g., databases with dates of coverage, contact with study authors to identify additional studies) in the search and date last searched.	5, 25 (appendix)
Search	8	Present full electronic search strategy for at least one database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	26–29 (appendix)
Study selection	9	State the process for selecting studies (i.e., screening, eligibility, included in systematic review, and, if applicable, included in the meta-analysis).	5-6
Data collection process	10	Describe method of data extraction from reports (e.g., piloted forms, independently, in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	6–7
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought (e.g., PICOS, funding sources) and any assumptions and simplifications made.	5, 14 (Fig. 1)
Risk of bias in individual studies	12	Describe methods used for assessing risk of bias of individual studies (including specification of whether this was done at the study or outcome level), and how this information is to be used in any data synthesis.	6–7, 10
Summary measures	13	State the principal summary measures (e.g., risk ratio, difference in means).	9–10, 15–18
Synthesis of results	14	Describe the methods of handling data and combining results of studies, if done, including measures of consistency (e.g., 1 ²) for each meta-analysis.	6
Risk of bias across studies	22	Present results of any assessment of risk of bias across studies (see Item 15).	6,7,10
Additional analysis	23	Give results of additional analyses, if done (e.g., sensitivity or subgroup analyses, meta-regression [see Item 16]).	11 (available on request)
Discussion			
Summary of evidence	24	Summarise the main findings including the strength of evidence for each main outcome; consider their relevance to key groups (e.g., healthcare providers, users, and policy makers).	10–13
Limitations	25	Discuss limitations at study and outcome level (e.g., risk of bias), and at review-level (e.g., incomplete retrieval of identified research, reporting bias).	12
Conclusions	26	Provide a general interpretation of the results in the context of other evidence, and implications for future research.	12,13
Funding Funding	27	Describe sources of funding for the systematic review and other support (e.g., supply of data); role of funders for the systematic review.	

References

- P. Ponikowski, et al., 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure, 2016. Eur. Heart J. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128.
- [2] C.H. Zambroski, et al., Impact of symptom prevalence and symptom burden on quality of life in patients with heart failure Fur L Cardiovasc Nurs 4 (3) (2005) 198–206
- life in patients with heart failure, Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Nurs. 4 (3) (2005) 198–206.
 [3] T.H. Teng, et al., Trends in long-term cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in men and women with heart failure of ischemic versus non-ischemic aetiology in Western Australia between 1990 and 2005. Int. J. Cardiol. 158 (3) (2012) 405–410.
 [4] P.S. Jhund, et al., Long-term trends in first hospitalization for heart failure and subsequent
- P.S. Jhund, et al., Long-term trends in first hospitalization for heart failure and subsequent survival between 1986 and 2003: a population study of 5.1 million people, Circulation 119 (4) (2009) 515–523.
- [5] H. Krum, et al., 2011 update to National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand Guidelines for the prevention, detection and management of chronic heart failure in Australia, 2006, Med. J. Aust. 194 (8) (2011) 405–409.
- [6] G.W. Moe, et al., The 2013 Canadian Cardiovascular Society Heart Failure Management Guidelines Update: Focus on Rehabilitation and Exercise and Surgical Coronary Revascularization, Can. J. Cardiol. 30 (3) (2013) 249–263.
- [7] I.L. Piña, et al., Exercise and heart failure: a statement from the American Heart Association Committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention, Circulation 107 (8) (2003) 1210–1225.

- [8] C.M. O'Connor, et al., Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: HF-ACTION randomized controlled trial, JAMA 301 (2009) 1439–1450.
- [9] P.M. Davidson, et al., Can a heart failure-specific cardiac rehabilitation program decrease hospitalizations and improve outcomes in high-risk patients? Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Prev. Rehabil. 17 (2010) 393–402.
- [10] M. Haykowsky, et al., Supervised exercise training improves aerobic capacity and muscle strength in older women with heart failure, Can. J. Cardiol. 21 (2005) 1277–1280.
- [11] B.A. Tol, et al., Effects of exercise training on cardiac performance, exercise capacity and quality of life in patients with heart failure: a meta-analysis (structured abstract), Eur. J. Heart Fail. 8 (2006) 841–850.
- [12] K. Meyer, et al., Hemodynamic responses during leg press exercise in patients with chronic congestive heart failure, Am. J. Cardiol. 83 (11) (1999) 1537–1543.
 [13] C.M. O'Connor, et al., Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic
- [13] C.M. O'Connor, et al., Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: HF-ACTION randomized controlled trial, JAMA 301 (14) (2009) 1439–1450.
- [14] R. Belardinelli, et al., Effects of exercise training on left ventricular filling at rest and during exercise in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and severe left ventricular systolic dysfunction, Am. Heart J. 132 (1996) 61–70.
- [15] A.J. Coats, et al., Effects of physical training in chronic heart failure, Lancet (Lond., Engl.) 335 (8681) (1990) 63–66.

- [16] M.F. Piepoli, A.J.S. Coats, The 'skeletal muscle hypothesis in heart failure' revised, Eur. Heart J. 34 (7) (2013) 486–488.
- [17] M. Cicoira, et al., Skeletal muscle mass independently predicts peak oxygen consumption and ventilatory response during exercise in noncachectic patients with chronic heart failure, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 37 (8) (2001) 2080–2085.
- [18] J.P. LeMaitre, et al., Maximum oxygen uptake corrected for skeletal muscle mass accurately predicts functional improvements following exercise training in chronic heart failure, Eur. J. Heart Fail. 8 (2006) 243–248.
- [19] M. Piepoli, et al., Contribution of muscle afferents to the hemodynamic, autonomic, and ventilatory responses to exercise in patients with chronic heart failure: effects of physical training, Circulation 93 (5) (1996) 940–952.
- [20] J.H. Mitchell, K. Wildenthal, Static (isometric) exercise and the heart: physiological and clinical considerations, Annu. Rev. Med. 25 (1974) 369–381.
- [21] A.E. Karlsdottir, et al., Hemodynamic responses during aerobic and resistance exercise, J. Cardpulm. Rehabil. 22 (3) (2002) 170–177.
- [22] M.A. Williams, et al., Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on clinical cardiology and council on nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism, Circulation 116 (5) (2007) 572–584.
- [23] K.A. Volaklis, S.P. Tokmakidis, Resistance exercise training in patients with heart failure, Sports Med. 35 (12) (2005) 1085–1103.
- [24] C.T. Pu, et al., Randomized trial of progressive resistance training to counteract the myopathy of chronic heart failure, J. Appl. Phycol. (Bethesda, Md.: 1985) 90 (2001) 2341–2350.
 [25] E.P. Havranek, et al., Spectrum of heart failure in older patients: results from the National
- [25] E.P. Havranek, et al., Spectrum of heart failure in older patients: results from the Nation. Heart Failure project, Am. Heart J. 143 (3) (2002) 412–417.
 [26] K.K. Ho, et al. Survival after the operator for corrective heart failure in Framingham Heart
- [26] K.K. Ho, et al., Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham Heart Study subjects, Circulation 88 (1) (1993) 107–115.
 [27] S.S. Anand, et al., Risk factors for myocardial infarction in women and men: insights from
- the INTERHEART study, Eur. Heart J. 29 (7) (2008) 932–940.
 [28] C.W. Yancv, et al., 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure. A Re-
- [28] C.W. Yancy, et al., 2013 ACCP/AFA Guideline for the Management of hear Failure. A Report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 62 (16) (2013) e147–e239.
- [29] N.A. Smart, How do cardiorespiratory fitness improvements vary with physical training modality in heart failure patients? A quantitative guide, Exp. Clin. Cardiol. 18 (1) (2013) e21–e25.
- [30] S. Mandic, et al., Resistance versus aerobic exercise training in chronic heart failure, Curr. Heart Fail. Rep. 9 (1) (2012) 57–64.
- [31] E.A. Jankowska, et al., The 12-week progressive quadriceps resistance training improves muscle strength, exercise capacity and quality of life in patients with stable chronic heart failure, Int. J. Cardiol. 130 (1) (2008) 36–43.
- [32] M. Koch, H. Douard, J.P. Broustet, The benefit of graded physical exercise in chronic heart failure, CHEST 101 (5) (1992) 231S–235S (1p).
- [33] N.A. Smart, How do cardiorespiratory fitness improvements vary with physical training modality in heart failure patients? A quantitative guide, Exp. Clin. Cardiol. 18 (1) (2013) e21–e25.
- [34] C. Hwang, C. Chien, Y. Wu, Resistance training increases 6-minute walk distance in people with chronic heart failure: a systematic review, J. Physiother. (Aust. Physiother. Assoc.) 56 (2) (2010) 87–96 (10p).
- [35] J. Higgins, S. Green, Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2011 updated March 2011; Version 5.1.0, [Available from, . http://handbook.cochrane.org/chapter_9/9_4_5_2_meta_analysis_of_change_scores.htm.
- [36] M. Egger, et al., Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test, BMJ 315 (7109) (1997) 629–634.
- [37] J.P. Higgins, S.G. Thompson, Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis, Stat. Med. 21 (11) (2002) 1539–1558.
- [38] J.P.T. Higgins, et al., The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials, BMJ 343 (2011).
- [39] R. Fu, H.K. Holmer, Change score or follow-up score? Choice of mean difference estimates could impact meta-analysis conclusions, J. Clin. Epidemiol. (2016).
- [40] R. Fu, et al., Handling Continuous Outcomes in Quantitative Synthesis Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews, 2008 (Rockville MD).
- [41] R. Trowman, et al., The impact of trial baseline imbalances should be considered in systematic reviews: a methodological case study, J. Clin. Epidemiol. 60 (12) (2007) 1229–1233.
 [42] D. Moher, et al., Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the
- PRISMA statement, PLoS Med. 6 (7) (2009), e1000097.

- [43] StataCorp, Stata Statistical Software Release 13, College Station, StataCorp LP, TX, 2013.
 [44] I. Levinger, et al., Resistance training for chronic heart failure patients on beta blocker med-
- ications, Int. J. Cardiol. 102 (3) (2005) 493–499.
 [45] A.J. Maiorana, et al., The impact of exercise training on conduit artery wall thickness and remodeling in chronic heart failure patients, Hypertension 57 (2011) 56–62.
- [46] S.E. Selig, et al., Moderate-intensity resistance exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure improves strength, endurance, heart rate variability, and forearm blood flow, J. Card. Fail. 10 (1) (2004) 21–30 (10p).
- [47] A. Beniaminovitz, et al., Selective low-level leg muscle training alleviates dyspnea in patients with heart failure, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 40 (9) (2002) 1602–1608 (7p).
- [48] G. Palevo, et al., Resistance exercise training improves heart function and physical fitness in stable patients with heart failure, J. Cardiopulm. Rehabil. Prev. 29 (5) (2009) 294–298 (5p).
- [49] A. Cider, et al., Peripheral muscle training in patients with clinical signs of heart failure, Scand. J. Rehabil. Med. 29 (2) (1997) 121–127.
- [50] R. Tyni-LennÈ, et al., Comprehensive local muscle training increases aerobic working capacity and quality of life and decreases neurohormonal activation in patients with chronic heart failure, Eur. J. Heart Fail. 3 (2001) 47–52.
- [51] T. Grosse, et al., Peripheral muscular strength training in patients with severe heart failure, Dtsch. Z. Sportmed. 52 (2001) 11–14.
- [52] P. Feiereisen, et al., Is strength training the more efficient training modality in chronic heart failure? Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 39 (11) (2007) 1910–1917 (8p).
 [53] R.D. Riley, et al., Meta-analysis of randomised trials with a continuous outcome according
- [53] R.D. Riley, et al., Meta-analysis of randomised trials with a continuous outcome according to baseline imbalance and availability of individual participant data, Stat. Med. 32 (16) (2013) 2747–2766.
- [54] U. Corrà, et al., Cardiopulmonary exercise testing and prognosis in chronic heart failure*: a prognosticating algorithm for the individual patient, Chest 126 (3) (2004) 942–950.
- [55] G. ROUL, et al., Exercise peak VO2 determination in chronic heart failure: is it still of value? Eur. Heart J. 15 (4) (1994) 495–502.
- [56] C. Giuliano, et al., Barriers to exercise rehabilitation in the older adult with heart failure, Heart Lung Circ. 24 (2015) s450.
- [57] A.J. Cruz-Jentoft, et al., Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: report of the European working group on sarcopenia in older people, Age Ageing 39 (4) (2010) 412–423.
- [58] R. Rizzoli, et al., Quality of life in sarcopenia and frailty, Calcif. Tissue Int. 93 (2013).
- [59] S. Fulster, et al., Muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure: results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF), Eur. Heart J. 34 (7) (2013) 512–519.
- [60] S.D. Anker, et al., Wasting as independent risk factor for mortality in chronic heart failure, Lancet 349 (9058) (1997) 1050–1053.
 [61] M. Hülsmann, et al., Muscle strength as a predictor of long-term survival in severe conges-
- [61] M. Hülsmann, et al., Muscle strength as a predictor of long-term survival in severe conges tive heart failure, Eur. J. Heart Fail. 6 (1) (2004) 101–107.
- [62] P.A. Savage, et al., Effect of resistance training on physical disability in chronic heart failure, Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 43 (8) (2011) 1379–1386.
- [63] Y. Seo, et al., Comparisons of dyspnea, fatigue, and exercise intolerance between individuals with heart failure with high versus low knee extensor muscle strength, Cardiopulm. Phys. Ther. J. 25 (1) (2014) 11–17.
- [64] D.A. Skelton, J. Kennedy, O.M. Rutherford, Explosive power and asymmetry in leg muscle function in frequent fallers and non-fallers aged over 65, Age Ageing 31 (2) (2002) 119–125.
- [65] L. Han, F. Yang, Strength or power, which is more important to prevent slip-related falls? Hum. Mov. Sci. 44 (2015) 192–200.
 [66] P.G. Lee, C. Cigolle, C. Blaum, The co-occurrence of chronic diseases and geriatric syn-
- [66] P.G. Lee, C. Cigolle, C. Blaum, The co-occurrence of chronic diseases and geriatric syndromes: the health and retirement study, J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 57 (3) (2009) 511–516.
- [67] K. Lee, S.J. Pressler, M. Titler, Falls in patients with heart failure: a systematic review, J. Cardiovasc, Nurs. (2015).
- [68] A.M. Arnold, et al., Incidence of cardiovascular disease in older Americans: the cardiovascular health study, J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53 (2) (2005) 211–218.
- [69] C. Begg, et al., Improving the quality of reporting of randomized controlled trials. The CONSORT statement, JAMA 276 (8) (1996) 637–639.
- [70] J.A. Sterne, D. Gavaghan, M. Egger, Publication and related bias in meta-analysis: power of statistical tests and prevalence in the literature, J. Clin. Epidemiol. 53 (11) (2000) 1119–1129.

Chapter 5: PRIME-HF: Novel exercise for older patients with heart failure. A pilot randomised controlled study.

5.1 Background and context

The meta-analysis in Chapter 4 found that resistance training can be an alternative training modality for patients with CHF. However, older adults were underrepresented across all included studies in the meta-analysis. This finding became the foundation for conceptualising the pilot study of Chapter 5.

It was originally intended that Chapter 5 would be an RCT of resistance training in older adults with CHF. This followed the argument that resistance training can increase aerobic capacity, but may be a more tolerable form of exercise for older patients in comparison to whole-body aerobic training. However, during the planning process, Professor Jason Allen joined the Institute for Health and Sport at Victoria University and presented his work on the "PRIME" exercise intervention.

As described in the literature review, PRIME offers a 'hybrid' aerobic-resistance solution for individuals with peripheral or central limitations using a low-mass, high-repetition training regime, that induces low central cardiovascular strain (Allen et al., 2013). PRIME is applied as a bridging therapy to traditional exercise prescription involving whole body training. Hence, PRIME offered great potential to the focus patient group of this thesis.

5.2 Research aims

Chapter 4 presents a RCT which addresses the 4th and 5th objectives of this thesis (see section 2.9); To investigate whether older patients with HFrEF can tolerate current exercise recommendations involving COMBined Moderate-Intensity Aerobic and Resistance Training (COMBO) and, To analyse the effects of a novel muscle focused exercise regime called "PRIME", aerobic capacity and muscle strength in older adults with HFrEF.

5.3 Manuscript

The following paper, "PRIME HF: Novel exercise for older patients with heart failure: a pilot randomized controlled trial" was published in the *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* in 2020.

It was also presented at the following conferences:

- Australian Cardiac Rehabilitation Association 2020 Annual Scientific Meeting
- Oral Presentation, nominated in the Best Exercise Prize Session
- Poster: ESSA Research to Practice 2020 (postponed due to COVID-19)



OFFICE FOR RESEARCH TRAINING, QUALITY AND INTEGRITY

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP AND CO-CONTRIBUTION: PAPERS INCORPORATED IN THESIS

This declaration is to be completed for each conjointly authored publication and placed at the beginning of the thesis chapter in which the publication appears.

1. PUBLICATION DETAILS (to be completed by the candidate)

Title of Paper/Jo	urnal/Book:	PRIME-HF: Novel E Randomized Contro Journal of the Amer	exercise for Older Patie Alled Study Ican Geriatrics Society	ents with Heart Fail	ure. A Pilot
Surname:	Giuliano Institute for H	ealth and Sport	First name:	Catherine	64
Status: Accepted Publishe	d and in press: d:		Date:	15/04/2020	

2. CANDIDATE DECLARATION

I declare that the publication above meets the requirements to be included in the thesis as outlined in the HDR Policy and related Procedures – <u>policy.vu.edu.au</u>.

	5/01/2021
Signature	Date

3. CO-AUTHOR(S) DECLARATION

In the case of the above publication, the following authors contributed to the work as follows:

The undersigned certify that:

- 1. They meet criteria for authorship in that they have participated in the conception, execution or interpretation of at least that part of the publication in their field of expertise;
- 2. They take public responsibility for their part of the publication, except for the responsible author who accepts overall responsibility for the publication;

PO Box 14428, Melbourne, Vic 8001, Australia +61 3 9919 6100





- 3. There are no other authors of the publication according to these criteria;
- 4. Potential conflicts of interest have been disclosed to a) granting bodies, b) the editor or publisher of journals or other publications, and c) the head of the responsible academic unit; and
- 5. The original data will be held for at least five years from the date indicated below and is stored at the following **location**(s):

Western Health and Victoria University

Name(s) of Co-Author(s)	Contribution (%)	Nature of Contribution	Signature	Date
Itamar Levinger	8	Data interpretation, clinical support and appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21
Sara Vogrin	8	Data analysis and interpretation and appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21
Christopher James Neil	10	Project planning, recruitment data interpretation, clinical support and appraisal of		5/01/21
Jason David Allen	10	Project planning, clinical support and appraisal of manuscript		5/01/21

Updated: September 2019



PRIME-HF: Novel Exercise for Older Patients with Heart Failure. A Pilot Randomized Controlled Study

Catherine Giuliano, MAppSci, *[†] V Itamar Levinger, PhD, *^{†‡} Sara Vogrin, MBiostat,^{‡§} Christopher James Neil, PhD, *^{†§a} and Jason David Allen, PhD^{¶a}

OBJECTIVES: To test the hypothesis that (1) older patients with heart failure (HF) can tolerate COMBined moderateintensity aerobic and resistance training (COMBO), and (2) 4 weeks of Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise (PRIME) before 4 weeks of COMBO will improve aerobic capacity and muscle strength to a greater extent than 8 weeks of COMBO.

DESIGN: Prospective randomized parallel open-label blinded end point.

SETTING: Single-site Australian metropolitan hospital.

PARTICIPANTS: Nineteen adults (72.8 \pm 8.4 years of age) with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF).

INTERVENTION: Participants were randomized to 4 weeks of PRIME or COMBO (phase 1). All participants subsequently completed 4 weeks of COMBO (phase 2). Sessions were twice a week for 60 minutes. PRIME is a low-mass, high-repetition regime (40% one-repetition maximum [1RM], eight strength exercises, 5 minutes each). COMBO training involved combined aerobic (40%-60% of peak aerobic capacity [VO_{2peak}], up to 20 minutes) and resistance training (50-70% 1RM, eight exercises, two sets of 10 repetitions).

MEASUREMENTS: We measured VO_{2peak} , VO_2 at anaerobic threshold (AT), and muscle voluntary contraction (MVC).

From the *Institute for Health and Sport (IHES), Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia; [†]Department of Cardiology, Western Health, Sunshine Hospital, Melbourne, Australia; [‡]Australian Institute for Musculoskeletal Science (AIMSS), Melbourne, Australia; [§]Department of Medicine – Western Health, The University of Melbourne, Australia; and the [§]Department of Kinesiology, Curry School of Education & Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, University of Virginia, Charlottesville, Virginia.

Address correspondence to Catherine Giuliano, MAppSci, Institute for Health and Sport, Victoria University, Level 3, Western Centre for Health, Research and Education, Sunshine Hospital, 176 Furlong Road, St. Albans, Victoria, Australia. E-mail: catherine.giuliano@live.vu.edu.au. Twitter: @CathGiuliano

^aThese authors contributed equally to this study.

DOI: 10.1111/jgs.16428

RESULTS: The PRIME group significantly increased VO_{2peak} after 8 weeks (2.4 mL/kg/min; 95% confidence interval [CI] = .7-4.1; P = .004), whereas the COMBO group showed minimal change (.2; 95% CI -1.5 to 1.8). This produced a large between-group effect size of 1.0. VO₂ at AT increased in the PRIME group (1.6 mL/kg/min; 95% CI .0-3.2) but not in the COMBO group (-1.2; 95% CI -2.9 to .4), producing a large between-group effect size. Total MVC increased significantly in both groups in comparison with baseline; however, the change was larger in the COMBO group (effect size = .6). **CONCLUSION:** Traditional exercise approaches (COMBO) and PRIME improved strength. Only PRIME training produced statistically and clinically significant improvements to aerobic capacity. Taken together, these findings support the hypothesis that PRIME may have potential advantages for older patients with HFrEF and could be a possible alternative exercise modality. J Am Geriatr Soc 00:1-8, 2020.

Keywords: heart failure; exercise; strength; aerobic; resistance

C hronic heart failure (CHF) is a complex syndrome affecting 1% to 2% of Western populations,¹ and approximately 80% of patients are older than 60 years.² Patients with CHF are characterized by shortness of breath, fatigue, and exercise intolerance.³ Exercise rehabilitation is considered a cornerstone intervention for people with CHF, with guidelines recommending moderate-intensity aerobic modalities,^{3,4} often in conjunction with resistance training.⁴⁻⁶ However, a key limitation of these guidelines is that they arise largely from data involving a patient cohort sometimes 2 decades younger (range = 51-81 years)⁷ than the median age at diagnosis of CHF (77 years).^{7,8} Considering that older adults with CHF experience a high prevalence of comorbidities, impaired functional capacity, reduced muscle mass and strength, and a 5-year survival of

JAGS 00:1-8, 2020

^{© 2020} The Authors

Journal of the American Geriatrics Society published by Wiley Periodicals, Inc. on behalf of The American Geriatrics Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

25%,⁹⁻¹⁴ it is unclear whether they can actually tolerate current exercise guidelines or gain functional benefits.

It was recently demonstrated that older individuals with reduced peak aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak} 15-20 mL/kg/min) can benefit from a novel exercise regime known as Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise (PRIME).^{15,16} In brief, PRIME offers a hybrid aerobic-resistance program and was designed to address the peripheral tissue dysfunctions responsible for reduced VO_{2peak} in older adults, without imposing excess cardiovascular or musculoskeletal strain.¹⁶ When PRIME is applied as a bridging therapy to combined aerobic and resistance training, participants experience greater increases in aerobic capacity, muscle strength, and physical function compared with combined training alone. This approach may offer potential advantages to older patients with central cardiovascular limitations; however, it is yet to be tested in clinical populations.

The aim of the current study was to test the hypothesis that (1) older patients with CHF can tolerate current exercise recommendations involving COMBbined moderateintensity aerobic and resistance training (COMBO), and (2) 4 weeks of PRIME training followed by 4 weeks of COMBO will improve aerobic capacity and muscle strength to a greater extent than 8 weeks of the current recommended COMBO approach.

METHODS

Participants

Participants were recruited from the Western Health Heart Failure Clinic in Melbourne, Australia, following patient file review and an in-person interview. Inclusion criteria were (1) a diagnosis of HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) as defined by European Society of Cardiology Guidelines 2016,³ (2) age 65 years and older, and (3) mild to moderate symptomatology (New York Heart Association [NYHA] class II-III). Exclusion criteria included any absolute contraindications to exercise for people with HFrEF, and relative contraindications were adjudicated by the study cardiologist. The algorithm for inclusion and exclusion criteria is supplied in Supplementary Figure S1. Patients meeting eligibility criteria were provided with information and invited to participate in the trial. Those who gave informed consent were scheduled for baseline testing and screening. The research protocol was approved by ethics committees from Melbourne Health and Victoria University.

Experimental Design

We used a prospective randomized open-label blinded endpoint parallel-group design. Participants were randomized to PRIME or COMBO training for an initial 4 weeks (phase 1). Following this, all participants completed 4 weeks of COMBO training (phase 2). Participants were randomized in a 1:1 ratio by an independent researcher (permuted block randomization with block size of 4, stratified by sex, with sequence saved in sequentially numbered opaque sealed envelopes), with treatment allocation revealed after baseline exercise testing. Outcomes were assessed at baseline, 4 weeks, and 8 weeks by a blinded assessor.

Outcome Measures

Aerobic Capacity

Peak aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak}) was assessed using a symptomlimited graded exercise test on a Lode Corival cycle ergometer, with simultaneous 12-lead electrocardiogram. Heart rate (HR), blood pressure (BP), and rating of perceived exertion (RPE) were recorded throughout. The protocol began at 20 W and increased by 10 W in 2-minute stages, and it was terminated when the patient achieved more than 17 on the RPE scale and was unable to continue cycling within 10 rpm of target cadence or exhibited clinical signs and symptoms. The volume of oxygen uptake (VO₂) for each 10-second interval was calculated utilizing MedGraphics (Breezesuite CPX Ultim system) that was calibrated before each test.

Muscle Strength

Muscle strength was assessed using the three-repetition maximum (3RM) test, and then predicated 1RM was calculated using standardized equations.¹⁷ Total muscle voluntary contraction (total MVC) was considered as the sum of the calculated 1RM for seven movements tested including chest press, leg press, seated row, triceps pushdown, latissimus pulldown, upright row, and hack squat.

Exercise Training Protocols

Training sessions were conducted twice per week for 8 weeks and lasted approximately 60 minutes including warmup and cooldown. Sessions were conducted at Victoria University and Sunshine Hospital and supervised by an accredited exercise physiologist. In the case of missed exercise sessions, catch-up sessions were offered.

Phase I (PRIME)

The PRIME regime followed the protocol previously described^{15,16} and was adjusted minimally for this study group. The protocol included eight exercises of chest press, leg press, seated row, triceps pushdown, latissimus dorsi pulldown, upright row, hack squat, and calf raises, starting at 40% of predicted 1RM and at a 2:1:2 movement tempo (concentric: rest: eccentric). During each exercise, participants were allowed breaks as needed, with each for a minimum of 30 seconds. Progression was made first by decreasing the number of rest periods during each exercise. When the patient could complete the whole duration of the exercise (5 minutes) without rest, the load was increased by approximately 10%.

Phase I (COMBO)

The COMBO protocol was based on exercise recommendations for patients with HFrEF and included both aerobic and resistance exercises.⁵ The aerobic component began at 10 to 15 minutes at a target exercise intensity of 40% to 50% of VO_{2peak}, corresponding to an RPE of 11 to 13, progressing gradually according to patient's tolerance to 20 minutes. Intensity was adjusted so the RPE remained in the target zones. The resistance component involved eight exercises, two sets of 10 repetitions, initially prescribed at 50% to 60% 1RM. Thereafter, the load was increased by approximately 10% when the participant fell below an RPE target range of 11 to 13.

Phase II

In phase II, all participants completed 4 weeks of identical COMBO training as described earlier, with the starting intensity for the aerobic and resistance components recalculated from



Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram. AT, anaerobic threshold. COMBO, COMBined moderate-intensity aerobic and resistance training; MVC, muscle voluntary contraction; PRIME, Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise. [Color figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

Characteristics	All (19)	PRIME (9)	COMBO (10)
Age, y Male, n (%) BMI, kg/m ² NYHA class II/III (numbar)	72.8 (8.4) 15 (79) 31.0 (4.8) 13/6	68.1 (6.4) 7 (78) 31.0 (5.5) 6/3	77.0 (8.0) 8 (80) 31.1 (4.3) 7/3
LVEF (%)	31.6 (7.0)	31.1 (6.3)	32 (2.5)
Comorbidities, n (%) CAD HTN DM Type 2 CKD AF PPM AICD COPD	17 (89) 14 (74) 10 (53) 10 (53) 9 (47) 5 (26) 3 (16) 2 (11)	8 (89) 6 (67) 4 (44) 5 (56) 4 (44) 2 (22) 1 (11) 0 (0)	9 (90) 8 (80) 6 (60) 5 (50) 5 (50) 3 (30) 2 (20) 2 (20)
Frailty criterion, n (%)	2(11)	0 (0)	2 (20)
Karnofsky performance ≥60, n (%)	17 (89)	8 (89)	9 (90)
Rockwood scale ≥5, n (%)	4 (21)	2 (22)	2 (20)
Resting hemodynamics			
Systolic BP, mm Hg	119.6 (15.2)	117.3 (13.4)	121.7 (17.0)
Diastolic BP, mm Hg	67.5 (11.5)	64.2 (9.0)	70.5 (13.1)
HR, bpm	74.7 (10.3)	80.9 (8.2)	69.1 (9.0)
Heart failure pharmacoth	erapy, n (%)		
β-Adrenergic receptor blocker	16 (84)	7 (78)	9 (90)
Diuretics	12 (63)	6 (67)	7 (70)
Aldosterone antagonist	9 (47)	8 (89)	1 (10)
ACE inhibitor/ARB	11 (58)	7 (78)	4 (40)
Digoxin	2 (11)	2 (11)	0 (0)
>10 medications	3 (16)	3 (33)	0 (0)
Performance indicators			
Peak VO ₂ , mL/kg/min Total exercise time, sec	13.5 (3.2) 481 (211)	13.1 (3.3) 454.4 (197)	13.3 (3.2) 508 (233)
Total MVC	315 (25.3)	323.3 (50.8)	307.8 (31.4)
Functional performance			
TUG test	8.7 (2.9)	8.1 (2.7)	9.5 (3.0)
10MWT	7.0 (1.7)	6.8 (1.9)	7.3 (1.6)
FSST	10.0 (2.7)	9.1 (2.3)	11.1 (2.9)

Table 1. Baseline Participant Characteristics- Descriptive Statistics of Baseline Characteristics of Participants Who Completed the Entire Intervention

^aAbbreviations: 10MWT, 10-Meter Walk Test; ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; AF, atrial fibrillation; AICD, automated internal cardiac defibrillator; ARB, angiotensin II receptor blocker; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; CKD, chronic kidney disease; COMBO, Combined Moderate-Intensity Aerobic and Resistance Training; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DM, diabetes mellitus; FSST, Four Square Step Test; HR, heart rate; HTN, hypertension; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; MVC, maximum voluntary contraction; NYHA, New York Heart Association; PPM, permanent pacemaker; PRIME, Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise; TMVC, total maximum voluntary contraction; TUG, Time Up and Go; VO₂, volume of oxygen uptake during exercise.

^aData are expressed as mean (SD) unless otherwise stated.

repeat exercise testing, prescribed at 50% to 60% of VO_{2peak} for the aerobic component and 60% to 70% 1RM for the resistance component. Intensity was progressed according to RPE zones.

RPE, HR, and BP were monitored before, during, and after each training session. Individual HR and BP responses were monitored by the supervising exercise physiologist for signs of adverse responses or changing clinical status.

Volume load was calculated by repetitions [no.] × external load [kg], and aerobic exercise dose was estimated using published metabolic equations.¹⁸

Statistics

Given the novel nature of this study, a convenience sample size of 30 patients was used to estimate SD and effect sizes to inform power for a future definitive trial. Descriptive baseline characteristics data were presented as mean \pm SD or frequency (percentage). Within-group comparisons between baseline and 8 weeks for all outcomes were analyzed with paired sample *t* tests and reported as mean with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Between-group comparisons of improvement over 8 weeks were analyzed by Cohen's d effect sizes (due to the pilot nature of the trial). All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism v.7.04 for Windows (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA; www.graphpad.com).

RESULTS

Participant Characteristics

Figure 1 presents the CONSORT flow diagram. Baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. For the entire cohort, the mean age was 72.8 ± 8.4 years and approximately 80% of the participants were male. Baseline VO_{2peak} was 13.5 ± 3.2 mL/kg/min, body mass index was 31 ± 4.8 kg/m², and mean ejection fraction was $31.6 \pm 7.0\%$. Common comorbidities were coronary artery disease (89%), hypertension (74%), and type 2 diabetes mellitus (53%). During the trial, all participants continued standard medical therapy as prescribed by their physician.

Training

Adherence and Side Effects

During phase I, all participants achieved more than 75% adherence (mean adherence = 97.3% \pm 6.5). For phase II, 17 of 19 (89.5%) participants achieved more than 75% adherence (mean adherence = 96.1% \pm 12.2). In total, 292 of the 304 target exercise sessions (96%) were completed by the 19 participants, with an average weekly session attendance of 1.6 sessions per week. None of the 19 participants who began the exercise interventions withdrew from the study. Mean total time to program completion (including testing visits) was 11.4 \pm 1.4 weeks.

No major adverse events occurred during this study. Minor events included one unrelated exacerbation of HF and one unrelated chest infection. New musculoskeletal complaints occurred in four of the PRIME participants (on five occasions) and four of the COMBO participants

	Baseline (0 wk)	Time point 1 (4 wk)	Time point 2 (8 wk)	Mean difference (0-8 wk)	Cohen's d between-group improvements (0-8 wk)
VO _{2peak} , mL	_/kg/min				
COMBO	13.4 (10.9 to 16.0)	13.2 (10.7 to 15.8)	13.6 (10.3 to 17.0)	.2 (-1.5 to 1.8)	1.0
PRIME	13.1 (10.6 to 15.5)	14.9 (12.3 to 17.5)	15.5 (12.6 to 18.3)	2.4 (.7 to 4.1)*	
VO ₂ at AT,	mL/kg/min				
COMBO	8.9 (6.9 to 10.9)	7.5 (6.4 to 8.6)	7.6 (5.7 to 9.6)	-1.2 (-2.9 to .4)	1.5
PRIME	7.7 (6.7 to 8.6)	8.6 (7.5 to 9.8)	9.2 (8.0 to 10.5)	1.6 (.0 to 3.2)	
Total MVC,	kg				
COMBO	307.8 (257.3 to 358.3)	325.2 (266.4 to 384.0)	382.4 (326.8 to 438.0)	74.6 (39.4 to 110.0)*	.6
PRIME	323.3 (199 to 447.6)	359.6 (136.1 to 483.2)	374.9 (251.3 to 498.6)	48.6 (7.8 to 89.3)*	

Table 2. Effects of PRIME and COMBO Interventions on Aerobic Capacity and Muscle Strength

Abbreviations: AT, anaerobic threshold; COMBO, COMBined moderate-intensity aerobic and resistance training; MVC, muscle voluntary contraction; PRIME, Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise; VO₂, volume of oxygen uptake; VO_{2peak}, peak aerobic capacity. *P < .05.

(on seven occasions). Complaints related to existing musculoskeletal injuries occurred in seven PRIME participants (27 occasions) and six from the COMBO group (11 occasions).

Training Loads

Details of the weekly training loads are presented in Table 2. By the final training week (week 8 of COMBO training), the participants initially allocated to PRIME and COMBO interventions were training at a weekly energy expenditure for the aerobic component of 169.7 ± 18.7 MET-min-wk⁻¹ and 143.2 ± 9.2 MET-min-wk⁻¹, respectively (P = .2), and at a volume load for the resistive component of $9,075.7 \pm 1,015.4$ kg/wk and $8,067.0 \pm 527$ kg/wk, respectively (P = .4). RPEs were balanced between groups.

Effects of PRIME and COMBO

After 8 weeks of training, the PRIME group increased VO_{2peak} significantly, by 2.4 mL/kg/min (95% CI = .7-4.1; P < .05), whereas the COMBO group showed a minimal change of .2 mL/kg/min (95% CI = -1.5 to 1.8) (Table 2). This produced a large between-group response effect size (Cohen's d) of 1.0. A clinically important improvement in VO_{2peak} (defined as a >6% increase¹⁹) was observed in 60% of the PRIME group and 33% of the COMBO group after 8 weeks of training (Figure 2B).

The VO₂ at AT increased by 1.6 mL/kg/min (95% CI = .0-3.2) in the PRIME group, whereas a negative change (indicating a worsening of the clinical outcome) of -1.2 mL/kg/min (95% CI = -2.9 to .4) was observed in the COMBO group. This produced a large between-group effect size (Cohen's d = 1.5; Figure 2).

Total MVC increased significantly in both the PRIME (48.6 k; 95% CI = 7.8-89.3; P = .01) and COMBO groups (74.6 k; 95% CI = 39.3-110.0; P < .001) in comparison with baseline. The difference between groups produced a moderate between-group effect size of .6 (Figure 2).

DISCUSSION

We report that (1) older patients with HFrEF can safely perform current recommended exercise guidelines, despite these guidelines being formulated by data from younger cohorts, and (2) 4 weeks of PRIME before COMBO produced benefits for both aerobic power and strength, whereas 8 weeks of COMBO training provided no increase in aerobic power but superior strength gains. PRIME may provide a more beneficial exercise option for older patients with HFrEF, particularly those with both significant aerobic capacity and strength impairments.

The widely adopted exercise recommendations for patients with HFrEF involve moderate-intensity aerobic exercise in combination with resistance training.^{3,4} These endorsements follow the consistent demonstration of improved functional capacity, reduced rates of hospitalization, and improved quality of life with exercise training.^{3,4,7,20} As highlighted in the updated Cochrane review of 2019, the problem remains that older patients with HFrEF, who are often more functionally limited, are unrepresented in clinical trials. The current study successfully recruited a population reflective of the real-world patient, achieving a mean age of participants of 73 years and baseline VO_{2peak} of 13.5 mL/kg/min.

As hypothesized, COMBO and PRIME training was safe and well tolerated by participants, with no major adverse events reported and an acceptable frequency of minor events related mainly to existing musculoskeletal injuries. The lack of improvement in VO_{2peak} observed in the COMBO group is not unprecedented and was also reported in a meta-analysis of exercise training in older patients with HF.²¹ Of note, the 2009 prospective trial by Brubaker et al involving 59 patients with HFrEF (mean age = 70.2 ± 5.1) demonstrated that after 16 weeks the exercise training group had 12% longer exercise time on the bike and 13% greater exercise workload than the control group, although there was no increase in VO_{2peak}.²² Similarly, the HF-ACTION trial (mean age = 59 years) used a comparable exercise intervention and demonstrated a median increase in VO_{2peak} of just 4% in the exercise group compared with the control after 3 months of training. Combined, these findings may indicate a nonoxidative



Figure 2. Group mean data at baseline, 4 weeks, and 8 weeks (left column) and waterfall graphs of individual training responses from baseline to 8 weeks to Peripheral Remodeling through Intermittent Muscular Exercise (PRIME) or COMBined moderate-intensity aerobic and resistance training (COMBO) treatment (right column), regarding peak aerobic capacity (VO_{2peak} mL/kg/min) (A and B); VO₂ at Anaerobic Threshold (AT) (VO₂ mL/kg/min) (C and D); and total weight lifted (total kg) (E and F). Dotted line f (tile b) indicates a clinically important improvement of 6%. Values are given as mean \pm standard error of the mean. *Indicates moderate effect size (Cohen's d >1.0 between-group improvement 0-8 weeks). **Indicates large effect size (Cohen's d >1.0 between-group improvement 0-8 weeks).

muscle adaptation that may not be reflected in VO_{2peak} measurement.

In comparison, patients initially allocated to PRIME training exhibited a significant improvement in VO_{2peak} compared with baseline. The resultant difference between interventions (large effect size) suggests a potential superiority of PRIME for measures of aerobic capacity. According to the HF-ACTION trial, every 6% increase in VO_{2peak} is associated with a 5% lower risk of all-cause mortality and all-cause hospitalization¹⁹ In this respect, initial allocation to PRIME training was also more frequently associated with improvements above this clinically important threshold, in comparison with participants in the COMBO group (Figure 2B; 66% vs 33% of participants). These increases

in aerobic fitness are noteworthy given that PRIME does not include a traditional aerobic training component such as walking or cycle training, whereas COMBO does.

For the outcome of maximal muscular strength, both PRIME and COMBO produced statistically significant increases from baseline; however, COMBO appeared superior to PRIME with a moderate effect size of .6. This finding is logical, given strength was trained with heavier weights and lower repetitions during COMBO. Upon reflection, a measure of muscular endurance may have been a useful additional outcome measure.

This pilot study was not powered to delineate mechanisms of change with PRIME training, but we speculate that the increases in aerobic capacity may be owing to a mitigation of peripheral tissue maladaptations that are primarily responsible for exercise intolerance in HF according to the "muscle hypothesis" of HF.²⁴ By focusing initially on relatively small peripheral muscle masses, the PRIME regime aims to provide a *localized stimulus, not restricted by compromised or competing perfusion*. This approach is based on earlier work that showed increases in arm vasoreactivity and strength in both healthy young subjects and those with CHF following handgrip exercise.^{25,26} Conceptually, this type of stimulus would allow a higher intensity exercise in the exercising tissue bed for longer periods than what could be achieved with wholebody or large muscle group exercise. This may allow for greater peripheral training adaptations that increase oxygen extraction and metabolic efficiency, therefore partially reversing exercise intolerance.

This study represents an important step in closing the age bias seen across clinical exercise studies and has provided the impetus for the development of a larger, definitively powered study. If indeed PRIME exercise is shown to benefit older patients with HF, cardiac rehabilitation providers and policy developers need to consider how exercise guidelines can be modified to include older patients with HF more effectively, so that the benefits of exercise can be offered, safely and effectively, to the full spectrum of HF patients including older persons. It may also be useful in other disease states where central impairments limit exercise capacity, such as pulmonary disease.

The study has some potential limitations. First, women represented only 20% of our study population. The misrepresentation of older women is encountered in clinical trials and in cardiac rehabilitation programs, and it represents both a failure of clinicians to refer such patients, as well as logistic difficulties encountered by older women in attending these programs.^{20,27} Furthermore, we did not include patients with HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), who represent approximately 50% of the HF population.²⁸ Patients with HFpEF are usually older than those with HFrEF and may have more peripheral limitations to exercise tolerance.²⁹ Future studies should include patients with both HF subtypes and consider strategies to improve the representation of women. In addition, although Cohen's d strongly suggested positive effects to aerobic capacity outcomes in favor of the PRIME group, the pilot sample size is relatively small, and a larger powered study is required to assess accurately the effects of PRIME vs COMBO exercise training.

In conclusion, among a sample of older patients with HFrEF, we found that although traditional exercise and PRIME exercise approaches were well tolerated, only PRIME training produced positive changes to aerobic capacity in conjunction with increases in muscular strength. Taken together, these findings support the hypothesis that PRIME may have potential advantages for older patients with HFrEF and could be a possible alternative exercise modality.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank exercise physiologists Thomas Elkington and Tobias Ziegler for training the participants, as well as Robert Smith, Andrew Mulligan, Michael Semen, and Kawa Haji for supervising the exercise tests. Thanks also to George Alias for randomizing participants and to Elizabeth Scholes and Cheryl Zammit for their assistance with recruitment.

Financial Disclosure: This work was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship for Catherine Giuliano and by the Western Health Research Grant 2016. Shared facilities between Western Health and Victoria University at the Western Centre for Health, Research and Education were used to undertake this project, as well as facilities at the Victoria University Clinical Exercise Rehabilitation Clinic, within the Institute for Health and Sport, Victoria University.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest for this article.

Author Contributions: Jason David Allen and Christopher James Neil are shared senior authors. Jason David Allen is the original developer of the PRIME exercise intervention and contributed to the protocol development, contributed to the interpretation of study findings, and provided critical appraisal of the manuscript. Christopher James Neil is the study cardiologist and shared senior author. He contributed to the protocol development and interpretation of findings and provided critical appraisal of the manuscript. He provided expert clinical advice related to the care of the participants. Catherine Giuliano undertook this study as part of her PhD. She coordinated the overall project conduct and ethics requirements, contributed to the protocol development, managed data collection, and conducted the analysis and drafting of the manuscript. She carried out the study assessments and supervised the exercise physiologists delivering the training interventions. Itamar Levinger contributed to the study design, provided clinical exercise physiology support for the participants, and provided critical appraisal for manuscript. Sara Vogrin provided statistics oversight and critically reviewed all manuscripts with attention to the reporting and presentation of data.

Sponsor's Role: Not applicable.

REFERENCES

- Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart. 2007; 93(9):1137-1146.
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al. Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics–2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2013;127(1):143-152.
- 3. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, et al. 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail. 2016;18(8): 891-975.
- Atherton JJ, Sindone A, De Pasquale CG, et al. National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: guidelines for the prevention, detection, and management of heart failure in Australia 2018. Heart Lung Circ. 2018;27(10):1123-1208.
- Selig SE, Levinger I, Williams AD, et al. Exercise & Sports Science Australia Position Statement on exercise training and chronic heart failure. J Sci Med Sport. 2010;13(3):288-294.
- Piepoli MF, Conraads V, Corra U, et al. Exercise training in heart failure: from theory to practice. A consensus document of the Heart Failure Association and the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. Eur J Heart Fail. 2011;13(4):347-357.
- Long L, Mordi IR, Bridges C, et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019;1:CD003331.
- Taylor CJ, Ordóñez-Mena JM, Roalfe AK, et al. Trends in survival after a diagnosis of heart failure in the United Kingdom 2000-2017: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2019;364:1223.

- Komajda M, Hanon O, Hochadel M, et al. Contemporary management of octogenarians hospitalized for heart failure in Europe: Euro Heart Failure Survey II. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(4):478-486.
- 10. Barsheshet A, Shotan A, Cohen E, et al. Predictors of long-term (4-year) mortality in elderly and young patients with acute heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2010;12(8):833-840.
- 11. Mogensen UM, Ersboll M, Andersen M, et al. Clinical characteristics and major comorbidities in heart failure patients more than 85 years of age compared with younger age groups. Eur J Heart Fail. 2011;13(11):1216-1223.
- Lainscak M, Hodoscek LM, Dungen HD, et al. The burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients hospitalized with heart failure. Wien Klin Wochenschr. 2009;121(9-10):309-313.
- Vescovo G, Volterrani M, Zennaro R, et al. Apoptosis in the skeletal muscle of patients with heart failure: investigation of clinical and biochemical changes. Heart. 2000;84(4):431-437.
- Vidan MT, Sanchez E, Fernandez-Aviles F, Serra-Rexach JA, Ortiz J, Bueno H. FRAIL-HF, a study to evaluate the clinical complexity of heart failure in nondependent older patients: rationale, methods and baseline characteristics. Clin Cardiol. 2014;37(12):725-732.
- Allen JD, Vanbruggen MD, Johannsen NM, et al. PRIME: a novel low-mass, high-repetition approach to improve function in older adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2018;50(5):1005-1014.
- Allen JD, Robbins JL, Vanbruggen MD, et al. Unlocking the barriers to improved functional capacity in the elderly: rationale and design for the "fit for life trial.". Contemp Clin Trials. 2013;36(1):266-275.
- Bishop A, DeBeliso M, Sevene TG, Adams KJ. Comparing one repetition maximum and three repetition maximum between conventional and eccentrically loaded deadlifts. J Strength Cond Res. 2014;28(7):1820-1825.
- American College of Sports Medicine. ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 10th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer; 2018.
- Swank AM, Horton J, Fleg JL, et al. Modest increase in peak VO2 is related to better clinical outcomes in chronic heart failure patients: results from heart failure and a controlled trial to investigate outcomes of exercise training. Circ Heart Fail. 2012;5(5):579-585.
- Taylor RS, Sagar VA, Davies EJ, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;4:CD003331.
- Chen YM, Li Y. Safety and efficacy of exercise training in elderly heart failure patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Clin Pract. 2013;67 (11):1192-1198.

- Brubaker PH, Moore JB, Stewart KP, Wesley DJ, Kitzman DW. Endurance exercise training in older patients with heart failure: results from a randomized, controlled, single-blind trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2009;57(11):1982-1989.
- O'Connor CM, Whellan DJ, Lee KL, et al. Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: HF-ACTION randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2009;301(14):1439-1450.
- Piepoli MF, Coats AJS. The 'skeletal muscle hypothesis in heart failure' revised. Eur Heart J. 2013;34(7):486-488.
- Credeur DP, Mariappan N, Francis J, Thomas D, Moraes D, Welsch MA. Vasoreactivity before and after handgrip training in chronic heart failure patients. Atherosclerosis. 2012;225(1):154-159.
- Allen JD, Geaghan JP, Greenway F, Welsch MA. Time course of improved flow-mediated dilation after short-term exercise training. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35(5):847-853.
- Supervia M, Medina-Inojosa JR, Yeung C, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation for women: a systematic review of barriers and solutions. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92:565-577.
- Owan TE, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Jacobsen SJ, Roger VL, Redfield MM. Trends in prevalence and outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(3):251-259.
- Upadhya B, Haykowsky MJ, Eggebeen J, Kitzman DW. Exercise intolerance in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: more than a heart problem. J Geriatr Cardiol. 2015;12(3):294-304.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article.

Supplementary Figure S1: Algorithm of inclusion and exclusion criteria. Adapted from the Exercise and Sports Science Australia Position Statement on exercise training and chronic heart failure.⁵

Chapter 6: Challenges in recruiting elderly patients with heart failure to exercise rehabilitation: Findings from a randomised controlled trial

6.1 Background and context

The PRIME-HF study presented in Chapter 5 successfully recruited a population reflective of the real-world patient, achieving a mean age of participants of 73 years and baseline VO₂peak of 13.5 mL/kg/min. This is important, as older patients are frequently excluded from clinical trials due to arbitrary upper age limits, or due to other exclusion criteria unsupported by clinical guidelines, including comorbidities or concurrent treatment (Crome et al., 2014). To our knowledge, there is no published description reporting the detailed reasons for the exclusion of older patients with CHF from exercise training studies and therefore it is difficult to ascertain the true eligibility and recruitment potential of older patients with CHF for exercise training.

6.2 Research aims

To determine eligibility, recruitment and dropout rates among older adults with HFrEF screened for enrolment in an exercise training study, and identify the leading clinical reasons for exclusion.

6.3 Manuscript

The following paper is being prepared for submission to a peer reviewed journal. It was also presented at the following conference:

Poster: ESSA Research to Practice 2020 (postponed due to COVID-19)

The full-text of this article is subject to copyright restrictions, and cannot be included in the online version of the thesis.

Chapter 7: General discussion

7.1 Thesis overview

Exercise training is considered an integral part of the rehabilitation process for patients with CHF and is recommended by leading cardiac institutions around the world (Ponikowski et al., 2016a, Atherton et al., 2018, Piepoli et al., 2011, Selig et al., 2010a). The overarching aims of this thesis were to explore factors affecting eligibility, referral and participation in exercise rehabilitation among older patients with CHF and to investigate novel, muscle-focused exercise modalities.

These investigations are important for several reasons. As outlined in the literature review, evidence suggests that participation in exercise rehabilitation among older adults is low and until now, factors related to participation have been relatively unknown. In this regard, the detailed investigations of referral and participation in exercise rehabilitation undertaken within this thesis make a significant contribution to our understanding of current service utilisation and highlight several challenges to program engagement.

The subsequent investigations of two exercise modalities (i.e. resistance training and PRIME training) build on our understanding that exercise intolerance in CHF is largely caused by pathological changes in the muscles and peripheral tissues. Prior to this research, it was unknown whether resistance training and PRIME exercise—regimes that target the skeletal muscle and peripheral tissues—were effective at increasing aerobic capacity in older patients with CHF.

7.2 Key findings

The results presented in this thesis offer important evidence for enhancing the delivery of exercise rehabilitation for patients with CHF. The key findings of this thesis are:

• rates of referral to outpatient exercise rehabilitation among patients hospitalised with heart failure are suboptimal and older patients, females and those with multiple comorbidities are the most disadvantaged (Studies 1 and 4)

- current guideline-recommended exercise involving combined aerobic and resistance training increases muscular strength in older adults with HFrEF but has minimal effect on aerobic capacity (Study 3)
- resistance training as a standalone therapy increases aerobic capacity, maximal strength and quality of life in patients with CHF (Study 2) while, in older adults, PRIME training has the additive benefit of increasing aerobic capacity and thus, may offer an alternative exercise training option (Study 2)

7.2.1 Referral and engagement in exercise rehabilitation among older patients with CHF is low

Despite the well-established benefits of exercise training for patients with CHF, data from this thesis demonstrates that referral to outpatient exercise rehabilitation programs following hospitalisation with acute heart failure in Victoria is suboptimal (Study 1 of Chapter 3). The referral shortfalls were particularly evident among females, older patients and in those with comorbidities, and having ischemic or rhythm-related CHF dramatically increased the odds of referral. Moreover, we have shown that even when offered the opportunity to participate in an exercise program almost 60% of older adults with HFrEF will decline participation (Study 4 of Chapter 6). These findings present a challenging paradox, as patients with more complex presentations, or patients who are older, may have the greatest need for exercise training. The low rates of referral and engagement in exercise rehabilitation are concerning and requires urgent attention.

7.2.2 Combined aerobic and resistance training for older adults with HFrEF

The RCT presented in Study 3 of Chapter 5 aimed to investigate whether older patients with HFrEF could tolerate current guideline-recommended exercise of combined moderateintensity aerobic and resistance training (COMBO) (Aim 1 of Study 3). As discussed in the literature review (section 2.7) the existing evidence for COMBO training for patients with CHF is strongly biased towards younger patients. A major strength of Study 3 was the successful recruitment of the typical patient with HFrEF, whereby the mean age of participants was 73 years and baseline VO_{2peak} was 13.5 mL/kg/min. Thus, this study represents an important step in closing the age-bias seen across clinical exercise studies. Interestingly, the group randomised to COMBO training did not increase maximal or submaximal aerobic capacity (compared to baseline) after eight weeks of training. Patients in the COMBO group did, however, improve muscle strength significantly from baseline and this effect was significantly greater than the PRIME group.

The lack of improvement in VO_{2peak} following COMBO training is not unprecedented and was also reported in a meta-analysis of exercise training in older patients with CHF (Chen and Li, 2013). Of note, the 2009 prospective trial by Brubaker et al. involving 59 patients with HFrEF (mean age = 70.2 ± 5.1) demonstrated that there was no increase in VO_{2peak} after 16 weeks of combined exercise training (Brubaker Peter and Kitzman Dalane, 2011). However, participants had 12% longer exercise time on the bike and 13% greater exercise workload than the control group, which may suggest a nonoxidative muscle adaptation that is not reflected in VO_{2peak} measurement. Thus, Study 3 of Chapter 5 provides supporting evidence that COMBO training may not be an effective modality to increase VO_{2peak} in older patients with HFrEF.

The clinical implications of this finding must be taken with caution. Exercise professionals should not be discouraged from prescribing COMBO training for older patients with CHF because the benefits are likely to expand beyond the single, although important, measurement of VO_{2peak}. For individuals where improvement in VO_{2peak} is a priority, however, clinicians should consider PRIME (discussed in section 7.2.3 below).

7.2.3 Exercise modalities with a focus on skeletal muscle improve aerobic capacity in patients with CHF

Study 2 of Chapter 4 and Study 3 of Chapter 5 hypothesised that resistance training and PRIME exercise will increase aerobic capacity in patients with CHF.

Study 2 of Chapter 4 presented a meta-analysis of pooled estimates from nine studies and reported, for the first time, that resistance training increased VO_{2peak} among patients with HFrEF. Resistance training also increased muscle strength in the lower extremities. Furthermore, the PRIME-HF study presented in Study 3 of Chapter 5 showed that patients initially allocated to PRIME training exhibited a significant improvement in VO_{2peak} and VO₂ at anaerobic threshold compared with baseline. VO_{2peak} is an important clinical measure for patients with CHF as it is closely linked to cardiovascular mortality and risk of hospitalisation (Corrà et al., 2004, Swank et al., 2012). In this regard, 66% of participants who were initially

allocated to PRIME training experienced clinically important improvements in VO_{2peak} . These findings are noteworthy, given that neither resistance training nor PRIME involves a traditional aerobic training component such as walking or cycle training.

Studies 2 and 3 were not designed to delineate the mechanisms of change following resistance training and PRIME exercise. However, we speculate that the increases in aerobic capacity may be owing to the mitigation of peripheral tissue maladaptation's that are primarily responsible for exercise intolerance in CHF according to the muscle hypothesis of CHF. By focusing initially on individual muscle groups, both resistance training and PRIME provide a localised stimulus that is *not restricted by compromised or competing perfusion*. Conceptually, this would allow greater aerobic stimulation in the exercising tissue bed for longer periods than could be achieved with whole-body or large muscle group exercise.

Both PRIME and resistance training influence skeletal muscle and aerobic capacity but elicit less strain on the cardiorespiratory system compared to aerobic exercises. They may, therefore, be suitable alternatives for patients with CHF who experience marked central limitations or who may be unable to participate in whole-body exercise.

7.3 Potential limitations

The research conducted within this thesis has some potential limitations that were described in detail for each study in the relevant chapters. The findings of this thesis should be viewed with acknowledgement of the following general limitations:

- Studies 1, 3 and 4 were conducted in the Australian state of Victoria within the western metropolitan region. This region comprises a low sociodemographic profile and as such, the findings may not apply to all regions and socioeconomic levels
- Study 3 (PRIME-HF) had a relatively small sample size and the findings are not conclusive. Furthermore, Study 2 (meta-analysis) included only a small number of studies with a small number of participants
- 3. This thesis focused mostly on patients with HFrEF who represent around half of the population with CHF. Findings may not apply to patients with HFpEF

7.4 Recommendations arising from this research

7.4.1 Clinical recommendations

7.4.1.1 Referring older adults with CHF to cardiac rehabilitation

Engaging older adults with CHF in exercise training is challenging but possible, as demonstrated by this thesis.

We have shown that older adults with CHF have a fluctuating clinical status that is often related to the presence of comorbidities. Consequently, their suitability to participate in exercise also fluctuates. Clinicians must not be deterred from referring medically complex individuals or those with comorbidities to exercise rehabilitation but instead should be especially encouraging of referring these patients. We suggest clinicians adopt routine screening practices for the assessment of exercise rehabilitation eligibility. Doing so will help identify periods of clinically stability where patients may be most appropriate for referral. This thesis also showed that engagement may be enhanced by the removal of transportation barriers and we recommend service providers offer transportation assistance to older individuals, for whom transportation is likely to be a barrier.

The paper titled "Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients with Coronary Artery Disease: A Practical Guide to Enhance Patient Outcomes Through Continuity of Care" (see appendix A) was written during the tenure of this PhD program and highlights opportunities to enhance continuity of care across three domains: informational, management and relational continuity. While not directly related to the target population of this thesis, this paper provides several recommendations to enhance patient engagement with exercise rehabilitation and these recommendations can be generalised to patients with CHF. For instance, it is suggested that regular clinical team meetings can encourage informational continuity for complex case patients, while a dedicated, connected and consistent team of professionals can optimise relational continuity and enhance engagement. These simple, yet important, strategies may help overcome some of the barriers faced by older adults with CHF.

7.4.1.2 Exercise prescription for patients with CHF

Although published RCTs on resistance training remain scarce, this thesis has provided promising evidence supporting resistance training as a standalone therapy to increase aerobic

capacity and muscular strength in patients with CHF. Additional meta-analyses suggest that cardiac function does not deteriorate following resistance training in patients with CHF.

Study 2 of Chapter 4 from this thesis was published and has been cited by the following noteworthy societies:

- Heart Failure Society of America: A consensus statement (Vest et al., 2019)
- European Association of Preventive Cardiology: A position paper (Ambrosetti et al., 2020)
- Korean Society of Heart Failure: Guidelines for the management of chronic heart failure (Kim et al., 2019)
- American Physical Therapy Association: Clinical Practice Guideline (Shoemaker et al., 2020)

Whereas any physical activity in patients with CHF is likely to be beneficial, resistance training should now be considered as an effective exercise modality for patients with CHF, as a standalone therapy or in conjunction with aerobic training.

Due to the age-bias among combined exercise training studies for patients with CHF, the efficacy of combined exercise training on VO_{2peak} in older adults with CHF requires further investigation. However, the wider benefits of combined exercise training on physical health and wellbeing must be acknowledged and exercise professionals should continue to ensure an individualised and patient-centred approach. For older adults with CHF where improvement in VO_{2peak} is a priority, PRIME exercise may offer advantages and could be considered as a possible alternative.

7.4.2 Future research recommendations

7.4.2.1 Patient-reported barriers to engagement in exercise rehabilitation

This thesis presents clinical and demographic factors associated with referral to exercise rehabilitation but does not report individual patient reasons for refusing enrolment. Acknowledging the refusal rate of 60% reported in this thesis, future studies should seek to explore patient-reported barriers to engagement with an appropriately designed methodology.

7.4.2.2 Future research must seek to represent the typical patient with CHF

The age-bias among exercise RCTs is evident across all training modalities. Future studies should seek to optimise the inclusion of older patients with both CHF subtypes and consider strategies to improve the representation of women and older adults.

7.4.2.3 Larger statistically powered investigations are required to assess the effectiveness of resistance training and PRIME definitively among older adults with CHF

Although analysis by Cohen's d strongly suggested a positive effect on aerobic capacity outcomes in favour of PRIME training, the pilot sample size was relatively small and a larger statistically powered study is required to assess the effects of PRIME versus COMBO exercise accurately. Furthermore, the meta-analysis of resistance training in patients with HFrEF included only a relatively small number of studies, generally with a small number of participants. Further RCTs are required to increase the pool of evidence for resistance training.

7.5 Concluding remarks

As an investigation of a real-world clinical challenge, this research has shown that age should not be a barrier to exercise training in patients with CHF. The research showed that with appropriate and routine assessment, older adults with CHF can be safely enrolled into exercise training programs and achieve important improvements in clinical and functional outcomes. This research provides high-quality, preliminary evidence supporting PRIME and resistance training as alternative exercise modalities for patients with HFrEF.

References

- ABDULLA, J., ABILDSTROM, S. Z., CHRISTENSEN, E., KOBER, L. & TORP-PEDERSEN, C. 2004. A meta-analysis of the effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on functional capacity in patients with symptomatic left ventricular systolic dysfunction. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, 6, 927-935.
- ABELL, B., GLASZIOU, P., BRIFFA, T. & HOFFMANN, T. 2016. Exercise training characteristics in cardiac rehabilitation programmes: a cross-sectional survey of Australian practice. *Open Heart*, 3.
- ABOZGUIA, K., PHAN, T. T., SHIVU, G. N., MAHER, A. R., AHMED, I., WAGENMAKERS, A. & FRENNEAUX, M. P. 2008. Reduced in vivo skeletal muscle oxygen consumption in patients with chronic heart failure--a study using Near Infrared Spectrophotometry (NIRS). *Eur J Heart Fail*, 10, 652-7.
- ACHTTIEN, R. J., STAAL, J. B., VAN DER VOORT, S., KEMPS, H. M., KOERS, H., JONGERT, M. W. A., HENDRIKS, E. J. M. & ON BEHALF OF THE PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS DEVELOPMENT, G. 2015. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation in patients with chronic heart failure: a Dutch practice guideline. *Netherlands Heart Journal*, 23, 6-17.
- ADAMS, K. F. 2004. Pathophysiologic role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone and sympathetic nervous systems in heart failure. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 61, S4.
- AL-GOBARI, M., EL KHATIB, C., PILLON, F. & GUEYFFIER, F. 2013. beta-Blockers for the prevention of sudden cardiac death in heart failure patients: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 13, 52.
- AL-NAJJAR, Y., WITTE, K. K. & CLARK, A. L. 2012. Chronotropic incompetence and survival in chronic heart failure. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 157, 48-52.
- ALBOUAINI, K., EGRED, M., ALAHMAR, A. & WRIGHT, D. J. 2007. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing and its application. *Postgrad Med J*, 83, 675-82.
- ALLEN, J. D., ROBBINS, J. L., VANBRUGGEN, M. D., CREDEUR, D. P., JOHANNSEN, N. M., EARNEST, C. P., PIEPER, C. F., JOHNSON, J. L., CHURCH, T. S., RAVUSSIN, E., KRAUS, W. E. & WELSCH, M. A. 2013. Unlocking the barriers to improved functional capacity in the elderly: rationale and design for the "Fit for Life trial". *Contemp Clin Trials*, 36, 266-75.
- ALLEN, J. D., VANBRUGGEN, M. D., JOHANNSEN, N. M., ROBBINS, J. L., CREDEUR, D. P., PIEPER, C. F., SLOANE, R., EARNEST, C. P., CHURCH, T. S., RAVUSSIN, E., KRAUS, W. E.
 & WELSCH, M. A. 2018. PRIME: A Novel Low-Mass, High-Repetition Approach to Improve Function in Older Adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 50, 1005-1014.
- AMBROSETTI, M., ABREU, A., CORRÀ, U., DAVOS, C. H., HANSEN, D., FREDERIX, I., ILIOU, M.
 C., PEDRETTI, R. F., SCHMID, J.-P. & VIGORITO, C. 2020. Secondary prevention through comprehensive cardiovascular rehabilitation: From knowledge to implementation. 2020 update. A position paper from the Secondary Prevention and

Rehabilitation Section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 2047487320913379.

- AMBROSY, A. P., FONAROW, G. C., BUTLER, J., CHIONCEL, O., GREENE, S. J.,
 VADUGANATHAN, M., NODARI, S., LAM, C. S. P., SATO, N., SHAH, A. N. &
 GHEORGHIADE, M. 2014. The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol, 63, 1123-1133.
- AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION 1994. Cardiac rehabilitation programs. A statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 90, 1602-1610.
- ANDERSON, L. & TAYLOR, R. S. 2014. Cardiac rehabilitation for people with heart disease: an overview of Cochrane systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd011273.
- ANDREWS, R., WALSH, J. T., EVANS, A., CURTIS, S. & COWLEY, A. J. 1997. Abnormalities of skeletal muscle metabolism in patients with chronic heart failure: evidence that they are present at rest. *Heart*, 77, 159-63.
- ANKER, S. D., NEGASSA, A., COATS, A. J., AFZAL, R., POOLE-WILSON, P. A., COHN, J. N. & YUSUF, S. 2003. Prognostic importance of weight loss in chronic heart failure and the effect of treatment with angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors: an observational study. *Lancet*, 361, 1077-83.
- ANKER, S. D., SWANK, J. W., VOLTERRANI, M., CHUA, T. P., CLARK, A. L., POOLE-WILSON, P.
 A. & COATS, A. J. S. 1997. The influence of muscle mass, strength, fatigability and blood flow on exercise capacity in cachectic and non-cachectic patients with chronic heart failure. *European Heart Journal*, 18, 259-269.
- ANTONICELLI, R., SPAZZAFUMO, L., SCALVINI, S., OLIVIERI, F., MATASSINI, M. V., PARATI, G., DEL SINDACO, D., GALLO, R. & LATTANZIO, F. 2016. Exercise: a "new drug" for elderly patients with chronic heart failure. *Aging (Albany NY)*, **8**, 860-72.
- ATHERTON, J. J., SINDONE, A., DE PASQUALE, C. G., DRISCOLL, A., MACDONALD, P. S., HOPPER, I., KISTLER, P. M., BRIFFA, T., WONG, J., ABHAYARATNA, W., THOMAS, L., AUDEHM, R., NEWTON, P., O'LOUGHLIN, J., BRANAGAN, M. & CONNELL, C. 2018. National Heart Foundation of Australia and Cardiac Society of Australia and New Zealand: Guidelines for the Prevention, Detection, and Management of Heart Failure in Australia 2018. *Heart, Lung and Circulation*, 27, 1123-1208.
- AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT 2018. Australian Demographic Statistics, June 2018. In: STATISTICS, A. B. O. (ed.).
- AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE OF HEALTH AND WELFARE 2014. National hospital morbidity database (NHMD). *Trends in cardiovascular disease.*
- AZEVEDO, P. S., POLEGATO, B. F., MINICUCCI, M. F., PAIVA, S. A. R. & ZORNOFF, L. A. M.
 2016. Cardiac Remodeling: Concepts, Clinical Impact, Pathophysiological
 Mechanisms and Pharmacologic Treatment. *Arquivos brasileiros de cardiologia*, 106, 62-69.
- BAKER, B. J., WILEN, M. M., BOYD, C. M., DINH, H. & FRANCIOSA, J. A. 1984. Relation of right ventricular ejection fraction to exercise capacity in chronic left ventricular failure. *Am J Cardiol*, 54, 596-9.

- BALADY GARY, J., WILLIAMS MARK, A., ADES PHILIP, A., BITTNER, V., COMOSS, P., FOODY JOANNE, M., FRANKLIN, B., SANDERSON, B. & SOUTHARD, D. 2007. Core Components of Cardiac Rehabilitation/Secondary Prevention Programs: 2007 Update. *Circulation*, 115, 2675-2682.
- BAPOJE, S. R., BAHIA, A., HOKANSON, J. E., PETERSON, P. N., HEIDENREICH, P. A., LINDENFELD, J., ALLEN, L. A. & MASOUDI, F. A. 2013. Effects of mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists on the risk of sudden cardiac death in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Circ Heart Fail*, 6, 166-73.
- BARSHESHET, A., SHOTAN, A., COHEN, E., GARTY, M., GOLDENBERG, I., SANDACH, A., BEHAR, S., ZIMLICHMAN, E., LEWIS, B. S. & GOTTLIEB, S. 2010. Predictors of longterm (4-year) mortality in elderly and young patients with acute heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 12, 833-40.
- BAUERSACHS, J., JAISSER, F. & TOTO, R. 2015. Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist treatment in cardiac and renal diseases. *Hypertension*, 65, 257-63.
- BAUMGARTNER, R. N., KOEHLER, K. M., GALLAGHER, D., ROMERO, L., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., ROSS, R. R., GARRY, P. J. & LINDEMAN, R. D. 1998. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the elderly in New Mexico. *Am J Epidemiol*, 147, 755-63.
- BECKERS, P. J., DENOLLET, J., POSSEMIERS, N. M., WUYTS, F. L., VRINTS, C. J. & CONRAADS, V. M. 2008. Combined endurance-resistance training vs. endurance training in patients with chronic heart failure: a prospective randomized study. *Eur Heart J*, 29, 1858-66.
- BELLI, J. F., BACAL, F., BOCCHI, E. A. & GUIMARAES, G. V. 2011. Ergoreflex activity in heart failure. *Arq Bras Cardiol*, 97, 171-8.
- BERLINER, D. & BAUERSACHS, J. 2017. Current Drug Therapy in Chronic Heart Failure: the New Guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Korean circulation journal*, 47, 543-554.
- BERTERO, E. & MAACK, C. 2018. Metabolic remodelling in heart failure. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 15, 457-470.
- BERTRAM, R., GRAM PEDERSEN, M., LUCIANI, D. S. & SHERMAN, A. 2006. A simplified model for mitochondrial ATP production. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 243, 575-586.
- BHATIA, R. S., TU, J. V., LEE, D. S., AUSTIN, P. C., FANG, J., HAOUZI, A., GONG, Y. & LIU, P. P.
 2006. Outcome of Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction in a Population-Based Study. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 355, 260-269.
- BJARNASON-WEHRENS, B., NEBEL, R., JENSEN, K., HACKBUSCH, M., GRILLI, M., GIELEN, S., SCHWAAB, B. & RAUCH, B. 2019. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction: The Cardiac Rehabilitation Outcome Study in Heart Failure (CROS-HF): A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 2047487319854140.
- BOLGER, A. P. & AL-NASSER, F. 2003. Beta-blockers for chronic heart failure: surviving longer but feeling better? *Int J Cardiol*, 92, 1-8.

- BONET, S., AGUSTI, A., ARNAU, J. M., VIDAL, X., DIOGENE, E., GALVE, E. & LAPORTE, J. R. 2000. Beta-adrenergic blocking agents in heart failure: benefits of vasodilating and non-vasodilating agents according to patients' characteristics: a meta-analysis of clinical trials. Arch Intern Med, 160, 621-7.
- BOO, S. H., JOO, M. C., LEE, J. M., KIM, S. C., YU, Y. M. & KIM, M. S. 2019. Association between skeletal muscle mass and cardiorespiratory fitness in community-dwelling elderly men. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 31, 49-57.
- BORLAUG, B. A. & PAULUS, W. J. 2011. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment. *Eur Heart J*, 32, 670-9.
- BOTTINELLI, R. & REGGIANI, C. 2000. Human skeletal muscle fibres: molecular and functional diversity. *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology*, 73, 195-262.
- BRACH, M., MOSCHNY, A., BUCKER, B., KLAASSEN-MIELKE, R., TRAMPISCH, M., WILM, S., PLATEN, P. & HINRICHS, T. 2013. Recruiting hard-to-reach subjects for exercise interventions: a multi-centre and multi-stage approach targeting general practitioners and their community-dwelling and mobility-limited patients. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 10, 6611-29.
- BRANN, A., TRAN, H. & GREENBERG, B. 2019. Contemporary approach to treating heart failure. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*.
- BRAUNSTEIN, J. B., ANDERSON, G. F., GERSTENBLITH, G., WELLER, W., NIEFELD, M., HERBERT, R. & WU, A. W. 2003. Noncardiac comorbidity increases preventable hospitalizations and mortality among Medicare beneficiaries with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol, 42, 1226-33.
- BRAWNER, C. A., EHRMAN, J. K., SCHAIRER, J. R., CAO, J. J. & KETEYIAN, S. J. 2004. Predicting maximum heart rate among patients with coronary heart disease receiving betaadrenergic blockade therapy. *Am Heart J*, 148, 910-4.
- BREWSTER, U. C., SETARO, J. F. & PERAZELLA, M. A. 2003. The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: cardiorenal effects and implications for renal and cardiovascular disease states. *Am J Med Sci*, 326, 15-24.
- BRUBAKER PETER, H. & KITZMAN DALANE, W. 2011. Chronotropic Incompetence. *Circulation*, 123, 1010-1020.
- BRUBAKER, P. H., JOO, K. C., STEWART, K. P., FRAY, B., MOORE, B. & KITZMAN, D. W. 2006. Chronotropic incompetence and its contribution to exercise intolerance in older heart failure patients. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil*, 26, 86-9.
- BRUBAKER, P. H., MOORE, J. B., STEWART, K. P., WESLEY, D. J. & KITZMAN, D. W. 2009. Endurance exercise training in older patients with heart failure: results from a randomized, controlled, single-blind trial. J Am Geriatr Soc, 57, 1982-9.
- CARELL, E. S., MURALI, S., SCHULMAN, D. S., ESTRADA-QUINTERO, T. & URETSKY, B. F. 1994. Maximal exercise tolerance in chronic congestive heart failure. Relationship to resting left ventricular function. *Chest*, 106, 1746-52.
- CHATTERJEE, S., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G., ABBATE, A., D'ASCENZO, F., CASTAGNO, D., VAN TASSELL, B., MUKHERJEE, D. & LICHSTEIN, E. 2013. Benefits of beta blockers in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction: network meta-analysis. *Bmj*, 346, f55.
- CHEN, A. M. H., YEHLE, K. S., ALBERT, N. M., FERRARO, K. F., MASON, H. L., MURAWSKI, M. M. & PLAKE, K. S. 2014. Relationships between health literacy and heart failure knowledge, self-efficacy, and self-care adherence. *Research in social & administrative pharmacy : RSAP*, 10, 378-386.
- CHEN, A. M. H., YEHLE, K. S., PLAKE, K. S., MURAWSKI, M. M. & MASON, H. L. 2011. Health literacy and self-care of patients with heart failure. *The Journal of cardiovascular nursing*, 26, 446-451.
- CHEN, L., BOOLEY, S., KEATES, A. & STEWART, S. 2017. Snapshot of heart failure in Australia. Melbourne, Australia: Mary MacKillop Institute for Health Research, Australian Catholic University.
- CHEN, Y. M. & LI, Y. 2013. Safety and efficacy of exercise training in elderly heart failure patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Clin Pract*, 67, 1192-8.
- CHRIST, M., STORK, S., DORR, M., HEPPNER, H. J., MULLER, C., WACHTER, R. & RIEMER, U. 2016. Heart failure epidemiology 2000-2013: insights from the German Federal Health Monitoring System. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 18, 1009-18.
- CIBIS-II STUDY GROUP 1999. The Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study II (CIBIS-II): a randomised trial. *Lancet*, 353, 9-13.
- CICOIRA, M., ZANOLLA, L., FRANCESCHINI, L., ROSSI, A., GOLIA, G., ZAMBONI, M., TOSONI, P. & ZARDINI, P. 2001. Skeletal muscle mass independently predicts peak oxygen consumption and ventilatory response during exercise in noncachectic patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol, 37, 2080-5.
- CIPRIANO, G., JR., CIPRIANO, V. T., DA SILVA, V. Z., CIPRIANO, G. F., CHIAPPA, G. R., DE LIMA, A. C., CAHALIN, L. P. & ARENA, R. 2014. Aerobic exercise effect on prognostic markers for systolic heart failure patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart Fail Rev*, 19, 655-67.
- CLARK, A. L. & CLELAND, J. G. F. 2013. Causes and treatment of oedema in patients with heart failure. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, 10, 156-170.
- CLARK, A. L. & COATS, A. J. S. 1995. Chronotropic incompetence in chronic heart failure. International Journal of Cardiology, 49, 225-231.
- CLARK, R. A., MCLENNAN, S., DAWSON, A., WILKINSON, D. & STEWART, S. 2004. Uncovering a hidden epidemic: a study of the current burden of heart failure in Australia. *Heart Lung Circ*, 13, 266-73.
- COATS, A. J. 1996. The "muscle hypothesis" of chronic heart failure. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 28, 2255-62.
- COATS, A. J., CLARK, A. L., PIEPOLI, M., VOLTERRANI, M. & POOLE-WILSON, P. A. 1994. Symptoms and quality of life in heart failure: the muscle hypothesis. *Br Heart J*, 72, S36-9.
- COHEN-SOLAL, A. 1996. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing in chronic heart failure. In: Wasserman K, ed. ExerciseGas Exchange in Heart Disease. , New York, Futura.
- COHN, J. N., FERRARI, R. & SHARPE, N. 2000. Cardiac remodeling--concepts and clinical implications: a consensus paper from an international forum on cardiac remodeling.

Behalf of an International Forum on Cardiac Remodeling. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 35, 569-82.

- COMARMOND, C. & CACOUB, P. 2017. Myocarditis in auto-immune or auto-inflammatory diseases. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 16, 811-816.
- COMMISSION, P. 2005. Economic implications of an ageing Australia. *Productivity Commission, Government of Australia Research Reports*.
- CONRAD, N., JUDGE, A., TRAN, J., MOHSENI, H., HEDGECOTT, D., CRESPILLO, A. P., ALLISON, M., HEMINGWAY, H., CLELAND, J. G., MCMURRAY, J. J. V. & RAHIMI, K. 2018.
 Temporal trends and patterns in heart failure incidence: a population-based study of 4 million individuals. *The Lancet*, 391, 572-580.
- CONSENSUS TRIAL STUDY GROUP 1987. Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS). *N Engl J Med*, 316, 1429-35.
- COOK, C., COLE, G., ASARIA, P., JABBOUR, R. & FRANCIS, D. P. 2014. The annual global economic burden of heart failure. *International journal of cardiology*, 171, 368-376.
- CORNELIS, J., BECKERS, P., TAEYMANS, J., VRINTS, C. & VISSERS, D. 2016. Comparing exercise training modalities in heart failure: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 221, 867-76.
- CORRÀ, U., MEZZANI, A., BOSIMINI, E. & GIANNUZZI, P. 2004. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing and Prognosis in Chronic Heart Failure*: A Prognosticating Algorithm for the Individual Patient. *Chest*, 126, 942-950.
- CORRAO, G., GHIRARDI, A., IBRAHIM, B., MERLINO, L. & MAGGIONI, A. P. 2014. Burden of new hospitalization for heart failure: a population-based investigation from Italy. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, 16, 729-736.
- COUNCIL;, N. H. M. R. 2009. NHMRC additional levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. *NHMRC*.
- COWIE, M., ANKER, S., G. F. CLELAND, J., FELKER, G., FILIPPATOS, G., JAARSMA, T., JOURDAIN, P., KNIGHT, E., MASSIE, B., PONIKOWSKI, P. & LÓPEZ-SENDÓN, J. 2015. Improving care for patients with acute heart failure: Before, during and after hospitalization.
- CRESS, M., PORCARI, J. & FOSTER, C. 2015. INTERVAL TRAINING. ACSM's Health & Fitness Journal, 19.
- CROME, P., CHERUBINI, A. & ORISTRELL, J. 2014. The PREDICT (increasing the participation of the elderly in clinical trials) study: the charter and beyond. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol*, 7, 457-68.
- CRUZ-JENTOFT, A. J., BAEYENS, J. P., BAUER, J. M., BOIRIE, Y., CEDERHOLM, T., LANDI, F., MARTIN, F. C., MICHEL, J.-P., ROLLAND, Y. & SCHNEIDER, S. M. 2010. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosisReport of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older PeopleA. J. Cruz-Gentoft et al. *Age and ageing*, 39, 412-423.
- CRUZ-JENTOFT, A. J., LANDI, F., SCHNEIDER, S. M., ZÚÑIGA, C., ARAI, H., BOIRIE, Y., CHEN, L. K., FIELDING, R. A., MARTIN, F. C., MICHEL, J. P., SIEBER, C., STOUT, J. R., STUDENSKI,

S. A., VELLAS, B., WOO, J., ZAMBONI, M. & CEDERHOLM, T. 2014. Prevalence of and interventions for sarcopenia in ageing adults: a systematic review. Report of the International Sarcopenia Initiative (EWGSOP and IWGS). *Age Ageing*, 43, 748-59.

- CURTIS, L. H., WHELLAN, D. J., HAMMILL, B. G., HERNANDEZ, A. F., ANSTROM, K. J., SHEA, A. M. & SCHULMAN, K. A. 2008. Incidence and Prevalence of Heart Failure in Elderly Persons, 1994-2003. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 168, 418-424.
- CVETINOVIC, N., LONCAR, G. & FARKAS, J. 2016. Heart failure management in the elderly a public health challenge. *Wien Klin Wochenschr*, 128, 466-473.
- DE VOS, C., LI, X., VAN VLAENDEREN, I., SAKA, O., DENDALE, P., EYSSEN, M. & PAULUS, D. 2013. Participating or not in a cardiac rehabilitation programme: factors influencing a patient's decision. *Eur J Prev Cardiol,* 20, 341-8.
- DEKLEVA, M., DUNGEN, H. D., GELBRICH, G., INCROT, S., SUZIC LAZIC, J., PAVLOVIC KLEUT, M., TAHIROVIC, E. & WAAGSTEIN, F. 2012. Beta blockers therapy is associated with improved left ventricular systolic function and sustained exercise capacity in elderly patients with heart failure. CIBIS-ELD sub-study. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 24, 675-81.
- DEVKOTA, A., BAKHIT, A., DUFRESNE, A., OO, A. N., PARAJULI, P. & MANHAS, S. 2016. Arrhythmias and Electrocardiographic Changes in Systolic Heart Failure. *North American journal of medical sciences*, 8, 171-174.
- DHAKAL, B. P., MALHOTRA, R., MURPHY, R. M., PAPPAGIANOPOULOS, P. P., BAGGISH, A. L., WEINER, R. B., HOUSTIS, N. E., EISMAN, A. S., HOUGH, S. S. & LEWIS, G. D. 2015. Mechanisms of exercise intolerance in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: the role of abnormal peripheral oxygen extraction. *Circ Heart Fail*, *8*, 286-94.
- DIVISION;, U. N. P. 2017. World Population Ageing 2017. (ST/ESA/SER.A/397). . *In:* DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL AFFAIRS, P. D. (ed.). New York, NY.
- DREXLER, H., RIEDE, U., MUNZEL, T., KONIG, H., FUNKE, E. & JUST, H. 1992. Alterations of skeletal muscle in chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 85, 1751-9.
- DRISCOLL, A., DINH, D., PRIOR, D., KAYE, D., HARE, D., NEIL, C., LOCKWOOD, S., BRENNAN,
 A., LEFKOVITS, J., CARRUTHERS, H., AMERENA, J., COOKE, J. C., VADDADI, G.,
 NADURATA, V. & REID, C. M. 2020. The Effect of Transitional Care on 30-Day
 Outcomes in Patients Hospitalised With Acute Heart Failure. *Heart Lung Circ*.
- DUNLAY, S. M., WESTON, S. A., JACOBSEN, S. J. & ROGER, V. L. 2009. Risk Factors for Heart Failure: A Population-Based Case-Control Study. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 122, 1023-1028.
- DUSCHA, B. D., KRAUS, W. E., KETEYIAN, S. J., SULLIVAN, M. J., GREEN, H. J., SCHACHAT, F. H., PIPPEN, A. M., BRAWNER, C. A., BLANK, J. M. & ANNEX, B. H. 1999. Capillary density of skeletal muscle: A contributing mechanism for exercise intolerance in class II–III chronic heart failure independent of other peripheral alterations. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 33, 1956-1963.
- EHRLICH, J. R., NATTEL, S. & HOHNLOSER, S. H. 2002. Atrial fibrillation and congestive heart failure: specific considerations at the intersection of two common and important cardiac disease sets. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol*, **13**, 399-405.

EVANS, W. J. 1995. What is sarcopenia? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 50 Spec No, 5-8.

- EVANS, W. J., MORLEY, J. E., ARGILÉS, J., BALES, C., BARACOS, V., GUTTRIDGE, D., JATOI, A., KALANTAR-ZADEH, K., LOCHS, H. & MANTOVANI, G. 2008. Cachexia: a new definition. *Clinical nutrition*, 27, 793-799.
- FADEL, P. J. 2013. Neural control of the circulation during exercise in health and disease. *Front Physiol*, 4, 224.
- FERGUSON, B. 2014. ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription 9th Ed. 2014. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association,* 58, 328-328.
- FERNANDEZ, R. S., DAVIDSON, P., GRIFFITHS, R. & SALAMONSON, Y. 2010. Overcoming barriers to guideline implementation: the case of cardiac rehabilitation. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 19, e15.
- FIELDING, R. A., VELLAS, B., EVANS, W. J., BHASIN, S., MORLEY, J. E., NEWMAN, A. B., ABELLAN VAN KAN, G., ANDRIEU, S., BAUER, J., BREUILLE, D., CEDERHOLM, T., CHANDLER, J., DE MEYNARD, C., DONINI, L., HARRIS, T., KANNT, A., KEIME GUIBERT, F., ONDER, G., PAPANICOLAOU, D., ROLLAND, Y., ROOKS, D., SIEBER, C., SOUHAMI, E., VERLAAN, S. & ZAMBONI, M. 2011. Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International working group on sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 12, 249-56.
- FLATHER, M. D., SHIBATA, M. C., COATS, A. J., VAN VELDHUISEN, D. J., PARKHOMENKO, A., BORBOLA, J., COHEN-SOLAL, A., DUMITRASCU, D., FERRARI, R., LECHAT, P., SOLER-SOLER, J., TAVAZZI, L., SPINAROVA, L., TOMAN, J., BOHM, M., ANKER, S. D., THOMPSON, S. G. & POOLE-WILSON, P. A. 2005. Randomized trial to determine the effect of nebivolol on mortality and cardiovascular hospital admission in elderly patients with heart failure (SENIORS). *Eur Heart J*, 26, 215-25.
- FOX, K. F., COWIE, M. R., WOOD, D. A., COATS, A. J. S., GIBBS, J. S. R., UNDERWOOD, S. R., TURNER, R. M., POOLE-WILSON, P. A., DAVIES, S. W. & SUTTON, G. C. 2001. Coronary artery disease as the cause of incident heart failure in the population. *European Heart Journal*, 22, 228-236.
- FRANCIOSA, J. A., PARK, M. & LEVINE, T. B. 1981. Lack of correlation between exercise capacity and indexes of resting left ventricular performance in heart failure. *Am J Cardiol*, 47, 33-9.
- FRANCIS, G. S., COHN, J. N., JOHNSON, G., RECTOR, T. S., GOLDMAN, S. & SIMON, A. 1993. Plasma norepinephrine, plasma renin activity, and congestive heart failure. Relations to survival and the effects of therapy in V-HeFT II. The V-HeFT VA Cooperative Studies Group. *Circulation*, 87, VI40-8.
- FRIED, L. P., TANGEN, C. M., WALSTON, J., NEWMAN, A. B., HIRSCH, C., GOTTDIENER, J., SEEMAN, T., TRACY, R., KOP, W. J. & BURKE, G. 2001. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 56, M146-M157.
- FUKUDA, T., MATSUMOTO, A., KURANO, M., TAKANO, H., IIDA, H., MORITA, T., YAMASHITA, H., HIRATA, Y., NAGAI, R. & NAKAJIMA, T. 2012. Cardiac output response to exercise in chronic cardiac failure patients. *Int Heart J*, 53, 293-8.
- FULSTER, S., TACKE, M., SANDEK, A., EBNER, N., TSCHOPE, C., DOEHNER, W., ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2013. Muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure:

results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF). *Eur Heart J*, 34, 512-9.

- FÜLSTER, S., TACKE, M., SANDEK, A., EBNER, N., TSCHÖPE, C., DOEHNER, W., ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2012. Muscle wasting in patients with chronic heart failure: results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure (SICA-HF). European Heart Journal, 34, 512-519.
- GE, Z., LI, A., MCNAMARA, J., DOS REMEDIOS, C. & LAL, S. 2019. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: translation to human studies. *Heart Fail Rev*, 24, 743-758.
- GINGRICH, A., VOLKERT, D., KIESSWETTER, E., THOMANEK, M., BACH, S., SIEBER, C. C. & ZOPF, Y. 2019. Prevalence and overlap of sarcopenia, frailty, cachexia and malnutrition in older medical inpatients. *BMC Geriatr*, 19, 120.
- GIRI, S., THOMPSON, P. D., KIERNAN, F. J., CLIVE, J., FRAM, D. B., MITCHEL, J. F., HIRST, J. A., MCKAY, R. G. & WATERS, D. D. 1999. Clinical and Angiographic Characteristics of Exertion-Related Acute Myocardial Infarction. JAMA, 282, 1731-1736.
- GITT ANSELM, K., WASSERMAN, K., KILKOWSKI, C., KLEEMANN, T., KILKOWSKI, A., BANGERT, M., SCHNEIDER, S., SCHWARZ, A. & SENGES, J. 2002. Exercise Anaerobic Threshold and Ventilatory Efficiency Identify Heart Failure Patients for High Risk of Early Death. *Circulation*, 106, 3079-3084.
- GIULIANO, C., COWIE, K., SALIBA, J., SCHOLES, E., FISHER, K., COX, N. & NEIL, C. 2015. Barriers to exercise rehabilitation in the older adult with heart failure. *Heart, Lung and Circulation,* 24, S450.
- GIULIANO, C., LEVINGER, I., VOGRIN, S., NEIL, C. J. & ALLEN, J. D. 2020. PRIME-HF: Novel Exercise for Older Patients with Heart Failure. A Pilot Randomized Controlled Study. J Am Geriatr Soc, n/a.
- GIULIANO, C., PARMENTER, B. J., BAKER, M. K., MITCHELL, B. L., WILLIAMS, A. D., LYNDON,
 K., MAIR, T., MAIORANA, A., SMART, N. A. & LEVINGER, I. 2017. Cardiac
 rehabilitation for patients with coronary artery disease: a practical guide to enhance
 patient outcomes through continuity of care. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Cardiology*, 11, 1179546817710028.
- GOLWALA, H., PANDEY, A., JU, C., BUTLER, J., YANCY, C., BHATT, D. L., HERNANDEZ, A. F. & FONAROW, G. C. 2015. Temporal Trends and Factors Associated With Cardiac Rehabilitation Referral Among Patients Hospitalized With Heart Failure: Findings From Get With The Guidelines-Heart Failure Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol, 66, 917-26.
- GOMES-NETO, M., DURAES, A. R., CONCEICAO, L. S. R., ROEVER, L., LIU, T., TSE, G., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G., GOES, A. L. B., ALVES, I. G. N., ELLINGSEN, O. & CARVALHO, V. O. 2019a. Effect of Aerobic Exercise on Peak Oxygen Consumption, VE/VCO2 Slope, and Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Heart Failure with Preserved Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 21, 45.
- GOMES-NETO, M., DURÃES, A. R., CONCEIÇÃO, L. S. R., ROEVER, L., LIU, T., TSE, G., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G., GOES, A. L. B., ALVES, I. G. N., ELLINGSEN, Ø. & CARVALHO, V. O. 2019b. Effect of Aerobic Exercise on Peak Oxygen Consumption, VE/VCO(2) Slope, and

Health-Related Quality of Life in Patients with Heart Failure with Preserved Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 21, 45.

- GOMES NETO, M., DURÃES, A. R., CONCEIÇÃO, L. S. R., SAQUETTO, M. B., ELLINGSEN, Ø. & CARVALHO, V. O. 2018. High intensity interval training versus moderate intensity continuous training on exercise capacity and quality of life in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 261, 134-141.
- GOODPASTER, B. H., PARK, S. W., HARRIS, T. B., KRITCHEVSKY, S. B., NEVITT, M., SCHWARTZ,
 A. V., SIMONSICK, E. M., TYLAVSKY, F. A., VISSER, M. & NEWMAN, A. B. 2006. The loss of skeletal muscle strength, mass, and quality in older adults: the health, aging and body composition study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 61, 1059-64.
- GUZMÁN MENTESANA, G., BÁEZ, A. L., LO PRESTI, M. S., DOMÍNGUEZ, R., CÓRDOBA, R., BAZÁN, C., STRAUSS, M., FRETES, R., RIVAROLA, H. W. & PAGLINI-OLIVA, P. 2014. Functional and Structural Alterations of Cardiac and Skeletal Muscle Mitochondria in Heart Failure Patients. *Archives of Medical Research*, 45, 237-246.
- HAJDUK, A. M., LEMON, S. C., MCMANUS, D. D., LESSARD, D. M., GURWITZ, J. H., SPENCER,
 F. A., GOLDBERG, R. J. & SACZYNSKI, J. S. 2013. Cognitive impairment and self-care in heart failure. *Clinical epidemiology*, 5, 407-416.
- HAMMOND, C. A., BLADES, N. J., CHAUDHRY, S. I., DODSON, J. A., LONGSTRETH, W. T., JR., HECKBERT, S. R., PSATY, B. M., ARNOLD, A. M., DUBLIN, S., SITLANI, C. M., GARDIN, J. M., THIELKE, S. M., NANNA, M. G., GOTTESMAN, R. F., NEWMAN, A. B. & THACKER, E. L. 2018. Long-Term Cognitive Decline After Newly Diagnosed Heart Failure: Longitudinal Analysis in the CHS (Cardiovascular Health Study). *Circ Heart Fail*, 11, e004476.
- HANNAN, A. L., HING, W., CLIMSTEIN, M., COOMBES, J. S., FURNESS, J., JAYASINGHE, R. & BYRNES, J. 2018. Australian cardiac rehabilitation exercise parameter characteristics and perceptions of high-intensity interval training: a cross-sectional survey. *Open Access J Sports Med*, 9, 79-89.
- HAWKINS, M. A. W., DOLANSKY, M. A., LEVIN, J. B., SCHAEFER, J. T., GUNSTAD, J., REDLE, J.
 D., JOSEPHSON, R. & HUGHES, J. W. 2016. Cognitive function and health literacy are independently associated with heart failure knowledge. *Heart & Lung*, 45, 386-391.
- HAWKINS, N. M., PETRIE, M. C., JHUND, P. S., CHALMERS, G. W., DUNN, F. G. & MCMURRAY, J. J. V. 2009. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: diagnostic pitfalls and epidemiology. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, **11**, 130-139.
- HAYKOWSKY, M. J., TIMMONS, M. P., KRUGER, C., MCNEELY, M., TAYLOR, D. A. & CLARK, A.
 M. 2013. Meta-analysis of aerobic interval training on exercise capacity and systolic function in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fractions. *Am J Cardiol*, 111, 1466-9.
- HERDY, A. H., LOPEZ-JIMENEZ, F., TERZIC, C. P., MILANI, M., STEIN, R., CARVALHO, T., SERRA, S., ARAUJO, C. G., ZEBALLOS, P. C., ANCHIQUE, C. V., BURDIAT, G., GONZALEZ, K., GONZALEZ, G., FERNANDEZ, R., SANTIBANEZ, C., RODRIGUEZ-ESCUDERO, J. P. & ILARRAZA-LOMELI, H. 2014. South American guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention and rehabilitation. *Arg Bras Cardiol*, 103, 1-31.

- HIGGINBOTHAM, M. B., MORRIS, K. G., CONN, E. H., COLEMAN, R. E. & COBB, F. R. 1983. Determinants of variable exercise performance among patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 51, 52-60.
- HIGGINBOTHAM, M. B., MORRIS, K. G., WILLIAMS, R. S., MCHALE, P. A., COLEMAN, R. E. & COBB, F. R. 1986. Regulation of stroke volume during submaximal and maximal upright exercise in normal man. *Circ Res*, 58, 281-91.
- HO, K. K., ANDERSON, K. M., KANNEL, W. B., GROSSMAN, W. & LEVY, D. 1993a. Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham Heart Study subjects. *Circulation*, 88, 107-15.
- HO, K. K., PINSKY, J. L., KANNEL, W. B. & LEVY, D. 1993b. The epidemiology of heart failure: the Framingham Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 22, 6a-13a.
- HORNIG, B., ARAKAWA, N. & DREXLER, H. 1998. Effect of ACE inhibition on endothelial dysfunction in patients with chronic heart failure. *European heart journal,* 19, G48-53.
- HUGHES, V. A., FRONTERA, W. R., WOOD, M., EVANS, W. J., DALLAL, G. E., ROUBENOFF, R. & FIATARONE SINGH, M. A. 2001a. Longitudinal muscle strength changes in older adults: influence of muscle mass, physical activity, and health. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 56, B209-17.
- HUGHES, V. A., FRONTERA, W. R., WOOD, M., EVANS, W. J., DALLAL, G. E., ROUBENOFF, R. & SINGH, M. A. F. 2001b. Longitudinal Muscle Strength Changes in Older Adults: Influence of Muscle Mass, Physical Activity, and Health. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series A*, 56, B209-B217.
- HÜLSMANN, M., QUITTAN, M., BERGER, R., CREVENNA, R., SPRINGER, C., NUHR, M., MÖRTL, D., MOSER, P. & PACHER, R. 2004. Muscle strength as a predictor of long-term survival in severe congestive heart failure. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, 6, 101-107.
- HUNT, S. A., ABRAHAM, W. T., CHIN, M. H., FELDMAN, A. M., FRANCIS, G. S., GANIATS, T. G., JESSUP, M., KONSTAM, M. A., MANCINI, D. M., MICHL, K., OATES, J. A., RAHKO, P. S., SILVER, M. A., STEVENSON, L. W. & YANCY, C. W. 2009. 2009 Focused Update Incorporated Into the ACC/AHA 2005 Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Heart Failure in Adults. *Circulation*, 119, e391.
- HWANG, C., CHIEN, C. & WU, Y. 2010. Resistance training increases 6-minute walk distance in people with chronic heart failure: a systematic review. *Journal of Physiotherapy (Australian Physiotherapy Association),* 56, 87-96 10p.
- IACOVELLI, R., CICCARESE, C., BRIA, E., ROMANO, M., FANTINEL, E., BIMBATTI, D., MURAGLIA, A., PORCARO, A. B., SIRACUSANO, S., BRUNELLI, M., MAZZAROTTO, R., ARTIBANI, W. & TORTORA, G. 2018. The Cardiovascular Toxicity of Abiraterone and Enzalutamide in Prostate Cancer. *Clin Genitourin Cancer*, 16, e645-e653.
- INC, S. 2010. SPSS (Version 23). SPSS Inc Chicago, IL.
- INGJER, F. 1979. Effects of endurance training on muscle fibre ATP-ase activity, capillary supply and mitochondrial content in man. *The Journal of Physiology*, 294, 419-432.

- ISMAIL, H., MCFARLANE, J. & SMART, N. A. 2013. Is exercise training beneficial for heart failure patients taking beta-adrenergic blockers? A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Congest Heart Fail*, 19, 61-9.
- ISMAIL, H., MCFARLANE, J. R., DIEBERG, G. & SMART, N. A. 2014. Exercise training program characteristics and magnitude of change in functional capacity of heart failure patients. *Int J Cardiol*, 171, 62-5.
- JANKOWSKA, E. A., WEGRZYNOWSKA, K., SUPERLAK, M., NOWAKOWSKA, K., LAZORCZYK,
 M., BIEL, B., KUSTRZYCKA-KRATOCHWIL, D., PIOTROWSKA, K., BANASIAK, W.,
 WOZNIEWSKI, M. & PONIKOWSKI, P. 2008. The 12-week progressive quadriceps
 resistance training improves muscle strength, exercise capacity and quality of life in
 patients with stable chronic heart failure. *Int J Cardiol*, 130, 36-43.
- JANSSEN, I., HEYMSFIELD, S. B. & ROSS, R. 2002. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. J Am Geriatr Soc, 50, 889-96.
- JANSSEN, I., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., WANG, Z. & ROSS, R. 2000. Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 89, 81-88.
- JHUND, P. S., MACINTYRE, K., SIMPSON, C. R., LEWSEY, J. D., STEWART, S., REDPATH, A., CHALMERS, J. W., CAPEWELL, S. & MCMURRAY, J. J. 2009. Long-term trends in first hospitalization for heart failure and subsequent survival between 1986 and 2003: a population study of 5.1 million people. *Circulation*, 119, 515-23.
- KARLSDOTTIR, A. E., FOSTER, C., PORCARI, J. P., PALMER-MCLEAN, K., WHITE-KUBE, R. & BACKES, R. C. 2002. Hemodynamic responses during aerobic and resistance exercise. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil*, 22, 170-7.
- KARLSSON, E., FARAHNAK, P., FRANZEN, E., NYGREN-BONNIER, M., DRONKERS, J., VAN MEETEREN, N. & RYDWIK, E. 2019. Feasibility of preoperative supervised homebased exercise in older adults undergoing colorectal cancer surgery - A randomized controlled design. *PLoS One*, 14, e0219158.
- KEMP, C. D. & CONTE, J. V. 2012. The pathophysiology of heart failure. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, 21, 365-371.
- KETEYIAN, S. J., KITZMAN, D., ZANNAD, F., LANDZBERG, J., ARNOLD, J. M., BRUBAKER, P., BRAWNER, C. A., BENSIMHON, D., HELLKAMP, A. S. & EWALD, G. 2012. Predicting maximal HR in heart failure patients on β-blockade therapy. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 44, 371-376.
- KHAN, M. S., FONAROW, G. C., AHMED, A., GREENE, S. J., VADUGANATHAN, M., KHAN, H., MARTI, C., GHEORGHIADE, M. & BUTLER, J. 2017. Dose of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors and Angiotensin Receptor Blockers and Outcomes in Heart Failure: A Meta-Analysis. *Circ Heart Fail*, 10.
- KHATIBZADEH, S., FARZADFAR, F., OLIVER, J., EZZATI, M. & MORAN, A. 2013. Worldwide risk factors for heart failure: A systematic review and pooled analysis. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 168, 1186-1194.
- KIM, H., HIRANO, H., EDAHIRO, A., OHARA, Y., WATANABE, Y., KOJIMA, N., KIM, M., HOSOI, E., YOSHIDA, Y., YOSHIDA, H. & SHINKAI, S. 2016. Sarcopenia: Prevalence and

associated factors based on different suggested definitions in community-dwelling older adults. *Geriatr Gerontol Int,* 16 Suppl 1, 110-22.

- KIM, K.-J., CHO, H.-J., KIM, M.-S., KANG, J., KIM, K.-H., KIM, D., SEO, S. M., YANG, J. H., CHA, M.-J. & CHOI, J. I. 2019. Focused update of 2016 Korean Society of Heart Failure guidelines for the management of chronic heart failure. *International Journal of Heart Failure*, 1, 4-24.
- KOCH, M., DOUARD, H. & BROUSTET, J. P. 1992. The benefit of graded physical exercise in chronic heart failure. *CHEST*, 101, 231S-5S 1p.
- KOMAJDA, M., HANON, O., HOCHADEL, M., LOPEZ-SENDON, J. L., FOLLATH, F., PONIKOWSKI, P., HARJOLA, V. P., DREXLER, H., DICKSTEIN, K., TAVAZZI, L. & NIEMINEN, M. 2009.
 Contemporary management of octogenarians hospitalized for heart failure in Europe: Euro Heart Failure Survey II. *Eur Heart J*, 30, 478-86.
- KOSHIKAWA, M., HARADA, M., NOYAMA, S., KIYONO, K., MOTOIKE, Y., NOMURA, Y., NISHIMURA, A., IZAWA, H., WATANABE, E. & OZAKI, Y. 2020. Association between inflammation and skeletal muscle proteolysis, skeletal mass and strength in elderly heart failure patients and their prognostic implications. *BMC cardiovascular disorders*, 20, 228-228.
- KOTECHA, D., HOLMES, J., KRUM, H., ALTMAN, D. G., MANZANO, L., CLELAND, J. G., LIP, G.
 Y., COATS, A. J., ANDERSSON, B., KIRCHHOF, P., VON LUEDER, T. G., WEDEL, H.,
 ROSANO, G., SHIBATA, M. C., RIGBY, A. & FLATHER, M. D. 2014. Efficacy of beta
 blockers in patients with heart failure plus atrial fibrillation: an individual-patient
 data meta-analysis. *Lancet*, 384, 2235-43.
- KOZAK, L. J., DEFRANCES, C. J. & HALL, M. J. 2006. National hospital discharge survey: 2004 annual summary with detailed diagnosis and procedure data. *Vital Health Stat 13*, 1-209.
- KYLE, U. G., GENTON, L., HANS, D., KARSEGARD, L., SLOSMAN, D. O. & PICHARD, C. 2001. Age-related differences in fat-free mass, skeletal muscle, body cell mass and fat mass between 18 and 94 years. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 55, 663-672.
- LAINSCAK, M., HODOSCEK, L. M., DUNGEN, H. D., RAUCHHAUS, M., DOEHNER, W., ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2009. The burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients hospitalized with heart failure. *Wien Klin Wochenschr*, 121, 309-13.
- LANDI, F., LIPEROTI, R., RUSSO, A., GIOVANNINI, S., TOSATO, M., CAPOLUONGO, E., BERNABEI, R. & ONDER, G. 2012. Sarcopenia as a risk factor for falls in elderly individuals: results from the ilSIRENTE study. *Clin Nutr*, 31, 652-8.
- LE, H. H., EL-KHATIB, C., MOMBLED, M., GUITARIAN, F., AL-GOBARI, M., FALL, M., JANIAUD,
 P., MARCHANT, I., CUCHERAT, M., BEJAN-ANGOULVANT, T. & GUEYFFIER, F. 2016.
 Impact of Aldosterone Antagonists on Sudden Cardiac Death Prevention in Heart
 Failure and Post-Myocardial Infarction Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *PLoS One*, 11, e0145958.
- LEE, C. S., GELOW, J. M., BIDWELL, J. T., MUDD, J. O., GREEN, J. K., JURGENS, C. Y. & WOODRUFF-PAK, D. S. 2013. Blunted responses to heart failure symptoms in adults with mild cognitive dysfunction. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*, 28, 534-40.

- LEE, J. K. & SON, Y. J. 2018. Gender Differences in the Impact of Cognitive Function on Health Literacy among Older Adults with Heart Failure. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 15.
- LEE, S. & SPENCER, A. 2001. Beta-blockers to reduce mortality in patients with systolic dysfunction: a meta-analysis. *J Fam Pract*, 50, 499-504.
- LEVINGER, I., BRONKS, R., CODY, D. V., LINTON, I. & DAVIE, A. 2005. The effect of resistance training on left ventricular function and structure of patients with chronic heart failure. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 105, 159-163.
- LEVINGER, I. & DUQUE, G. 2021. Sarcopenia: Innovation and Challenges. J Am Med Dir Assoc, 22, 728-730.
- LEVINGER, I., SHAW, C. S., STEPTO, N. K., CASSAR, S., MCAINCH, A. J., CHEETHAM, C. & MAIORANA, A. J. 2015. What Doesn't Kill You Makes You Fitter: A Systematic Review of High-Intensity Interval Exercise for Patients with Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases. *Clin Med Insights Cardiol*, 9, 53-63.
- LEVY, D., KENCHAIAH, S., LARSON, M. G., BENJAMIN, E. J., KUPKA, M. J., HO, K. K. L., MURABITO, J. M. & VASAN, R. S. 2002. Long-Term Trends in the Incidence of and Survival with Heart Failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347, 1397-1402.
- LEVY, D., LARSON, M. G., VASAN, R. S., KANNEL, W. B. & HO, K. K. 1996. The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure. *Jama*, 275, 1557-62.
- LEVY, W. C., MOZAFFARIAN, D., LINKER, D. T., SUTRADHAR, S. C., ANKER, S. D., CROPP, A. B., ANAND, I., MAGGIONI, A., BURTON, P., SULLIVAN, M. D., PITT, B., POOLE-WILSON, P. A., MANN, D. L. & PACKER, M. 2006. The Seattle Heart Failure Model. *Circulation*, 113, 1424-1433.
- LI, J. & GU, J. 2018. Cardiovascular Toxicities with Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in Cancer Patients: A Meta-Analysis of 77 Randomized Controlled Trials. *Clin Drug Investig*.
- LIEN CHRISTOPHER, T. C., GILLESPIE NEIL, D., STRUTHERS ALLAN, D. & MCMURDO MARION, E. T. 2002. Heart failure in frail elderly patients: diagnostic difficulties, co morbidities, polypharmacy and treatment dilemmas. *European Journal of Heart Failure*, 4, 91-98.
- LIPKIN, D. P., JONES, D. A., ROUND, J. M. & POOLE-WILSON, P. A. 1988. Abnormalities of skeletal muscle in patients with chronic heart failure. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 18, 187-195.
- LITTLE, B. C. 1994. The Criteria Committee of the New York Heart Association. Nomenclature and Criteria for the Diagnosis of Diseases of the Heart and Great Vessels. , Boston, Mass.
- LONDONO, K. L., FORMIGA, F., CHIVITE, D., MORENO-GONZALEZ, R., MIGONE DE AMICIS, M.
 & CORBELLA, X. 2018. Prognostic influence of prior chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients admitted for their first episode of acute heart failure. *Intern Emerg Med*, 13, 351-357.
- LONG, L., MORDI, I. R., BRIDGES, C., SAGAR, V. A., DAVIES, E. J., COATS, A. J., DALAL, H., REES, K., SINGH, S. J. & TAYLOR, R. S. 2019. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for adults with heart failure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, **1**, Cd003331.

- MACNEE, W., RABINOVICH, R. A. & CHOUDHURY, G. 2014. Ageing and the border between health and disease. *Eur Respir J*, 44, 1332-52.
- MAGNUSSON, G., KAIJSER, L., RONG, H., ISBERG, B., SYLVÉN, C. & SALTIN, B. 1996. Exercise capacity in heart failure patients: relative importance of heart and skeletal muscle. *Clinical Physiology*, 16, 183-195.
- MANCINI, D. M., COYLE, E., COGGAN, A., BELTZ, J., FERRARO, N., MONTAIN, S. & WILSON, J.
 R. 1989. Contribution of intrinsic skeletal muscle changes to 31P NMR skeletal muscle metabolic abnormalities in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 80, 1338-1346.
- MANCINI, D. M., EISEN, H., KUSSMAUL, W., MULL, R., EDMONDS JR, L. H. & WILSON, J. R. 1991. Value of peak exercise oxygen consumption for optimal timing of cardiac transplantation in ambulatory patients with heart failure. *Circulation*, 83, 778-786.
- MANCINI, D. M., WALTER, G., REICHEK, N., LENKINSKI, R., MCCULLY, K. K., MULLEN, J. L. & WILSON, J. R. 1992. Contribution of skeletal muscle atrophy to exercise intolerance and altered muscle metabolism in heart failure. *Circulation*, 85, 1364-73.
- MANDIC, S., TYMCHAK, W., KIM, D., DAUB, B., QUINNEY, H. A., TAYLOR, D., AL-KURTASS, S.
 & HAYKOWSKY, M. J. 2009. Effects of aerobic or aerobic and resistance training on cardiorespiratory and skeletal muscle function in heart failure: a randomized controlled pilot trial. *Clin Rehabil*, 23, 207-16.
- MARKMAN, T. M. & MARKMAN, M. 2018. Cardio-Oncology: mechanisms of cardiovascular toxicity. *F1000Research*, **7**, 113-113.
- MARTINDALE, J. L., WAKAI, A., COLLINS, S. P., LEVY, P. D., DIERCKS, D., HIESTAND, B. C., FERMANN, G. J., DESOUZA, I. & SINERT, R. 2016. Diagnosing Acute Heart Failure in the Emergency Department: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Acad Emerg Med*, 23, 223-42.
- MASARONE, D., LIMONGELLI, G., RUBINO, M., VALENTE, F., VASTARELLA, R., AMMENDOLA, E., GRAVINO, R., VERRENGIA, M., SALERNO, G. & PACILEO, G. 2017. Management of Arrhythmias in Heart Failure. *Journal of cardiovascular development and disease*, 4, 3.
- MCINTOSH, N., FIX, G. M., ALLSUP, K., CHARNS, M., MCDANNOLD, S., MANNING, K. & FORMAN, D. E. 2017. A Qualitative Study of Participation in Cardiac Rehabilitation Programs in an Integrated Health Care System. *Mil Med*, 182, e1757-e1763.
- MCKELVIE, R. S., TEO, K. K., MCCARTNEY, N., HUMEN, D., MONTAGUE, T. & YUSUF, S. 1995. Effects of exercise training in patients with congestive heart failure: A critical review. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 25, 789.
- MELTON, L. J., 3RD, KHOSLA, S., CROWSON, C. S., O'CONNOR, M. K., O'FALLON, W. M. & RIGGS, B. L. 2000. Epidemiology of sarcopenia. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 48, 625-30.
- MERIT-HF INVESTIGATORS 1999. Frontiers in congestive heart failure: Effect of Metoprolol CR/XL in chronic heart failure: Metoprolol CR/XL Randomised Intervention Trial in Congestive Heart Failure (MERIT-HF). *Congest Heart Fail*, 5, 184-185.
- MEYER, K., HAJRIC, R., WESTBROOK, S., HAAG-WILDI, S., HOLTKAMP, R., LEYK, D. & SCHNELLBACHER, K. 1999. Hemodynamic responses during leg press exercise in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. *Am J Cardiol*, 83, 1537-43.

- MEZZANI, A., CORRA, U., BAROFFIO, C., BOSIMINI, E. & GIANNUZZI, P. 2000. Habitual activities and peak aerobic capacity in patients with asymptomatic and symptomatic left ventricular dysfunction. *Chest*, 117, 1291-9.
- MIDDLEKAUFF, H. R. 2010. Making the case for skeletal myopathy as the major limitation of exercise capacity in heart failure. *Circ Heart Fail*, 3, 537-46.
- MILANOVIC, Z., SPORIS, G. & WESTON, M. 2015. Effectiveness of High-Intensity Interval Training (HIT) and Continuous Endurance Training for VO2max Improvements: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials. *Sports Med*, 45, 1469-81.
- MIMS ONLINE 2020. Cardiovascular System Beta-adrenergic blocking agents.
- MITCHELL, J. H. & WILDENTHAL, K. 1974. Static (isometric) exercise and the heart: physiological and clinical considerations. *Annu Rev Med*, 25, 369-81.
- MOGENSEN, U. M., ERSBOLL, M., ANDERSEN, M., ANDERSSON, C., HASSAGER, C., TORP-PEDERSEN, C., GUSTAFSSON, F. & KOBER, L. 2011. Clinical characteristics and major comorbidities in heart failure patients more than 85 years of age compared with younger age groups. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 13, 1216-23.
- MOHAMED, H. A. 2007. Tachycardia-induced Cardiomyopathy (Tachycardiomyopathy). *The Libyan journal of medicine*, **2**, 26-29.
- MONTERO, D. & FLAMMER, A. J. 2018. Effect of Beta-blocker Treatment on V O2peak in Patients with Heart Failure. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 50, 889-896.
- MORLEY, J. E., ANKER, S. D. & VON HAEHLING, S. 2014. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical impact of sarcopenia: facts, numbers, and epidemiology-update 2014. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*, **5**, 253-9.
- MORROW, D., CLARK, D., TU, W., WU, J., WEINER, M., STEINLEY, D. & MURRAY, M. D. 2006. Correlates of health literacy in patients with chronic heart failure. *Gerontologist*, 46, 669-76.
- MOSTERD, A. & HOES, A. W. 2007. Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. *Heart*, 93, 1137.
- MOSTERD, A., HOES, A. W., DE BRUYNE, M. C., DECKERS, J. W., LINKER, D. T., HOFMAN, A. & GROBBEE, D. E. 1999. Prevalence of heart failure and left ventricular dysfunction in the general population; The Rotterdam Study. *Eur Heart J*, 20, 447-55.
- MUSCARITOLI, M., ANKER, S. D., ARGILÉS, J., AVERSA, Z., BAUER, J. M., BIOLO, G., BOIRIE, Y., BOSAEUS, I., CEDERHOLM, T., COSTELLI, P., FEARON, K. C., LAVIANO, A., MAGGIO, M., FANELLI, F. R., SCHNEIDER, S. M., SCHOLS, A. & SIEBER, C. C. 2010. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics”. *Clinical Nutrition*, 29, 154-159.
- NATIONAL HEART FOUNDATION OF AUSTRALIA & AUSTRALIAN CARDIAC REHABILITATION ASSOCIATION. 2004. *Recommended Framework for Cardiac Rehabilitation*. [Online]. Available:

https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/images/uploads/publications/Recommendedframework.pdf [Accessed 3/10/16].

- NATIONS, U. 2014. World Population Prospects, 2017 Revision; 2017; custom data acquired via website. *New York: United Nations*.
- NAZARET, C., HEISKE, M., THURLEY, K. & MAZAT, J.-P. 2009. Mitochondrial energetic metabolism: A simplified model of TCA cycle with ATP production. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 258, 455-464.
- NEWTON, P. J., DAVIDSON, P. M., REID, C. M., KRUM, H., HAYWARD, C., SIBBRITT, D. W., BANKS, E. & MACDONALD, P. S. 2016. Acute heart failure admissions in New South Wales and the Australian Capital Territory: the NSW HF Snapshot Study. *Med J Aust*, 204, 113.e1-8.
- NIEWIADOMSKI, W., PILIS, W., LASKOWSKA, D., GASIOROWSKA, A., CYBULSKI, G. & STRASZ, A. 2012. Effects of a brief Valsalva manoeuvre on hemodynamic response to strength exercises. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging*, 32, 145-57.
- NILSSON, B. B., WESTHEIM, A. & RISBERG, M. A. 2008. Long-term effects of a group-based high-intensity aerobic interval-training program in patients with chronic heart failure. *Am J Cardiol*, 102, 1220-4.
- NING, X. H., ZHANG, J., LIU, J., YE, Y., CHEN, S. H., FROM, A. H., BACHE, R. J. & PORTMAN, M. A. 2000. Signaling and expression for mitochondrial membrane proteins during left ventricular remodeling and contractile failure after myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol, 36, 282-7.
- NOWOSSADECK, E. 2012. Population aging and hospitalization for chronic disease in Germany. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 109, 151-7.
- O'CONNOR, C. M., WHELLAN, D. J., LEE, K. L., KETEYIAN, S. J., COOPER, L. S., ELLIS, S. J., LEIFER, E. S., KRAUS, W. E., KITZMAN, D. W., BLUMENTHAL, J. A., RENDALL, D. S., MILLER, N. H., FLEG, J. L., SCHULMAN, K. A., MCKELVIE, R. S., ZANNAD, F., PINA, I. L. & INVESTIGATORS, H.-A. 2009. Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: HF-ACTION randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 301, 1439-50.
- O'NEILL, J. O., YOUNG, J. B., POTHIER, C. E. & LAUER, M. S. 2005. Peak oxygen consumption as a predictor of death in patients with heart failure receiving beta-blockers. *Circulation*, 111, 2313-8.
- OHLMEIER, C., MIKOLAJCZYK, R., FRICK, J., PRÜTZ, F., HAVERKAMP, W. & GARBE, E. 2015. Incidence, prevalence and 1-year all-cause mortality of heart failure in Germany: a study based on electronic healthcare data of more than six million persons. *Clin Res Cardiol*, 104, 688-96.
- OKITA, K., YONEZAWA, K., NISHIJIMA, H., HANADA, A., OHTSUBO, M., KOHYA, T., MURAKAMI, T. & KITABATAKE, A. 1998. Skeletal muscle metabolism limits exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. *Circulation*, 98, 1886-91.
- OPIE, L. H. & GERSH, B. J. 2012. *Drugs for the heart,* Philadelphia, PA, Elsevier Inc.
- ORSBORNE, C., CHAGGAR, P. S., SHAW, S. M. & WILLIAMS, S. G. 2017. The reninangiotensin-aldosterone system in heart failure for the non-specialist: the past, the present and the future. *Postgrad Med J*, 93, 29-37.
- ORSO, F., BALDASSERONI, S. & MAGGIONI, A. P. 2009. Heart Rate in Coronary Syndromes and Heart Failure. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 52, 38-45.

- OWAN, T. E., HODGE, D. O., HERGES, R. M., JACOBSEN, S. J., ROGER, V. L. & REDFIELD, M. M. 2006. Trends in prevalence and outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *N Engl J Med*, 355, 251-9.
- PACKER, M., FOWLER, M. B., ROECKER, E. B., COATS, A. J., KATUS, H. A., KRUM, H., MOHACSI, P., ROULEAU, J. L., TENDERA, M., STAIGER, C., HOLCSLAW, T. L., AMANN-ZALAN, I. & DEMETS, D. L. 2002. Effect of carvedilol on the morbidity of patients with severe chronic heart failure: results of the carvedilol prospective randomized cumulative survival (COPERNICUS) study. *Circulation*, 106, 2194-9.
- PALMER, K., BOWLES, K. A., LANE, R. & MORPHET, J. 2019. Barriers to Engagement in Chronic Heart Failure Rehabilitation: An Australian Survey. *Heart Lung Circ*.
- PALMER, K., BOWLES, K. A., PATON, M., JEPSON, M. & LANE, R. 2018. Chronic Heart Failure and Exercise Rehabilitation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*.
- PASHKOW, F. J. 1993. Issues in contemporary cardiac rehabilitation: A historical perspective. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 21, 822-834.
- PATTYN, N., BEULQUE, R. & CORNELISSEN, V. 2018. Aerobic Interval vs. Continuous Training in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease or Heart Failure: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis with a Focus on Secondary Outcomes. Sports Med, 48, 1189-1205.
- PAVY, B., ILIOU, M.-C., VERGÈS-PATOIS, B., BRION, R., MONPÈRE, C., CARRÉ, F., AEBERHARD, P., ARGOUACH, C., BORGNE, A., CONSOLI, S., CORONE, S., FISCHBACH, M., FOURCADE, L., LECERF, J.-M., MOUNIER-VEHIER, C., PAILLARD, F., PIERRE, B., SWYNGHEDAUW, B., THEODOSE, Y., THOMAS, D., CLAUDOT, F., COHEN-SOLAL, A., DOUARD, H. & MARCADET, D. 2012. French Society of Cardiology guidelines for cardiac rehabilitation in adults. *Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases*, 105, 309-328.
- PEARSON, M. J. & SMART, N. A. 2017. Aerobic Training Intensity for Improved Endothelial Function in Heart Failure Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Cardiol Res Pract*, 2017, 2450202.
- PEREIRA, J. M., BASTO, M. & DA SILVA, A. F. 2016. The logistic lasso and ridge regression in predicting corporate failure. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 39, 634-641.
- PERRY, G. 2013. The largest unmet market: chronic diseases of aging. *Mini Rev Med Chem*, 13, 1.
- PETERSON, L. R., SCHECHTMAN, K. B., EWALD, G. A., GELTMAN, E. M., MEYER, T., KREKELER, P. & ROGERS, J. G. 2003. The effect of β-adrenergic blockers on the prognostic value of peak exercise oxygen uptake in patients with heart failure. *The Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation*, 22, 70-77.
- PICARD, M., HEPPLE, R. T. & BURELLE, Y. 2012. Mitochondrial functional specialization in glycolytic and oxidative muscle fibers: tailoring the organelle for optimal function. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 302, C629-41.
- PIEPOLI, M. 1998. Central role of peripheral mechanisms in exercise intolerance in chronic heart failure: the muscle hypothesis. *Cardiologia*, 43, 909-17.
- PIEPOLI, M., CLARK, A. L., VOLTERRANI, M., ADAMOPOULOS, S., SLEIGHT, P. & COATS, A. J. S. 1996a. Contribution of Muscle Afferents to the Hemodynamic, Autonomic, and

Ventilatory Responses to Exercise in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure: Effects of Physical Training. *Circulation*, 93, 940-952.

- PIEPOLI, M., CLARK ANDREW, L., VOLTERRANI, M., ADAMOPOULOS, S., SLEIGHT, P. & COATS ANDREW, J. S. 1996b. Contribution of Muscle Afferents to the Hemodynamic, Autonomic, and Ventilatory Responses to Exercise in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. *Circulation*, 93, 940-952.
- PIEPOLI, M., PONIKOWSKI, P., CLARK, A. L., BANASIAK, W., CAPUCCI, A. & COATS, A. J. 1999. A neural link to explain the "muscle hypothesis" of exercise intolerance in chronic heart failure. *Am Heart J*, 137, 1050-6.
- PIEPOLI, M. F. & COATS, A. J. S. 2013. The 'skeletal muscle hypothesis in heart failure' revised. *European Heart Journal*, 34, 486-488.
- PIEPOLI, M. F., CONRAADS, V., CORRA, U., DICKSTEIN, K., FRANCIS, D. P., JAARSMA, T., MCMURRAY, J., PIESKE, B., PIOTROWICZ, E., SCHMID, J. P., ANKER, S. D., SOLAL, A. C., FILIPPATOS, G. S., HOES, A. W., GIELEN, S., GIANNUZZI, P. & PONIKOWSKI, P. P. 2011. Exercise training in heart failure: from theory to practice. A consensus document of the Heart Failure Association and the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 13, 347-57.
- PIEPOLI, M. F. & CRISAFULLI, A. 2014. Pathophysiology of human heart failure: importance of skeletal muscle myopathy and reflexes. *Exp Physiol*, 99, 609-15.
- PIEPOLI, M. F., DIMOPOULOS, K., CONCU, A. & CRISAFULLI, A. 2008. Cardiovascular and ventilatory control during exercise in chronic heart failure: role of muscle reflexes. *Int J Cardiol.*, 130 (1): 3-10.
- PIÑA, I. L., APSTEIN, C. S., BALADY, G. J., BELARDINELLI, R., CHAITMAN, B. R., DUSCHA, B. D., FLETCHER, B. J., FLEG, J. L., MYERS, J. N. & SULLIVAN, M. J. 2003. Exercise and Heart Failure: A Statement From the American Heart Association Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention. *Circulation*, 107, 1210-1225.
- PIRRUCCELLO, J. P., TRAYNOR, K. C., NATARAJAN, P., BROWN, C., HIDRUE, M. K., ROSENFIELD, K. A., KATHIRESAN, S. & WASFY, J. H. 2017. An electronic cardiac rehabilitation referral system increases cardiac rehabilitation referrals. *Coron Artery Dis*, 28, 342-345.
- PITT, B., ZANNAD, F., REMME, W. J., CODY, R., CASTAIGNE, A., PEREZ, A., PALENSKY, J. & WITTES, J. 1999. The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med, 341, 709-17.
- PONIKOWSKI, P., VOORS, A. A., ANKER, S. D., BUENO, H., CLELAND, J. G., COATS, A. J., FALK, V., GONZALEZ-JUANATEY, J. R., HARJOLA, V. P., JANKOWSKA, E. A., JESSUP, M., LINDE, C., NIHOYANNOPOULOS, P., PARISSIS, J. T., PIESKE, B., RILEY, J. P., ROSANO, G. M., RUILOPE, L. M., RUSCHITZKA, F., RUTTEN, F. H. & VAN DER MEER, P. 2016a. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 18, 891-975.

- PONIKOWSKI, P., VOORS, A. A., ANKER, S. D., BUENO, H., CLELAND, J. G. F., COATS, A. J. S., FALK, V., GONZÁLEZ-JUANATEY, J. R., HARJOLA, V.-P., JANKOWSKA, E. A., JESSUP, M., LINDE, C., NIHOYANNOPOULOS, P., PARISSIS, J. T., PIESKE, B., RILEY, J. P., ROSANO, G. M. C., RUILOPE, L. M., RUSCHITZKA, F., RUTTEN, F. H. & VAN DER MEER, P. 2016b. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. *European Heart Journal*.
- POWERS, S. K. & HOWLEY, E. T. 2017. *Exercise Physiology : Theory and Application to Fitness and Performance*, NY, UNITED STATES, McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- PRESSLER, S. J., SUBRAMANIAN, U., SHAW, R. M., MEYER, L. E., STOUDEMIRE, K. & GRADUS-PIZLO, I. 2008. Research in patients with heart failure: challenges in recruitment. *Am J Crit Care*, **17**, 198-203.
- PRICE, K. J., GORDON, B. A., BIRD, S. R. & BENSON, A. C. 2016. A review of guidelines for cardiac rehabilitation exercise programmes: Is there an international consensus? *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 23, 1715-1733.
- PU, C. T., JOHNSON, M. T., FORMAN, D. E., HAUSDORFF, J. M., ROUBENOFF, R., FOLDVARI, M., FIELDING, R. A. & SINGH, M. A. 2001. Randomized trial of progressive resistance training to counteract the myopathy of chronic heart failure. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)* [Online], 90. Available: <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/o/cochrane/clcentral/articles/977/CN-</u> 00347977/frame.html.
- REHSIA, N. S. & DHALLA, N. S. 2010. Mechanisms of the beneficial effects of betaadrenoceptor antagonists in congestive heart failure. *Experimental and clinical cardiology*, 15, e86-e95.
- ROCHE, F., PICHOT, V., DA COSTA, A., ISAAZ, K., COSTES, F., DALL'ACQUA, T., DUVERNEY, D., LACOUR, J. R. & BARTHELEMY, J. C. 2001. Chronotropic incompetence response to exercise in congestive heart failure, relationship with the cardiac autonomic status. *Clin Physiol*, 21, 335-42.
- ROCKWOOD, K., SONG, X., MACKNIGHT, C., BERGMAN, H., HOGAN, D. B., MCDOWELL, I. & MITNITSKI, A. 2005. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *Cmaj*, 173, 489-495.
- ROLFE, M., KAMEL, A., AHMED, M. M. & KRAMER, J. 2019. Pharmacological management of cardiac cachexia: a review of potential therapy options. *Heart Fail Rev*, 24, 617-623.
- ROSCA, M. G. & HOPPEL, C. L. 2013. Mitochondrial dysfunction in heart failure. *Heart Fail Rev,* 18, 607-22.
- ROSSELLO, X., ARITI, C., POCOCK, S. J., FERREIRA, J. P., GIRERD, N., MCMURRAY, J. J. V., VAN VELDHUISEN, D. J., PITT, B. & ZANNAD, F. 2019. Impact of mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists on the risk of sudden cardiac death in patients with heart failure and left-ventricular systolic dysfunction: an individual patient-level meta-analysis of three randomized-controlled trials. *Clin Res Cardiol*, 108, 477-486.
- ROTHE, C. 2003. Toward consistent definitions for preload and afterload—revisited. *Advances in Physiology Education*, 27, 44-45.
- SAHLE, B. W., OWEN, A. J., MUTOWO, M. P., KRUM, H. & REID, C. M. 2016. Prevalence of heart failure in Australia: a systematic review. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 16, 32.

- SANDRI, KOZAREZ, I., ADAMS, V., MANGNER, N., HÖLLRIEGEL, R., ERBS, S., LINKE, A., MÖBIUS-WINKLER, S., THIERY, J., KRATZSCH, J., TEUPSER, D., MENDE, M., HAMBRECHT, R., SCHULER, G. & GIELEN, S. 2012a. Age-related effects of exercise training on diastolic function in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: The Leipzig Exercise Intervention in Chronic Heart Failure and Aging (LEICA) Diastolic Dysfunction Study. *European Heart Journal*, 33, 1758-1768.
- SANDRI, M., KOZAREZ, I., ADAMS, V., MANGNER, N., HOLLRIEGEL, R., ERBS, S., LINKE, A., MOBIUS-WINKLER, S., THIERY, J., KRATZSCH, J., TEUPSER, D., MENDE, M., HAMBRECHT, R., SCHULER, G. & GIELEN, S. 2012b. Age-related effects of exercise training on diastolic function in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: the Leipzig Exercise Intervention in Chronic Heart Failure and Aging (LEICA) Diastolic Dysfunction Study. *European heart journal*, 33, 1758-1768.
- SANTAS, E., VALERO, E., MOLLAR, A., GARCÍA-BLAS, S., PALAU, P., MIÑANA, G., NÚÑEZ, E., SANCHIS, J., CHORRO, F. J. & NÚÑEZ, J. 2017. Burden of Recurrent Hospitalizations Following an Admission for Acute Heart Failure: Preserved Versus Reduced Ejection Fraction. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)*, 70, 239-246.
- SAYER, G. & BHAT, G. 2014. The Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System and Heart Failure. *Cardiology Clinics*, 32, 21-32.
- SCHAPER, J., FROEDE, R., HEIN, S., BUCK, A., HASHIZUME, H., SPEISER, B., FRIEDL, A. & BLEESE, N. 1991. Impairment of the myocardial ultrastructure and changes of the cytoskeleton in dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation*, 83, 504-14.
- SCHAUFELBERGER, M., ERIKSSON, B. O., GRIMBY, G., HELD, P. & SWEDBERG, K. 1995. Skeletal muscle fiber composition and capillarization in patients with chronic heart failure: relation to exercise capacity and central hemodynamics. J Card Fail, 1, 267-72.
- SCHÜNEMANN, H. J., VIST, G. E., HIGGINS, J. P., SANTESSO, N., DEEKS, J. J., GLASZIOU, P., AKL, E. A., GUYATT, G. H. & GROUP, C. G. M. 2019. Interpreting results and drawing conclusions. *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*, 403-431.
- SCOTT, D., DALY, R. M., SANDERS, K. M. & EBELING, P. R. 2015. Fall and Fracture Risk in Sarcopenia and Dynapenia With and Without Obesity: the Role of Lifestyle Interventions. *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, 13, 235-244.
- SCOTT, I. A., LINDSAY, K. A. & HARDEN, H. E. 2003a. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. *Med J Aust*, 179, 341-5.
- SCOTT, I. A., LINDSAY, K. A. & HARDEN, H. E. 2003b. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 179, 341-345.
- SELIG, S. E., LEVINGER, I., WILLIAMS, A. D., SMART, N., HOLLAND, D. J., MAIORANA, A., GREEN, D. J. & HARE, D. L. 2010a. Exercise & Sport Science Australia Position Statement on exercise training and chronid heart failure *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 13, 288-294.
- SELIG, S. E., LEVINGER, I., WILLIAMS, A. D., SMART, N., HOLLAND, D. J., MAIORANA, A.,
 GREEN, D. J. & HARE, D. L. 2010b. Exercise & Sports Science Australia Position
 Statement on exercise training and chronic heart failure. J Sci Med Sport, 13, 288-94.

- SEQUEIRA, V. & VAN DER VELDEN, J. 2015. Historical perspective on heart function: the Frank-Starling Law. *Biophys Rev,* 7, 421-447.
- SHAFIEE, G., KESHTKAR, A., SOLTANI, A., AHADI, Z., LARIJANI, B. & HESHMAT, R. 2017. Prevalence of sarcopenia in the world: a systematic review and meta- analysis of general population studies. *J Diabetes Metab Disord*, 16, 21.
- SHOEMAKER, M. J., DIAS, K. J., LEFEBVRE, K. M., HEICK, J. D. & COLLINS, S. M. 2020. Physical therapist clinical practice guideline for the management of individuals with heart failure. *Physical Therapy*, 100, 14-43.
- SIRIWARDHANA, D. D., HARDOON, S., RAIT, G., WEERASINGHE, M. C. & WALTERS, K. R. 2018. Prevalence of frailty and prefrailty among community-dwelling older adults in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ open*, 8, e018195-e018195.
- SISCOVICK, D. S., WEISS, N. S., FLETCHER, R. H. & LASKY, T. 1984. The Incidence of Primary Cardiac Arrest during Vigorous Exercise. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 311, 874-877.
- SLIMAN, S., WAALEN, J. & SHAW, D. 2016. Methamphetamine-Associated Congestive Heart Failure: Increasing Prevalence and Relationship of Clinical Outcomes to Continued Use or Abstinence. *Cardiovascular Toxicology*, 16, 381-389.
- SLIMANI, M., RAMIREZ-CAMPILLO, R., PARAVLIC, A., HAYES, L. D., BRAGAZZI, N. L. & SELLAMI, M. 2018. The Effects of Physical Training on Quality of Life, Aerobic Capacity, and Cardiac Function in Older Patients With Heart Failure: A Meta-Analysis. *Front Physiol*, 9, 1564.
- SMART, N. A. 2013. How do cardiorespiratory fitness improvements vary with physical training modality in heart failure patients? A quantitative guide. *Exp Clin Cardiol*, 18, e21-5.
- SMART, N. A., DIEBERG, G. & GIALLAURIA, F. 2013. Intermittent versus continuous exercise training in chronic heart failure: a meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 166, 352-8.
- SMART, N. A., MEYER, T., BUTTERFIELD, J. A., FADDY, S. C., PASSINO, C., MALFATTO, G., JONSDOTTIR, S., SARULLO, F., WISLOFF, U., VIGORITO, C. & GIALLAURIA, F. 2012.
 Individual patient meta-analysis of exercise training effects on systemic brain natriuretic peptide expression in heart failure. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 19, 428-35.
- SMART, N. A. & STEELE, M. 2010. Systematic review of the effect of aerobic and resistance exercise training on systemic brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) and N-terminal BNP expression in heart failure patients. *Int J Cardiol*, 140, 260-5.
- SON, Y.-J., SHIM, D. K., SEO, E. K. & SEO, E. J. 2018. Health Literacy but Not Frailty Predict Self-Care Behaviors in Patients with Heart Failure. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 15, 2474.
- SPRUIT, M. A., WOUTERS, E. F. M., ETERMAN, R.-M. A., MEIJER, K., WAGERS, S. S., STAKENBORG, K. H. P. & USZKO-LENCER, N. H. M. K. 2011. Task-related oxygen uptake and symptoms during activities of daily life in CHF patients and healthy subjects. *European journal of applied physiology*, 111, 1679-1686.
- STINEMAN, M. G., STRUMPF, N., KURICHI, J. E., CHARLES, J., GRISSO, J. A. & JAYADEVAPPA, R. 2011. Attempts to reach the oldest and frailest: recruitment, adherence, and

retention of urban elderly persons to a falls reduction exercise program. *Gerontologist*, 51 Suppl 1, S59-72.

- SULLIVAN, M. J. & COBB, F. R. 1992. Central hemodynamic response to exercise in patients with chronic heart failure. *Chest*, 101, 340s-346s.
- SULLIVAN, M. J., DUSCHA, B. D., KLITGAARD, H., KRAUS, W. E., COBB, F. R. & SALTIN, B. 1997. Altered expression of myosin heavy chain in human skeletal muscle in chronic heart failure. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 29, 860-6.
- SULLIVAN, M. J., GREEN, H. J. & COBB, F. R. 1990. Skeletal muscle biochemistry and histology in ambulatory patients with long-term heart failure. *Circulation*, 81, 518-27.
- SUNDARARAJAN, V., BUNKER, S. J., BEGG, S., MARSHALL, R. & MCBURNEY, H. 2004. Attendance rates and outcomes of cardiac rehabilitation in Victoria, 1998. *Med J Aust*, 180, 268-71.
- SWAIN, D. P. & BRAWNER, C. A. 2014. *ACSM's resource manual for guidelines for exercise testing and prescription*, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- SWANK, A. M., HORTON, J., FLEG, J. L., FONAROW, G. C., KETEYIAN, S., GOLDBERG, L.,
 WOLFEL, G., HANDBERG, E. M., BENSIMHON, D., ILLIOU, M.-C., VEST, M., EWALD, G.,
 BLACKBURN, G., LEIFER, E., COOPER, L., KRAUS, W. E. & INVESTIGATORS, H.-A. 2012.
 Modest increase in peak VO2 is related to better clinical outcomes in chronic heart
 failure patients: results from heart failure and a controlled trial to investigate
 outcomes of exercise training. *Circulation. Heart failure*, 5, 579-585.
- SWEDBERG, K., ENEROTH, P., KJEKSHUS, J. & WILHELMSEN, L. 1990. Hormones regulating cardiovascular function in patients with severe congestive heart failure and their relation to mortality. CONSENSUS Trial Study Group. *Circulation*, 82, 1730-1736.
- SZLACHCIC, J., MASSIE, B. M., KRAMER, B. L., TOPIC, N. & TUBAU, J. 1985. Correlates and prognostic implication of exercise capacity in chronic congestive heart failure. *Am J Cardiol*, 55, 1037-42.
- TAI, C., GAN, T., ZOU, L., SUN, Y., ZHANG, Y., CHEN, W., LI, J., ZHANG, J., XU, Y., LU, H. & XU, D. 2017. Effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers on cardiovascular events in patients with heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, 17, 257.
- TANAI, E. & FRANTZ, S. 2015. Pathophysiology of Heart Failure. *Compr Physiol*, 6, 187-214.
- TAYLOR, C. J., HARRISON, C., BRITT, H., MILLER, G. & HOBBS, F. D. R. 2017. Heart failure and multimorbidity in Australian general practice. *Journal of Comorbidity*, **7**, 44-49.
- TAYLOR, R. S., WALKER, S., SMART, N. A., PIEPOLI, M. F., WARREN, F. C., CIANI, O.,
 O'CONNOR, C., WHELLAN, D., KETEYIAN, S. J., COATS, A., DAVOS, C. H., DALAL, H. M.,
 DRACUP, K., EVANGELISTA, L., JOLLY, K., MYERS, J., MCKELVIE, R. S., NILSSON, B. B.,
 PASSINO, C., WITHAM, M. D., YEH, G. Y. & ZWISLER, A. O. 2018. Impact of exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation in patients with heart failure (ExTraMATCH II) on
 mortality and hospitalisation: an individual patient data meta-analysis of randomised
 trials. *Eur J Heart Fail*.
- TENG, T. H., HUNG, J., KNUIMAN, M., STEWART, S., ARNOLDA, L., JACOBS, I., HOBBS, M., SANFILIPPO, F., GEELHOED, E. & FINN, J. 2012. Trends in long-term cardiovascular mortality and morbidity in men and women with heart failure of ischemic versus

non-ischemic aetiology in Western Australia between 1990 and 2005. *Int J Cardiol,* 158, 405-10.

- TONELLI, M. & RIELLA, M. 2014. Chronic kidney disease and the ageing population. *Nephron Clin Pract*, 128, 319-22.
- TORRES, S. J., ROBINSON, S., ORELLANA, L., O'CONNELL, S. L., GRIMES, C. A., MUNDELL, N. L., DUNSTAN, D. W., NOWSON, C. A. & DALY, R. M. 2017. Effects of progressive resistance training combined with a protein-enriched lean red meat diet on healthrelated quality of life in elderly women: secondary analysis of a 4-month cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 117, 1550-1559.
- TSE, H. F., SIU, C. W., LEE, K. L., FAN, K., CHAN, H. W., TANG, M. O., TSANG, V., LEE, S. W. & LAU, C. P. 2005. The incremental benefit of rate-adaptive pacing on exercise performance during cardiac resynchronization therapy. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 46, 2292-7.
- TSUTSUI, H., TSUCHIHASHI-MAKAYA, M. & KINUGAWA, S. 2010. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: Lessons from epidemiological studies. *Journal of Cardiology*, 55, 13-22.
- TU, R. H., ZENG, Z. Y., ZHONG, G. Q., WU, W. F., LU, Y. J., BO, Z. D., HE, Y., HUANG, W. Q. & YAO, L. M. 2014. Effects of exercise training on depression in patients with heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 16, 749-57.
- UNLU, O., LEVITAN, E. B., RESHETNYAK, E., KNEIFATI-HAYEK, J., DIAZ, I., ARCHAMBAULT, A., CHEN, L., HANLON, J. T., MAURER, M. S. & SAFFORD, M. M. 2020. Polypharmacy in Older Adults Hospitalized for Heart Failure. *Circulation: Heart Failure*, **13**, e006977.
- VERHAEGEN, P., BORCHELT, M. & SMITH, J. 2003. Relation between cardiovascular and metabolic disease and cognition in very old age: cross-sectional and longitudinal findings from the berlin aging study. *Health Psychol*, 22, 559-69.
- VESCOVO, G., SERAFINI, F., FACCHIN, L., TENDERINI, P., CARRARO, U., DALLA LIBERA, L., CATANI, C. & AMBROSIO, G. B. 1996. Specific changes in skeletal muscle myosin heavy chain composition in cardiac failure: differences compared with disuse atrophy as assessed on microbiopsies by high resolution electrophoresis. *Heart*, 76, 337-43.
- VESCOVO, G., VOLTERRANI, M., ZENNARO, R., SANDRI, M., CECONI, C., LORUSSO, R., FERRARI, R., AMBROSIO, G. B. & DALLA LIBERA, L. 2000. Apoptosis in the skeletal muscle of patients with heart failure: investigation of clinical and biochemical changes. *Heart*, 84, 431-7.
- VEST, A. R., CHAN, M., DESWAL, A., GIVERTZ, M. M., LEKAVICH, C., LENNIE, T., LITWIN, S. E., PARSLY, L., RODGERS, J. E. & RICH, M. W. 2019. Nutrition, obesity, and cachexia in patients with heart failure: a consensus statement from the Heart Failure Society of America Scientific Statements Committee. *Journal of cardiac failure*, 25, 380-400.
- VIDAN, M. T., BLAYA-NOVAKOVA, V., SANCHEZ, E., ORTIZ, J., SERRA-REXACH, J. A. & BUENO,
 H. 2016. Prevalence and prognostic impact of frailty and its components in nondependent elderly patients with heart failure. *Eur J Heart Fail*, 18, 869-75.
- VISSER, M., KRITCHEVSKY, S. B., GOODPASTER, B. H., NEWMAN, A. B., NEVITT, M., STAMM, E. & HARRIS, T. B. 2002. Leg Muscle Mass and Composition in Relation to Lower

Extremity Performance in Men and Women Aged 70 to 79: The Health, Aging and Body Composition Study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 50, 897-904.

- VON HAEHLING, S. 2015. The wasting continuum in heart failure: from sarcopenia to cachexia. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 74, 367-77.
- VOS, T., FLAXMAN, A. D., NAGHAVI, M., LOZANO, R., MICHAUD, C., EZZATI, M., SHIBUYA, K., SALOMON, J. A., ABDALLA, S. & ABOYANS, V. 2012. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The lancet*, 380, 2163-2196.
- VROMEN, T., KRAAL, J. J., KUIPER, J., SPEE, R. F., PEEK, N. & KEMPS, H. M. 2016. The influence of training characteristics on the effect of aerobic exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: A meta-regression analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 208, 120-7.
- WASSERMAN, K., SIETSEMA, K., SUE, D. & STRINGER, W. 2012. Wasserman KH, editor. Principles of exercise testing and interpretation; including pathophysiology and clinical applications, Portland. Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- WEBER, K. T., KINASEWITZ, G. T., JANICKI, J. S. & FISHMAN, A. P. 1982. Oxygen utilization and ventilation during exercise in patients with chronic cardiac failure. *Circulation*, 65, 1213.
- WEI, J., NI, J., HUANG, D., CHEN, M., YAN, S. & PENG, Y. 2010. The effect of aldosterone antagonists for ventricular arrhythmia: a meta-analysis. *Clin Cardiol*, 33, 572-7.
- WELFARE, A. I. O. H. A. 2003. Heart failure... what of the future?
- WELFARE, A. I. O. H. A. 2014. Australia's health 2014 Australia's health series.
- WILLIAMS, M. A., HASKELL, W. L., ADES, P. A., AMSTERDAM, E. A., BITTNER, V., FRANKLIN, B.
 A., GULANICK, M., LAING, S. T. & STEWART, K. J. 2007. Resistance Exercise in Individuals With and Without Cardiovascular Disease: 2007 Update: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. *Circulation*, 116, 572-584.
- WILSON, J. R., MARTIN, J. L. & FERRARO, N. 1984. Impaired skeletal muscle nutritive flow during exercise in patients with congestive heart failure: role of cardiac pump dysfunction as determined by the effect of dobutamine. *Am J Cardiol*, 53, 1308-15.
- WOODRUFFE, S., NEUBECK, L., CLARK, R., GRAY, K., FERRY, C. & FINAN, J. 2014. Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association (ACRA) Core Components of Cardiovascular Disease Secondary Prevention and Cardiac Rehabilitation *Heart, Lung Circ,* 24, 430-441.
- WORCESTER, M. U. C., MURPHY, B. M., MEE, V. K., ROBERTS, S. B. & GOBLE, A. J. 2004. Cardiac rehabilitation programmes: predictors of non-attendance and drop-out. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 11, 328-335.
- XIE, B., MA, C., CHEN, Y. & WANG, J. 2020. Prevalence and risk factors of the co-occurrence of physical frailty and cognitive impairment in Chinese community-dwelling older adults. *Health Soc Care Community*.

- XIE, B., YAN, X., CAI, X. & LI, J. 2017. Effects of High-Intensity Interval Training on Aerobic Capacity in Cardiac Patients: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. *Biomed Res Int*, 2017, 5420840.
- YANCY, C. W., JESSUP, M., BOZKURT, B., BUTLER, J., CASEY, D. E., JR., COLVIN, M. M., DRAZNER, M. H., FILIPPATOS, G. S., FONAROW, G. C., GIVERTZ, M. M., HOLLENBERG, S. M., LINDENFELD, J., MASOUDI, F. A., MCBRIDE, P. E., PETERSON, P. N., STEVENSON, L. W. & WESTLAKE, C. 2017. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. *Circulation*, 136, e137e161.
- YANG, X., LUPÓN, J., VIDÁN, M. T., FERGUSON, C., GASTELURRUTIA, P., NEWTON, P. J., MACDONALD, P. S., BUENO, H., BAYÉS - GENÍS, A., WOO, J. & FUNG, E. 2018. Impact of Frailty on Mortality and Hospitalization in Chronic Heart Failure: A Systematic Review and Meta‐Analysis. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 7, e008251.
- YUSUF, S., PITT, B., DAVIS, C. E., HOOD, W. B., JR. & COHN, J. N. 1992. Effect of enalapril on mortality and the development of heart failure in asymptomatic patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions. *N Engl J Med*, 327, 685-91.
- ZAMBONI, M., ROSSI, A. P., CORZATO, F., BAMBACE, C., MAZZALI, G. & FANTIN, F. 2013. Sarcopenia, cachexia and congestive heart failure in the elderly. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*, 13, 58-67.
- ZAMBROSKI, C. H., MOSER, D. K., BHAT, G. & ZIEGLER, C. 2005. Impact of Symptom Prevalence and Symptom Burden on Quality of Life in Patients with Heart Failure. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 4, 198-206.
- ZANNAD, F., STOUGH, W. G., PITT, B., CLELAND, J. G., ADAMS, K. F., GELLER, N. L., TORP-PEDERSEN, C., KIRWAN, B. A. & FOLLATH, F. 2008. Heart failure as an endpoint in heart failure and non-heart failure cardiovascular clinical trials: the need for a consensus definition. *Eur Heart J*, 29, 413-21.

Appendices

Appendix A: Cardiac rehabilitation for patients with coronary artery disease: A practical
guide to enhance patient outcomes through continuity of care (manuscript) 162
Appendix B: Barriers to exercise rehabilitation in the older adult with heart failure (abstract)
Appendix C: Letter to the editor: "The frailty syndrome is associated with adverse health
outcomes in very old patients with stable heart failure: A prospective study in six Spanish
hospitals" (letter to the editor)
Appendix D: Baseline patient characteristics among all patients and those referred and not
referred to exercise rehabilitation (all data reported)

Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients With Coronary Artery **Disease: A Practical Guide to Enhance Patient Outcomes** Through Continuity of Care

Catherine Giuliano¹, Belinda J Parmenter², Michael K Baker³, Braden L Mitchell⁴, Andrew D Williams⁵, Katie Lyndon⁶, Tarryn Mair⁷, Andrew Maiorana^{8,9}, Neil A Smart¹⁰ and Itamar Levinger^{1,11}

¹Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living (ISEAL), Victoria University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia. ²Department of Exercise Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia. ³Australian Catholic University School of Exercise Science, Strathfield, NSW Australia. ⁴Alliance for Research in Exercise, Nutrition and Activity (ARENA), Sansom Institute for Health Research, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia. ⁵School of Health Sciences, University of Tasmania, Launceston, TAS, Australia. ⁶Exercise & Sports Science Australia, Albion, QLD, Australia. ⁷Division of Medicine, Exercise Physiology Department, ACT Health, Canberra, ACT, Australia. 8School of Physiotherapy and Exercise, Science, Curtin University, Perth, WA, Australia. 9Allied Health Department and Advanced Heart Failure and Cardiac Transplant Service, Fiona Stanley Hospital, Perth, WA, Australia. ¹⁰School of Science and Technology, University of New England, Armidale, NSW, Australia. ¹¹Australian Institute for Musculoskeletal Science (AIMSS), Victoria University and Western Health, St. Albans, VIC, Australia.

Clinical Medicine Insights: Cardiology Volume 11: 1-7 © The Author(s) 2017 Reprints and permissions: sagepub.co.uk/journalsPermissions.nav DOI: 10.1177/1179546817710028 **SAGE**

ABSTRACT: Coronary artery disease (CAD) is a leading cause of disease burden worldwide. Referral to cardiac rehabilitation (CR) is a class I recommendation for all patients with CAD based on findings that participation can reduce cardiovascular and all-cause mortality, as well as improve functional capacity and quality of life. However, programme uptake remains low, systematic progression through the traditional CR phases is often lacking, and communication between health care providers is frequently suboptimal, resulting in fragmented care. Only 30% to 50% of eligible patients are typically referred to outpatient CR and fewer still complete the programme. In contemporary models of CR, patients are no longer treated by a single practitioner, but rather by an array of health professionals, across multiples specialities and health care settings. The risk of fragmented care in CR may be great, and a concerted approach is required to achieve continuity and optimise patient outcomes. 'Continuity of care' has been described as the delivery of services in a coherent, logical, and timely fashion and which entails 3 specific domains: informational, management, and relational continuity. This is examined in the context of CR.

KEYWORDS: Continuity of care, cardiac rehabilitation, models of care, coronary artery disease

RECEIVED: January 22, 2017. ACCEPTED: April 16, 2017.

PEER REVIEW: Six peer reviewers contributed to the peer review report. Reviewers' reports totalled 858 words, excluding any confidential comments to the academic editor. **TYPE:** Perspective

FUNDING: The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: I.L. was supported by Future Leader Fellowship (ID: 100040) from the National Heart Foundation of Australia.

Introduction

Coronary artery disease (CAD) remains the leading cause of disease burden in Australia and continues to cost the health care system more than 1.3 billion dollars annually.1 Cardiac rehabilitation (CR) provides a cost-effective therapy² that aims to accelerate recovery following an acute event and reduce the risk of recurrent events through structured exercise prescription, education, and risk factor modification.³ Referral to CR is a class I recommendation for all patients with CAD⁴⁻⁷ based on a growing body of evidence that participation can reduce hospital bed usage, cardiovascular mortality, as well as improve functional capacity and quality of life.8 In Australia, the provision of CR is guided by key documents9,3 which describe an integrated pathway spanning the continuum of care, commencing during the inpatient period after an acute coronary event (phase I), continuing through the post-discharge period, DECLARATION OF CONFLICTING INTERESTS: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

CORRESPONDING AUTHOR: Itamar Levinger, Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living (ISEAL), Victoria University, PO Box 14428, Melbourne, VIC 8001, Austral Email: itamar.levinger@vu.edu.au

often in an outpatient setting (phase II) and subsequently to a community-based maintenance programme for ongoing adherence to exercise and healthy lifestyle (phase III). However, CR is commonly underused throughout this process: only 30% to 50% of eligible patients are typically referred to outpatient CR, with fewer still completing programmes.^{10–13} Consequently, many patients do not achieve long-term risk factor targets.¹⁴ The aims of this document are to (1) apply a framework to CR, (2) identify where continuity of care is at risk, and (3) provide recommendations for improvement in the delivery of CR.

Continuity of Care in Contemporary Medicine

With increasing specialisations in clinical care, patients are no longer treated by a single practitioner, but rather by an array of health professionals, across multiple specialities and health



Creative Commons Non Commercial CC BY-NC: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 License (http://www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) which permits non-commercial use, reproduction and distribution of the work without further permission provided the original work is attributed as specified on the SAGE and Open Access pages (https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/open-access-at-sage).

Table 1. The continuity of care framework.

INFORMATIONAL CONTINUITY	MANAGEMENT CONTINUITY	RELATIONAL CONTINUITY
Information transfer	Consistency of care	Consistency of personnel
Accumulated knowledge	Flexibility and accessibility	Ongoing patient-provider relationship

Adapted from Reid et al.17



Figure 1. Current 3-phase model of cardiac rehabilitation. *Communications to ensure continuity of care including referral and clinical handover. For specific recommendations for management and informational continuity, refer to Table 2 summary. ‡Opportunities for improved relational continuity between health care professionals. For recommendations for relational continuity, refer to Table 2 summary.

care settings. This paradigm shift has increased the risk of fragmentation of care. Accordingly, a concerted approach is required to achieve continuity in contemporary models of health care, to eliminate division and maintain positive patient outcomes. Several approaches have been employed to achieve this, including organised discharge planning, integrated care, and case management. The unified term 'continuity of care' has been defined,¹⁵ described as the delivery of services in a coherent, logical, and timely fashion which entails 3 specific domains: informational, management and relational continuity. Reid et al¹⁶ further delineated the domains into sub-categories, as shown in Table 1. We will apply this framework to CR, identify instances where continuity of care is at risk, and provide recommendations on how it can be enhanced to improve patient outcomes.

Informational Continuity

Informational continuity refers to the availability and transferability of patient information between and across health care providers and settings which, over time, lead to the accumulation of knowledge about a patient. Information transfer is often the first element connecting services and linking health professionals and medical events and is fundamental to coordinating patient-centred care. Failure of informational continuity can pose risks to patient safety, lead to repetition or unnecessary testing, cause delays in treatment, and can ultimately lead to poor patient-centred practice.

Information transfer

Effective handover requires transfer of patient information between health care providers. Both basic and detailed information is required with each new referral, on progression to each successive CR phase and between health care professionals external to the CR team (eg, health psychologist or general practitioner). Figure 1 displays these likely time points that require referral. A key objective of CR handover is for the receiving clinician to be able to easily determine patient progress to date and plan ongoing care accordingly.

The rate of progression through each CR phase can be highly variable between patients and is determined by individual circumstances such as disease severity, complications, hospital length of stay, and sociodemographic and sociocultural factors. To account for this variability, a thorough

Table 2. Summary of opportunities to facilitate continuity of care within CR.

CONTINUITY OF CARE DOMAIN	SUB-CATEGORY	STRATEGIES TO FACILITATE CONTINUITY OF CARE WITHIN CARDIAC REHABILITATION
Information continuity	Information transfer	 Referrals to CR should be accompanied by a discharge summary which include the following minimum data sets: Patient contact details Assessments conducted and results Short-term, medium-term, and long-term goals and progress towards achieving these Barriers and enablers Special considerations and circumstances CR staff should maintain organised patient files with clear and consistent reordering
	Accumulated knowledge	 There should be clear pathways of communication between phase I, II, and III staff using a range of communication methods including case conferences or verbal handover Regular clinical team meetings can also encourage informational continuity for complex case patients
Management continuity	Consistency of care	 There are numerous, evidence-based clinical practice guidelines detailing care pathways for cardiac rehabilitation Organisational collaboration is required for future development of CR guidelines Participation in phase I CR is highly influential on participation in phase II, and therefore, enrolment in phase I should be a priority
	Flexibility and accessibility	 A collaborative approach to CR referral is required Administrative or scheduling delays may be overcome by early automated referrals while the patient is still in hospital Patients should be involved in decision making and be made aware of referral to CR Referrals should be physician endorsed and involve the cardiologist CR staff should be knowledgeable about the range of flexible CR models offered including home-based, telephone-based, and centre-based programmes Practices need a responsive system for enrolling patients
Relational continuity	Consistency of personnel	 CR requires a dedicated, connected, and consistent team of professionals Programme directors should seek to establish an affiliation with the nearest CR programme A co-ordinated effort is needed to achieve referral and enrolment in CR
	Ongoing patient- provider relationship	 Staffing structures require flexibility to extending patient-clinician relationships across the phases Affiliation between members of the CR team extends beyond the 3 phases and should also include home-based bridging programmes or similar linking care pathways

Abbreviation: CR, cardiac rehabilitation.

clinical handover is required to ensure that care provision remains individualised.

An effective handover requires detailed summaries on discharge and referral. However, there has been a lack of standardisation in reporting practices to document a patient journey through inpatient, outpatient, and community settings. The development of national health database such as the My Health Record in Australia¹⁷ will provide an opportunity for patient information to be accessed by multiple health services. However, these systems are relatively new in many sectors and are not fully used by all patients or providers where they are available. Informational continuity, therefore, continues to lack automation and remains highly dependent on local practices. When there is a failure of informational continuity, there is likely to be unnecessary repetition of assessments, and care provision may be generalised. Cardiac rehabilitation phases may operate as independent programmes, despite sharing common overall objectives. This is an inefficient and costly practice, and may also create a poor experience for the patient, ultimately restricting the capacity to individualise treatment and achieve the best clinical outcomes. Furthermore, missed or inadequate medical information can pose serious risks, particularly in the setting of exercise training.

Accumulated knowledge

Accumulated knowledge refers to information that gradually accrues over extended patient-provider relationships, usually of a personal or non-medical nature such as likes, dislikes, social supports, personality, and other personal characteristics or preferences.¹⁶ Such information is important for behaviour change interventions and can assist in identifying barriers to attendance.¹⁸ In the primary care setting, relationships have been found between longitudinal care and the doctors' sense of responsibility towards their patients¹⁹ and likewise on patient satisfaction.^{20,21} Accumulated knowledge is heavily influenced by a sustained patient-provider relationship and is often challenging in instances involving multiple care providers, such as in CR.

Recommendations: Informational continuity. In view of these risks to informational continuity, the following recommendations are proposed:

• Clinical handover should include a comprehensive medical history with specific details about the patient's presenting conditions and prior management, as well as individual preferences, sociocultural, and sociodemographic contexts, which play an influential role in chronic disease management.²² Importantly, clinicians should be mindful of the overarching goals of CR and provide sufficient information regarding progress. All referrals should be accompanied by a discharge summary and the following minimal data set is proposed:

- Patient contact details;
- Assessments conducted and results;
- Short-term, medium-term, and long-term goals and progress towards achieving these;
- Barriers and enablers to participation;
- Personal preferences, special considerations, and circumstances;
- Staff should maintain organised patient files with clear and consistent recording of patient information and follow clinical documentation protocols.
- There should be clear, established pathways of communication between phase I, II, and III staff using a range of communication methods including case conferences, written, and/or verbal handover.
- For patients with complex needs, case conferences should be considered for clinical handover.

Management Continuity

Management continuity is a largely unifying dimension for each of the continuity domains and relates to organisational and logistical practices that enable timely and organised care. Management continuity includes 'consistency of care' which describes planned care pathways to ensure continuity in treatment and 'flexibility' to adapting care to suit individual patient needs and circumstances.¹⁶ Elements of management continuity in CR include flexibility of the CR model, referral processes, handling of appointments, and programme availability.

Consistency of care

Integrated care pathways provide secure and predictable processes for the management of CAD, enabling multiple professionals to provide a unified and evidence-based approach over the duration of the illness.²³ The CR pathway commonly consists of 3 phases connecting acute care to chronic disease self-management.

Phase I. Phase I takes place while the patient is still an inpatient and occurs over a variable time frame (usually 1-14 days) that depends on the severity of the cardiac event and the length of time that the patient remains an inpatient. Phase I programmes should be based on recommendations contained within the National Heart Foundation of Australia framework document for CR⁹ and practice guidelines developed by the Department of Human Service Victoria.²⁴ Phase I incorporates a combination of supportive counselling and reassurance for risk factor modification, medication adherence and education on when and how to resume daily living activities. This is complemented by early mobilisation to prevent the deleterious effects of bed rest and to initiate a progressive increase in activity to allow for, at the minimum, basic self-care at discharge from the hospital. Evidence suggests that active engagement in CR at an inpatient stage may improve uptake of phase II programmes by as much as 93%.^{25,26}

Phase II. Phase II usually involves patients attending a hospital-based programme as an outpatient, weekly or twice weekly over a 6- to 12-week period,^{9,27} although flexible modes of service delivery have been used to cater for the requirements of a broader range of patients (see Such modes have included centre or home-based services, as well as telephone, mobile and internet-based services.³ Phase II programmes provide initial physical, psychological, and social assessments to facilitate return to everyday function, and education regarding cardiovascular disease risk factors, and exercise and lifestyle changes that may have long-term cardioprotective effects.³

Phase III. Phase III is community-based and aims to maintain activity beyond the period of subacute care to provide long-term benefits of exercise and minimise the risk for secondary events (secondary prevention). Current evidence suggests that participation in phase III is highly beneficial in reducing major adverse cardiac events.²⁸ Although the improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness, haemodynamic, and muscle functions during early rehabilitation are clear, it is essential to continue with lifelong exercise training as these benefits are all but lost within 3 months of training cessation.²⁹

Alongside this triphasic model, there is a wealth of additional recommendations by National and International Guidelines for patients with CAD.4,9-13,30,31 However, this has created a challenging paradox; the number of guidelines and variation in the information they offer can make interpretation and application challenging for clinicians. For example, the Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association core components3 provide a thorough review of referral and recruitment strategies, models of service delivery, and a detailed summary of key performance indicators for CR; however, information regarding programme content, such as exercise programming and lifestyle management, although mentioned, is only brief, whereas the National Heart Foundation of Australia and Australian Cardiac Rehabilitation Associationrecommended framework provides more details on exercise prescription, testing, and patient monitoring.9 The differences between documents may increase the risk of missed information and may ultimately reduce the likelihood of achieving evidence-based practice. Astley et al³² highlighted a lack of inter-organisational collaboration in the preparation of CR publications, including 3 recent documents^{3,33,34} which focus on varying features of CR but without reference to one another. Greater collaboration between organisations in future CR publications will help provide a more unified and consistent message for clinicians and enhance management continuity.

Flexibility and accessibility

Easy access, timely response to processing referral, and mode of programme delivery are important elements of flexibility and accessibility. Poor referral practices, such as inadequate referral procedures, and poor programme organisation contribute to the lack of attendance at CR.^{35,36} There are at least 3 referrals required across the continuum of triphasic CR, and the responsibility for making and managing these referrals may fall on a variety of health professionals, including inpatient nursing staff, coordinators, allied health professionals, or physicians.

Barriers to CR referrals have been studied previously, and several strategies have been successfully employed. Research has shown that automatic referrals,^{37,38} combined with a patient discussion³⁹ and physician-endorsed programmes, achieve higher attendance. Furthermore, the lack of standardised administrative processes is perceived as a barrier to referral by primary care physicians.^{37,40}

Waiting lists for phases II and III are also common with few CR providers achieving targets for time to enrolment following discharge from acute care. This delay in proceeding to phase II has been shown to impact on clinical outcomes⁴¹ and may depend on a range of factors including administrative processes involved in informing and enrolling patients, high demand and, in some patients, the need to schedule symptom-limited exercise testing prior to commencing exercise training.9 However, these delays may be easily overcome. An uncomplicated hospital admission is quite predictable in terms of length of stay; similarly, the date of discharge from phase II outpatient programmes is foreseeable at 8 to 12 weeks after the initial commencement date. As such, referrals could be automated for uncomplicated admissions, which has been shown to result in greater attendance than physician referral.^{15,16} Similarly, facilities which do not have a systematic approach to referrals, but rather adopt an ad hoc approach, tend to have lower enrolment than those that use formal referral systems,²⁵ especially when this occurs while the patient is still in hospital.⁴² Patients admitted to large-volume hospitals,43 or to hospitals offering CR,44 are also more likely to be referred. For example, experience from a tertiary hospital identified that patients referred to their own organisation's CR programme were more than 4 times as likely to attend compared with those referred to an external programme.31,25,42

Recommendations: Management continuity. To optimise management continuity, the following recommendations are proposed:

- Participation in phase I influences participation in phase II, so phase I should be considered for all patients with CAD.
- Providers of CR should be familiar with evidence-based guidelines and use these in practice to ensure consistency of care. Collaboration across professional organisations

in the future updates of CR guidelines should be undertaken to avoid a saturation of detached documents.

- To overcome administrative or scheduling delays, referrals should be made early while the patient is still in hospital, and where possible, should be automated. Patients should also be involved in the decision making related to CR and be made aware of referral to CR.
- There should be general endorsement of the referral process by a senior cardiologist; however, referrals need not be reliant on physician 'sign-off', except in cases where relative contraindications to exercise require a medical opinion. However, verbal endorsement of CR by a physician improves uptake. Providers of CR need a responsive system for enrolling patients.
- Staff should be well informed about available modes of service delivery including home-based, telephone-based, and centre-based programmes, both within and outside of their own organisation and be well connected to these services to offer alternative referrals to patients. It is important for staff to understand factors that influence patient's choices; the simple act of offering an alternative delivery mode may improve uptake.⁴⁵

Relational Continuity

Relational continuity refers to the relationship between a health care professional and the patient, where the rapport is strengthened with time and over multiple illnesses or episodes.¹⁶ Relational continuity is most clearly exemplified by the role of family physicians, who often have longstanding relationships with their patients. Continuity in patient-provider relationships can bridge past care to current care and involves both consistencies of personnel, as well as ongoing patient-provider relationships.

Consistency of personnel

Cardiac rehabilitation is a specialised field that requires a dedicated, connected, and consistent team of professionals. The team may comprise a range of health care professionals, including nurses, exercise physiologists, dieticians, physiotherapists, and physicians.⁴⁶ Although this provides a breadth of expertise, clinicians must ensure that they achieve connectedness and coherency in the care they provide. Inconsistent staffing is a common issue affecting continuity. Although it is mostly unavoidable, most professionals have other clinical responsibilities which sometimes take precedence over CR, such as general nursing duties, patient loads on other wards, and non-cardiacrelated caseloads. Staff changes and bed changes are also frequent in the inpatient setting and can greatly disrupt continuity of care. Nursing staff, who are often primarily responsible for education in the immediate time after a cardiac event, are particularly affected by these elements. A Science Advisory from the American Heart Association urges all personnel to implement a co-ordinated effort to achieve referral and enrolment in

CR⁴⁷ and stresses that every member of the health care team plays a valuable role in promoting CR.

Ongoing patient-provider relationship

Cardiac rehabilitation presents a number of challenges to maintain ongoing relational continuity due to the multiphase model. In many cases, staffing structures are determined by systems which separate teams into inpatient and outpatient, and a patient might encounter entirely different teams for each of the CR phases which may not be conducive to effective chronic disease management and/or lifestyle behaviour change. Networking between phases is therefore critical in maintaining relational continuity. In a qualitative review of system-level factors that influence CR attendance in the United States, Gurewich et al²⁵ found that the relationship of CR facilities to a hospital and to hospital personnel had higher rates of attendance. Several advantages are gained when there are close working relationships between phases; the inpatient health care team holds great power to increase participation in outpatient rehabilitation, and the outpatient team has responsibility with the affiliated inpatient programme enabling rapport building early in a patients inpatient stay, even before their first outpatient appointment.

Recommendations: Relational continuity. In the light of these risks to relational continuity, the following recommendations are proposed:

- Cardiac rehabilitation requires a dedicated, connected, and consistent team of professionals who hold *primary responsibilities* for referral and implementation of the programme.
- Programme directors should seek to establish a strong affiliation with other nearby CR programmes, as well as with home-based therapy programmes or similar linking care pathways.
- Staffing structures require flexibility to maximise the duration of patient-clinician relationships across the phases. Where possible, managers should consider staffing structures that allow the same staff to work across both phases I and II.

Summary and Conclusions

The 3-phased CR model relies on continuity of care to increase the potential for long-term benefits and reduce the risk for a secondary event (secondary prevention). We hypothesise that applying the recommendations for informational continuity will reduce repetition or unnecessary testing which may delay treatment and/or increase the potential for patients dropping out from the exercise programmes. Improving clinical handover practices will ensure that critical information is not lost and that care remains patient centred across the care continuum. Optimising management continuity practice will help overcome scheduling delays, optimise enrolment, and improve service access to all patients with CAD. It will provide a uniform treatment approach using easy-to-access, collaborative, and inter-organisational evidence-based guidelines. Finally, enhancing relational continuity will make a difference to patient engagement by providing a dedicated and familiar health care team, with a devoted attention to patients' longterm cardiac health.

Author Contributions

CG wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BJP and MKB contributed to the writing of the manuscript. CG and IL jointly developed the structure and arguments for the paper. IL and AM made critical revisions and approved final version. All the authors agree with manuscript and reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Disclosures and Ethics

As a requirement of publication, author(s) have provided to the publisher signed confirmation of compliance with legal and ethical obligations including but not limited to the following: authorship and contributorship, conflicts of interest, privacy and confidentiality, and (where applicable) protection of human and animal research subjects. The authors have read and confirmed their agreement with the ICMJE authorship and conflict of interest criteria. The authors have also confirmed that this article is unique and not under consideration or published in any other publication, and that they have permission from rights holders to reproduce any copyrighted material. Any disclosures are made in this section. The external blind peer reviewers report no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Australian Government. Health-Care Expenditure on Cardiovascular Diseases 2008-09 (Cat. no. CVD 65). Canberra, ACT: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare Canberra; 2014.
- De Gruyter E, Ford G, Stavreski B. Economic and social impact of increasing uptake of cardiac rehabilitation services – a cost benefit analysis. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2016;25:175–183.
- Woodruffe S, Neubeck L, Clark R, et al. Australian Cardiovascular Health and Rehabilitation Association (ACRA) core components of cardiovascular disease secondary prevention and cardiac rehabilitation. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2014;24:430-441.
- 4. Anderson JL, Adams CD, Antman EM, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA focused update incorporated Into the ACC/AHA 2007 guidelines for the management of patients with unstable Angina/Non-ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines developed in collaboration with the American Academy of Family Physicians, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons. *Circulation*. 2011;123:e426–579.
- Antman EM, Hand M, Armstrong PW, et al. 2007 focused update of the ACC/ AHA 2004 guidelines for the management of patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51:210–247.
- Hillis LD, Smith PK, Anderson JL, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Circulation*. 2011;124:e652–e735.

Association between adequacy of long chain omega-3 intake and N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) in those at risk of heart failure

A. Owen^{1,*}, E. Ashton¹, H. Krum¹, C. Reid¹, D. Liew², U. Boffa³, S. Stewart⁴, L. Shiel¹, R. Wolfe¹, D. Campbell⁵

 ¹ Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia
 ² University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

 ³ University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia
 ⁴ Australian Catholic University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

⁵ St Vincent's Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Background: Higher habitual long chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (omega-3) intake may be associated with lower risk of developing heart failure (HF), and a limited number of smaller, short-term trials have suggested that omega-3 supplementation reduces BNP in those with HF. This study examined the relationships between habitual omega-3 intake and cardiovascular risk markers in a cohort at risk of developing HF.

Methods: In a cohort (n=446) at risk of HF (having at least one of: cardiovascular disease, hypertension, diabetes, renal impairment), dietary intake was assessed by 4-day food records. Associations between omega-3 intake, cardiovascular risk markers (including plasma NT-pro-BNP) and ventricular function assessed by echocardiography were examined using multivariate regression.

Results: In this cohort of men and women (mean age \pm SD: 71.8 \pm 6.0y), 31% were meeting recommended omega-3 intake through diet + supplements. There were significant differences in plasma NT-proBNP between those meeting (median (IQR):12(6-38) pmol/l) and not meeting adequate omega-3 intake (24(8-47) pmol/l), p<0.001. Adjusted for age and sex, adequacy of omega-3 intake was significantly associated with log NT-proBNP (B=-0.150 [95%CI: -0.268 to -0.074], p=0.001) and the association remained significant following further adjustment (for diabetes, BMI, smoking, systolic blood pressure, eGFR, dietary energy and physical activity) (B=-0.143 [95%CI: -0.260 to -0.063], p=0.001). No associations were seen between adequacy of omega-3 intake and echocardiographic parameters.

Conclusions: This study shows that in a cohort at risk of HF, circulating NT-proBNP is inversely related to adequacy of intake of very long chain omega-3 fatty acids, however the implications of this remain unclear.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hlc.2015.06.782

CrossMark

Barriers to exercise rehabilitation in the older adult with heart failure

C. Giuliano*, K. Cowie, J. Saliba, E. Scholes, K. Fisher, N. Cox, C. Neil

Western Health, St Albans, VIC, Australia

Introduction: Exercise training is an important component of best-care for chronic heart failure (CHF), following demonstrated reductions in morbidity and mortality. However, benefits are clearly confined to those who participate. At Western Health, patients over 65 years account for 89% of CHF admissions. Hence, optimising delivery to the elderly is a priority.

Methods: In the context of a prospective single-centre study of CHF management in the elderly, we monitored attendance to CHF rehabilitation over a 9-month period. Reasons for nonattendance were identified in order to develop and implement strategies to optimise delivery of exercise therapy to frail, elderly CHF patients.

Results: Only 10(4%) of 247 patients in this elderly group participated in CHF rehabilitation. Approximately 36% did not participate due to advanced disease, or living in residential-care. A predominantly aerobic-based program excluded participation in 20% of patients, who were severely deconditioned and unable to ambulate 100m to meet program referral criteria. A further 18% declined, often due to transportation difficulties. Accordingly, we developed an integrated program featuring: (1) inclusive referral criteria, without specifying mobility; (2) individualised exercise prescription, including an initial resistance-training phase, allowing tailoring to severely deconditioned patients; (3) smaller group size, enabling closer supervision of frailer individuals and; (4) access to community transportation assistance. This novel approach involving Nursing, Exercise Physiology and Cardiology has seen early changes to qualification and attendance rates in the elderly patient with CHF.

Conclusion: Specifically tailored rehabilitation programs appear necessary to deliver the benefits of exercise to the heterogeneous group of elderly CHF patients.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hlc.2015.06.783

781

Can a smartphone-based secondary prevention program facilitate early mobilisation in patients with acute coronary syndromes?

M. Yudi^{1,*}, O. Farouque¹, M. Jelinek²

 ¹ Austin Health, VIC, Australia
 ² St Vincent's Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Background: Secondary prevention strategies such as optimal pharmacotherapy, cardiovascular risk factor optimisation, cardiac rehabilitation and adherence to diet and lifestyle recommendations reduce mortality and morbidity. There is however poor translation of scientific evidence into



CrossMark

- Fihn SD, Blankenship JC, Alexander KP, et al. 2014 ACC/AHA/AATS/PCNA/ SCAI/STS focused update of the guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. *Circulation*. 2014;130:1749–1767.
- Anderson L, Oldridge N, Thompson DR, et al. Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2016;67:1–12.
- National Heart Foundation of Australia, Australian Cardiac Rehabilitation Association. Recommended framework for cardiac rehabilitation. https://www. heartfoundation.org.au/images/uploads/publications/Recommendedframework.pdf. Published 2004. Accessed October 3, 2016.
- O'Gara PT, Kushner FG, Ascheim DD, et al. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61:485–510.
- Hamm CW, Bassand JP, Agewall S, et al. ESC guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: the Task Force for the management of acute coronary syndromes (ACS) in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J.* 2011;32:2999–3054.
- Kolh P, Windecker S, Alfonso F, et al. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: the Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Developed with the special contribution of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014;46:517–592.
- Steg PG, James SK, Atar D, et al. ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33:2569–2619.
- Kotsev K, Wood DA, De Bacquer D, Heidrich J, De Backer G. Cardiac rehabilitation for coronary patients: lifestyle, risk factor and therapeutic management. Results from the EUROASPIRE II survey. *Eur Heart J.* 2004;6:J17.
- Haggerty JL, Reid RJ, Freeman GK, Starfield BH, Adair CE, McKendry R. Continuity of care: a multidisciplinary review. *BMJ*. 2003;327:1219–1221.
- Reid RJ, Haggerty J, McKendry R; Canadian Health Services Research Foundation, the Canadian Institute for Health Information, and the Advisory Committee on Health Services of the Federal/Provincial/Territorial Deputy Ministers of Health. Defusing the confusion: concepts and measures of continuity of healthcare. Final report, Canadian Health Services Research Foundation. http:// www.cfhi-fcass.ca/Migrated/PDF/ResearchReports/CommissionedResearch/cr_ contcare_e.pdf. Published 2002. Accessed October 3, 2016.
- Australian Government. My health record. https://myhealthrecord.gov.au/internet/mhr/publishing.nsf/content/home. Accessed October 19, 2016.
- Williams MA, Fleg JL, Ades PA, et al. Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in the elderly (with emphasis on patients ≥75 years of age): an American Heart Association Scientific Statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology Subcommittee on Exercise, Cardiac Rehabilitation, and Prevention. *Circulation*. 2002;105:1735–1743.
- Hjortdahl P. Continuity of care: general practitioners' knowledge about, and sense of responsibility toward their patients. J Fam Pract. 1992;9:3–8.
- Hjortdahl P, Laerum E. Continuity of care in general practice: effect on patient satisfaction. *BMJ*. 1992;304:1287.
- Saultz JW, Albedaiwi W. Interpersonal continuity of care and patient satisfaction: a critical review. Ann Fam Med. 2004;2:445–451.
- AIHW. Key Indicators of Progress for Chronic Disease and Associated Determinants: Data Report (Cat. no.PHE 142). Canberra, ACT: AIHW. http://www.aihw.gov. au/publication-detail/?id=10737419245. Published 2011. Accessed October 27, 2016.
- Campbell H, Hotchkiss R, Bradshaw N, Porteous M. Integrated care pathways. BMJ. 1998;316:133–137.
- 24. Goble A, Worcester M. *Best Practice Guidelines for Cardiac Rehabilitation and Secondary Prevention*. Forrest, VIC: Department of Human Services; 1999.

- Gurewich D, Prottas J, Bhalotra S, Suaya JA, Shepard DS. System-level factors and use of cardiac rehabilitation. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2008;28:380–385.
- Ting P, Chong T, Ho S, et al. Early inpatient engagement improves cardiac rehabilitation enrollment of patients with coronary artery disease [Abstract]. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2014;21:S104.
- 27. Abell B, Glasziou P, Briffa T, Hoffmann T. Exercise training characteristics in cardiac rehabilitation programmes: a cross-sectional survey of Australian practice. *Open Heart.* 2016;3:e000374.
- Onishi T, Shimada K, Sato H, et al. Effects of phase III cardiac rehabilitation on mortality and cardiovascular events in elderly patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Circ J.* 2010;74:709–714.
- Volaklis K, Douda H, Kokkinos P, Tokmakidis S. Physiological alterations to detraining following prolonged combined strength and aerobic training in cardiac patients. *Euro J Cardiovasc Prev Rehab.* 2006;13:375–380.
- Heidenreich P, Trogdon J, Khavjou O, et al. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2011;123:933–944.
- Amsterdam EA, Wenger NK, Brindis RG, et al. 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with non–ST-elevation acute coronary syndromes: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014;64:e139–e228.
- Astley CM, Neubeck L, Gallagher R, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation: unraveling the complexity of referral and current models of delivery. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*. 2016;32:236–243.
- Heart Foundation. Improving the delivery of cardiac rehabilitation in Australia. https://www.heartfoundation.org.au/images/uploads/publications/Improvingthe-delivery-of-cardiac-rehabilitation.pdf
- Redfern J, Chow CK. Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in Australia: a blueprint for reform. *Med J Aust.* 2013;198:70–71.
- Bunker SJ, Goble AJ. Cardiac rehabilitation: under-referral and underutilisation. Med J Aust. 2003;179:332–333.
- Scott IA, Lindsay KA, Harden HE. Utilisation of outpatient cardiac rehabilitation in Queensland. *Med J Aust.* 2003;179:341–345.
- Grace SL, Scholey P, Suskin N, et al. A prospective comparison of cardiac rehabilitation enrollment following automatic vs usual referral. J Rehabil Med Suppl. 2007;39:239–245.
- Grace SL, Grewal K, Stewart DE. Factors affecting cardiac rehabilitation referral by physician specialty. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2008;28:248–252.
- Wenger NK, Froelicher ES, Smith LK, et al. Cardiac rehabilitation as secondary prevention. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research and National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. *Clin Pract Guidel Quick Ref Guide Clin*. 1995;17:1–23.
- Gallagher R, Neubeck L, Du H, et al. Facilitating or getting in the way? The effect of clinicians' knowledge, values and beliefs on referral and participation. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2016;23:1141–1150.
- Fell J, Dale V, Doherty P. Does the timing of cardiac rehabilitation impact fitness outcomes? An observational analysis. *Open Heart*. 2016;3:e000369.
- Dunlay SM, Witt BJ, Allison TG, et al. Barriers to participation in cardiac rehabilitation. *Am Heart J.* 2009;158:852–859.
- Harrison RW, Simon D, Miller AL, de Lemos JA, Peterson ED, Wang TY. Association of hospital myocardial infarction volume with adherence to American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association performance measures: insights from the National Cardiovascular Data Registry. *Am Heart J.* 2016;178:95–101.
- Cortes O, Arthur HM. Determinants of referral to cardiac rehabilitation programs in patients with coronary artery disease: a systematic review. *Am Heart J.* 2006;151:249–256.
- Wingham J, Dalal HM, Sweeney KG, Evans PH. Listening to patients: choice in cardiac rehabilitation. *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs*. 2006;5:289–294.
- Balady GJ, Ades PA, Bittner VA, et al. Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2011;124:2951–2960.
- 47. Arena R, Williams M, Forman DE, et al. Increasing referral and participation rates to outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: the valuable role of healthcare professionals in the inpatient and home health settings. *Circulation*. 2012;125:1321.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



International Journal of Cardiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ijcard

Letter to the Editor



Catherine Giuliano^{a,b,*}, Christopher Neil^{a,b,c,d}, Itamar Levinger^{a,b,c}

^a Institute of Sport, Exercise and Active Living (ISEAL), Victoria University, Melbourne, Australia

^b Western Health, Melbourne, Australia

^c Australian Institute for Musculoskeletal Science (AIMSS), St. Albans, Victoria, Australia

^d The University of Melbourne, Medicine at Western Precinct, Melbourne, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 March 2017 Accepted 6 April 2017

As allied health professionals, we read with great interest the recent work by Rodriguez-Pascual and colleagues on the frailty syndrome in very old patients with Heart Failure (HF) [1]. The findings of increased 1-year mortality, hospital readmission and functional decline is clinically important and supports our insights as clinicians that frailty should be used for risk stratification and treatment selection. From an applied viewpoint, we would like to add to the discussions regarding the practical implications of these findings.

Frailty and pre-frailty syndromes are potentially reversible with physical activity/exercise. Whilst there is an agreement that supports this statement in patients without HF [2,3], the evidence for those with HF is scarce and caution should be taken when generalising these recommendations. Sarcopenia, frailty and cardiac cachexia affect the capacity to perfom exercise. In contrast, resistance training can improve strength and functional capacity in patients with HF [4]. However, to date, there is a clear under-representation of older adults across trials

(mean age 62 years compared to mean age of diagnosis of 76 years [5]) and no studies that specifically target the frail [4]. When examined closely, trials have extensive exclusion criteria which, probably inadvertently, exclude patients who may be elderly or frail.

The authors are commended for clearly identifying the consequences of frailty in chronic HF. In this important disease context, these observations should re-focus the attention of researchers and health professionals upon frail elderly, who now constitute the majority. This extends to exercise trials, where current evidence arguably has limited application to this cohort.

References

- C. Rodríguez-Pascual, et al., The frailty syndrome is associated with adverse health outcomes in very old patients with stable heart failure: a prospective study in six Spanish hospitals, Int. J. Cardiol. (2017 Feb 8).
- [2] E.L. Cadore, et al., Effects of different exercise interventions on risk of falls, gait ability, and balance in physically frail older adults: a systematic review, Rejuvenation Res. 16 (2) (2013) 105–114.
- [3] A. Forster, et al., Rehabilitation for older people in long-term care, Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 1 (2009), CD004294.
- [4] C. Giuliano, A. Karahalios, C. Neil, J. Allen, I. Levinger, The effects of resistance training on muscle strength, quality of life and aerobic capacity in patients with chronic heart failure—a meta-analysis, Int. J. Cardiol. 15 (227) (Jan 2017) 413–423.
- [5] K.K. Ho, et al., Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham heart study subjects, Circulation 88 (1) (1993) 107–115.

CARDIOLOG

DOI of original article: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.02.016.

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: Catherine.giuliano@vu.edu.au (C. Giuliano),

Christopher.neil@wh.org.au (C. Neil), Itamar.levinger@vu.edu.au (I. Levinger).

Appendix D: Baseline patient characteristics among all patients and those referred and not referred to exercise rehabilitation (all data reported)

Characteristics	All (%)	ER Referral	No ER	<i>p</i> -value
	(n = 1281)	(%)	Referral (%)	
		(n = 125)	(n=1156)	
Age, y	79.7 (70.3-86.3)	73.6 (62.7-81.5)	80.2 (71.1-86.5)	< 0.001
Male, n (%)	723 (56.4)	90 (72.0)	633 (54.8)	< 0.001
BMI, kg/m^2	29.1 (35.8-34.5)	29.7 (25.8-34.9)	29.0 (24.8-34.5)	
HF Subtype				
HFrEF	420 (32.8)	62 (49.6)	358 (31.0)	
HFmrEF	169 (13.2)	11 (8.8)	158 (13.7)	<0.001
HFpEF	434 (33.9)	26 (20.8)	408 (35.3)	<0.001
Unknown	258 (20.1)	26 (20.8)	232 (20.1)	
LVEF (%)	38.0 (25.6-50.3)	30.0 (22.3-39.8)	40 (26.0-53.0)	0.004
NYHA				
Class I / II	20 (4.5) / 236	2 (0.5) /37	18 (4.7) / 198	
	(53.5)	(68.8)	(51.4)	
Class III/ IV	162 (36.7) / 23	14 (25.9) / 1	148 (38.2) / 22	
	(5.2)	(1.9)	(5.7)	
Unknown	840 (65.6)	/1 (56.8)	//0 (66./)	
Admission Speciality, n (%)	12((0.0)	10 (14 5)	109 (0.2)	
HF Unit	126 (9.8)	18 (14.5)	108 (9.3)	
Cardiology	434 (33.9)	58 (46.8)	376 (32.5)	0.001
Gerontology	36 (2.8)	5 (4.0)	31 (2.7)	
General Medicine	622 (48.6)	39 (31.5)	583 (50.4)	
Other	62 (4.8)	4 (3.2)	58 (5.0)	
Cardiovascular History,				
n (%)				
History of HF	968 (75.5)	93 (74)	8/4 (75.6)	
Previous hospitalisation for HF	774 (60.4)	75 (60.0)	698 (60.4)	
Cerebrovascular disease	242 (18.9)	27 (21.6)	215 (18.6)	
Hypertension	977 (76.2)	85 (68.0)	891 (77.1)	0.02
History of angina	481 (37.5)	43 (34.4)	437 (37.8)	
History of PCI or CABG	393 (30.7)	37 (29.6)	356 (30.8)	
History of MI	394 (30.7)	40 (32)	353 (30.5)	
Arrythmia	695 (54.2)	66 (52.8)	628 (54.3)	
CIED therapy	284 (22.2)	29 (23.2)	255 (22.1)	0.004
Smoking Status				
Current smoker	133 (12.4)	18 (16.5)	115 (11.9)	
Ex-smoker	504 (46.8)	51 (46.8)	451 (46.8)	
Heart failure aetiology				
Ischaemic related	458 (35.8)	62 (49.6)	396 (34.3)	0.001
cardiomyopathy				
Idiopathic Cardiomyopathy	140 (10.9)	20 (16)	120 (10.4)	
Hypertension	223 (17.4)	16 (12.8)	207 (17.9)	
Infiltrative Cardiomyopathy	10 (0.8)	1 (0.8)	9 (0.8)	
Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy	43 (3.4)	3 (2.4)	40 (3.5)	

Valvular	179 (14.0)	12 (9.6)	137 (14.4)	
Arrhythmia related	187 (14.6)	26 (20.8)	161 (13.9)	0.04
Non-Cardiovascular Medical				
History, n (%)				
Diabetes	552 (43.1)	56 (44.8)	496 (42.9)	
Dementia	100 (7.8)	4 (3.2)	96 (8.3)	0.04
Depression	251 (19.6)	20 (16.0)	231 (20.0)	
Current malignancy	88 (6.9)	7 (5.6)	81 (7.0)	
COPD / Asthma	394 (30.8)	23 (18.4)	371 (32.1)	0.002
Obstructive sleep apnoea	187 (14.6)	17 (13.6)	170 (14.7)	
Chronic kidney disease				
Mild	241 (18.8)	22 (17.6)	217 (19.0)	0.000
Moderate	408 (31.9)	28 (22.4)	380 (32.9)	0.002
Severe	159 (12.4)	10 (8.0)	149 (12.9)	
Liver disease				
Mild	52 (4.1)	4 (3.2)	48 (4.2)	
Moderate or Severe	30 (2.3)	4 (3.2)	26 (2.3)	
Iron deficiency	253 (20)	16 (12.9)	237 (20.8)	0.04
Anaemia	394 (30.8)	23 (18.4)	371 (32.1)	0.002
Treatments received during				
admission, n (%)				
IV diuretics	1096 (85.8)	102 (82.9)	994 (86.1)	
IV GTN infusion	48 (3.8)	7 (5.7)	41 (3.5)	
IV inotrope infusion	62 (4.8)	10 (8.1)	52 (4.5)	
Oral Diuretics	1161 (90.9)	108 (88.5)	1053 (91.2)	
Oxygen therapy	837 (65.6)	65 (53.3)	772 (66.9)	0.003
CPAP / BiPAP	174 (13.6)	13 (10.6)	161 (14.0)	
IABP/ ECMO	6 (0.5)	1 (0.8)	5 (0.4)	
Invasive mechanical ventilation	25 (2.0)	5 (4.0)	20 (1.7)	
Angiography	112 (8.8)	19 (15.3)	93 (8.1)	0.01
PCI	15 (1.2)	5 (4.0)	10 (0.9)	0.002
CABG	9 (0.7)	1 (0.8)	8 (0.7)	
Dialysis	12 (0.9)	1 (0.8)	11 (1.0)	
LVAD	1 (0.1)	1 (0.8)	00 (0.0)	
Valve procedure	7 (0.5)	1 (0.8)	6 (0.5)	
CIED Therapy				
Pacemaker	28 (2.2)	3 (2.4)	25 (2.2)	
CRT-P	2 (0.2)	0 (0.0)	2 (0.2)	0.002
ICD	15 (1.2)	5 (4.1)	10 (0.9)	
CRT-D	18 (1.4)	13 (1.1)	5 (4.1)	
Resting Haemodynamics on d/c				
Systolic BP (mmHg)	120 (110.0-135)	118 (110-130)	120 (110-135)	0.02
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	68 (60-75)	68 (60-75)	68 (60-75)	
HR (bpm)	74.0 (65-83)	75.0 (65-85)	74 (65-82)	
Heart Failure				
pharmacotherapy,				
n (%)				
ACE Inhibitor	534 (41.8)	54 (43.2)	480 (41.6)	

ARB	219 (17.1)	24 (19.4)	195 (16.9)	
Beta blocker	910 (71.2)	98 (79.0)	812 (70.4)	0.04
Aldosterone antagonist	474 (37.1)	48 (38.7)	426 (36.9)	
Digitalis	210 (16.4)	15 (12.1)	195 (16.9)	
Antiarrhythmic	141 (11.0)	18 (14.5)	123 (10.7)	
Nitrate	217 (17.0)	17 (13.7)	200 (17.3)	
Loop diuretic	1207 (94.2)	118 (94.4)	1089 (94.2)	
Other vasodilator	62 (4.9)	3 (2.4)	59 (5.1)	
Ivabradine	45 (3.5)	6 (4.8)	39 (3.4)	
Lipid lowering agent	715 (55.9)	73 (58.4)	642 (55.6)	
Antiplatelet	674 (52.7)	60 (48.0)	614 (53.2)	
Anticoagulant	586 (45.8)	69 (55.6)	517 (44.8)	0.02
Thiazide diuretic	140 (11.0)	11 (8.9)	129 (11.2)	
Calcium channel antagonist	209 (16.4)	21 (16.9)	188 (16.3)	
Total Meds on d/c (SEM)	10.0 (8.0-13)	9 (8-11)	10 (8-13)	0.047

Data expressed as median and percentiles (25-75%) for continuous variables and count and proportions (%) for categorical variables.

[‡] Variables where missing data >15%.

+where factor has more than one level, p-value applies to the overall association of this factor with the outcome.

BMI, body mass index; HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; HFmrEF, heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; HF, heart failure; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; MI, myocardial infarction; CIED, Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; IV, intravenous; GTN, Glyceryl trinitrate; Cardiac Implantable Electronic Device; CPAP, continuous positive airway pressure; BiPAP, bilevel positive airway pressure, IABP, intra-aortic balloon pump; ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation; LVAD, left ventricular assist device; CRT-p, cardiac resynchronisation therapy – pacemaker; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; CRT-D, cardiac resynchronisation therapy – defibrillator; BP, blood pressure; HR, heart rate; ACE, angiotensin converting enzyme; ARB, aldosterone receptor blocker